The Role of Public Programs for Early Cancer Detection and Access to Care Among Cancer Survivors

by

Youngmin Kwon

BA, George Mason University, 2016

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the School of Public Health in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2024

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

Youngmin Kwon

It was defended on

April 25, 2024

and approved by

Eric T. Roberts, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of General Internal Medicine, Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania

Evan S. Cole, PhD, Research Associate Professor, Department of Health Policy & Management, University of Pittsburgh School of Public Health

Howard B. Degenholtz, PhD, Professor, Department of Health Policy & Management, University of Pittsburgh School of Public Health

Bruce L. Jacobs, MD, MPH, Assistant Professor, Department of Urology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine

Dissertation Director: Lindsay M. Sabik PhD, Associate Professor and Vice Chair for Research, Department of Health Policy & Management, University of Pittsburgh School of Public Health

Copyright © by Youngmin Kwon

2024

The Role of Public Programs for Early Cancer Detection and Access to Care Among Cancer Survivors

Youngmin Kwon, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2024

Medicare and Medicaid play a critical role in providing health insurance coverage to the large population of patients who are diagnosed with cancer. Medicare is the largest payer of health services for cancer patients and survivors, most of whom are aged 65 or older. Medicaid is a growing source of coverage for younger adults with low income or disabilities, who historically have faced adverse cancer outcomes. Considering the rising incidence and burden of cancer, rigorous policy analysis to inform effective cancer prevention and control in Medicare and Medicaid is crucial.

This dissertation investigates elements of the Medicare and Medicaid programs in the context of cancer prevention and control. In Aim 1, I examine eligibility for Medicare at age 65 and its implications for older cancer survivors' access to and ability to afford care. Using a regression discontinuity design, I find that Medicare eligibility is associated with significant reductions in, but not elimination of, cost-related barriers to care. Aim 2 assesses the impact of Medicaid managed care on early cancer detection. I exploit the expansion of mandatory managed care in Pennsylvania Medicaid as a natural experiment and find that this expansion was associated with improvements in early detection. In Aim 3, I evaluate disparities in cancer screening associated with experiences of homelessness and housing insecurity, an increasing focus of Medicaid programs seeking to address nonmedical determinants of health. Using a novel linkage of Pennsylvania's administrative Medicaid and housing services records, I find that women adult

Medicaid beneficiaries experiencing or at risk of homelessness are significantly less likely to receive guideline-recommended mammograms.

These results point to several avenues for reforming Medicare and Medicaid for effective cancer prevention and control. Aim 1 findings suggest that expanding eligibility and cost protection within Medicare can lessen the financial burden of care among older cancer survivors. Aim 2 illustrates the potential for managed care to address the high incidence of advanced-stage cancer, a key driver of adverse outcomes in Medicaid. Aim 3 demonstrates that optimal cancer prevention will require greater efforts among public programs to address vulnerability linked to housing insecurity and other health-related social needs.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements xvi
1.0 Chapter 1: Introduction 1
1.1 Burden of cancer in the United States1
1.2 Understanding care needs of patients with cancer: Cancer care continuum
1.3 Role of health insurance for patients with cancer and cancer survivors5
1.3.1 Goals of coverage: Access and affordability5
1.3.2 Sources of coverage5
1.4 Importance of Medicare and Medicaid program6
1.4.1 Overview of Medicare and Medicaid6
1.4.2 Challenges with healthcare access and affordability7
1.4.3 Disparities in cancer outcomes by insurance status
1.5 Social determinants of health 10
1.5.1 Housing insecurity and health11
1.5.2 Importance of screening in housing insecure individuals12
1.5.3 Role of Medicaid programs13
1.6 Dissertation objective and aims15
2.0 Chapter 2: Association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of
care among older cancer survivors17
2.1 Preface
2.2 Abstract
2.3 Introduction

2.4 Methods
2.4.1 Study population2
2.4.2 Outcome variables2
2.4.3 Covariates22
2.4.4 Statistical analysis22
2.5 Results
2.5.1 Cancer survivor characteristics24
2.5.2 Changes in coverage, health care access and affordability at age 6523
2.5.3 Subgroup analysis of discontinuities at age 6520
2.5.4 Sensitivity analysis2'
2.6 Discussion
2.7 Limitations
2.8 Conclusion
2.9 Tables and figures
2.10 Appendix
3.0 Chapter 3: Effects of Medicaid managed care on early detection of cancer:
Evidence from mandatory Medicaid managed care program in Pennsylvania40
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.2.1 Implementation of mandatory MMC in Pennsylvania4
3.2.2 Conceptual model and prior literature on the effects of MMC44
3.3 Methods
3.3.1 Data and sample4

3.3.2 Identifying Medicaid beneficiaries and managed care status	47
3.3.3 Cancer stage outcome	48
3.3.4 Covariates	48
3.3.5 Empirical framework	49
3.3.6 Stratified analysis	51
3.3.7 Robustness checks	51
3.4 Results	53
3.4.1 Characteristics of newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries	53
3.4.2 Changes in MMC coverage	53
3.4.3 Changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis	54
3.4.4 Stratified analysis	54
3.4.5 Robustness checks	55
3.5 Discussion	56
3.6 Limitations	59
3.7 Conclusion	61
3.8 Tables and figures	62
3.9 Appendix	69
3.9.1 Details on Pennsylvania Medicaid and the HealthChoices program	69
3.9.2 Details about data sources	75
3.9.2.1 Pennsylvania cancer registry	
3.9.2.2 Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council recor	ds 76
3.9.2.3 Area health resources files	
3.9.2.4 Other area-level variables	

3.9.3 Inclusion criteria	78
3.9.4 Linkage of Pennsylvania cancer registry with PHC4 records	81
3.9.5 Stacked difference-in-difference analysis	82
3.9.6 Supplement to the main results	86
3.9.6.1 Changes in population-based rates of cancer detection	86
3.9.6.2 Main results stratified by gender and cancer type	88
3.9.7 Potential bias from excluding cases without a PHC4 record	89
3.9.8 Falsification test	94
3.9.9 Compositional changes in the Medicaid sample	95
3.9.9.1 Medicaid churn	
3.9.9.2 Impact of ACA Medicaid expansion	
3.9.9.3 Covariate trends test	101
3.9.10 Leave-one-out analysis	103
3.9.11 Alternative staging definition	104
4.0 Chapter 4: Housing-related disparities in receipt of mammography: evide	nce
among adult women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania	105
4.1 Abstract	105
4.2 Introduction	107
4.3 Methods	109
4.3.1 Data	109
4.3.2 Study design and population	109
4.3.3 Exposure	110
4.3.4 Outcome	111

4.3.5 Covariates111
4.3.6 Statistical analysis112
4.3.7 Supplementary analyses113
4.4 Results
4.4.1 Medicaid beneficiary characteristics113
4.4.2 Disparity in receipt of mammogram114
4.4.3 Stratified analysis115
4.4.4 Assessing effects of unmeasured confounding115
4.5 Discussion 116
4.6 Limitations
4.7 Conclusion 120
4.8 Tables and figures121
4.9 Appendix 128
5.0 Conclusion
5.1 Dissertation summary138
5.1.1 Association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of care
among older cancer survivors138
5.1.2 Effects of Medicaid managed care on early detection of cancer: Evidence
from mandatory Medicaid managed care program in Pennsylvania140
5.1.3 Housing-related disparities in receipt of mammography: evidence among
adult women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania141
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 2-1 Comparison of characteristics of cancer survivors younger and older than age 65
Table 2-2 Changes in health insurance coverage, healthcare access and affordability
problems at age 65
Table 3-1 Characteristics of Medicaid beneficiaries newly diagnosed with a solid tumor in
Pennsylvania cancer registry, 2010-201862
Table 3-2 Changes in Medicaid managed care coverage among newly diagnosed Medicaid
beneficiaries between the treated and control counties, before and after mandatory
Medicaid managed care64
Table 3-3 Changes in late-stage diagnosis among newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries
between the treated and control counties, before and after mandatory Medicaid
managed care65
Table A3-4 County-level healthcare resource variables extracted from the Area Health
Resources Files 77
Table A3-5 Characteristics of non-elderly cancer cases in the PCR by the availability of a
PHC4 record
Table A3-6 Sensitivity to the addition of the non-PHC4 linked Medicaid sample
Table A3-7 Differential change in the probability of late-stage diagnosis in cancer cases
among Medicaid-covered individuals in the treated vs. control counties, separately by
years before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care
Act in the post-period

Table	A3-8 Test of differential covariate trends 102
Table	A3-9 Differential changes in the probability of late-stage and unstaged cancers among
	cancer cases covered by Medicaid in the treated vs. control counties 104
Table	4-1 Characteristics of women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania who were
	eligible for recommended biennial mammography from 2011 to 2019 between HMIS
	and non-HMIS cohort
Table	4-2 Disparities in receipt of biennial mammography between HMIS services users and
	non-users among women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania
Table	A4-3 Codes to identify screening and diagnostic mammography129
Table	A4-4 Codes for identifying primary care, FQHC, and RHC providers130
Table	A4-5 Categories of comorbidities identified using the Chronic Conditions Warehouse
	algorithm

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Cancer care continuum
Figure 2.1 Changes in insurance coverage and access and affordability outcomes at age 65
among older cancer survivors
Figure 2.2 Discontinuities in health insurance coverage, healthcare access and affordability
at age 65 by race/ethnicity, education status, region, and pre-/post-ACA periods 37
Figure A2.3 Flowchart of sample inclusion and exclusion criteria
Figure A2.4 Sensitivity of adjusted regression discontinuity estimates to varying bandwidths
around age 65 39
Figure 3.1 Trends and differential changes in the probability of Medicaid managed care
coverage and late-stage diagnosis among cancer cases in non-elderly adults with
Medicaid coverage in the treated vs. control counties
Figure 3.2 Differential changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis in the treated vs.
control counties, stratified by cancer type68
Figure A3.3 Pennsylvania HealthChoies zones70
Figure A3.4 Schedule of HealthChoices expansion by counties in Pennsylvania
Figure A3.5 Trends in Medicaid managed care coverage in cancer cases among non-elderly
adults with Medicaid during the study period74
Figure A3.6 Sample selection flowchart using the Pennsylvania cancer registry and linked
PHC4 records
Figure A3.7 Distribution of the days from the date of cancer diagnosis to the date of PHC4
records among the linked sample

Figure A5.6 Flowenart of the sample construction process for stacked unreferee-in-
difference analysis
Figure A3.9 Trends in population rates of cancer detection among non-elderly adults with
Medicaid and private insurance in the treated and control counties
Figure A3.10 Differential changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis in the treated vs.
control counties, stratified by gender and cancer type
Figure A3.11 Differential change in the probability of linkage with a PHC4 record around
the time of diagnosis in the treated vs. control counties by year
Figure A3.12 Differential change in the probability of late-stage diagnosis among cancer
cases in non-elderly adults with private insurance in the treated vs. control counties
by year95
Figure A3.13 Differential change in late-stage diagnosis among uninsured cancer cases in the
treated vs. control counties by year. 99
freated vs. control countries by year manimum manimum manimum manimum year
Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the
Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid
Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
 Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
 Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
 Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
 Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act
 Figure A3.14 Differential changes in the proportion of insured low-income adults in the treated and control counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act

igure A4.3 Flow diagram of the study inclusion criteria132
igure A4.4 Frequency distributions of the index date among the HMIS and comparison
cohort
igure A4.5 Adjusted probability of screening vs. diagnostic biennial mammography 136
igure A4.6 Assessment of effects of a potential unmeasured confounder on the estimated
relationship between receipt of HMIS-related services and biennial mammography

Acknowledgements

It is remarkable to see five years of hard work and struggle culminate in a single Word document. I dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Tae-Eun, whose unconditional love and support give me the strength to navigate the challenges in life and academia. I would not be where I am today without her many sacrifices, including moving halfway across the world to afford me a better educational opportunity. I strive to embody her spirit of compassion and care through research that can positively transform people's lives.

As the saying goes, it takes a village to raise a PhD (this may sound too cliche, but it couldn't be more true in my case!). Here, I would like to acknowledge the many "villagers" in my community who made it possible for me to complete this dissertation.

First, I thank my dream team of dissertation committee members: Dr. Eric Roberts, Dr. Evan Cole, Dr. Howard Degenholtz, Dr. Bruce Jacobs, and Dr. Lindsay Sabik. The sheer expertise and knowledge of public insurance programs, cancer care, and study designs they taught me are impossible to describe, and I relied on them at pivotal points in my research. I especially want to thank Dr. Sabik, who served as my dissertation advisor and is the most kind and understanding mentor one could hope to have in a graduate program.

Moreover, I am blessed to have worked closely with other brilliant faculty members at HPM, including Dr. Drake, Dr. Ellison, and Dr. Donohue. I want to give special thanks to Dr. Donohue, who made it possible for me to join the PhD program at Pitt. I still vividly and fondly remember phone call I received from Dr. Donohue in which she informed me that she had secured funding for my PhD—I quite took that as a sign from the universe that I needed to take the opportunity and I am so glad I made that decision.

Second, I am grateful to be surrounded by wonderful friends and colleagues at HPM and the School of Public Health, including Alix Glynn-Hames, Donald Bourne, Katherine Callaway-Kim, Rebecca Bilden, Anna Lewis, and Aileen Chou, who created a welcoming and intellectually vibrant environment to enrich my graduate school experience. I also appreciate the leadership of HPM alumni, including Noelle Cornelio, Alice Gao, Sih-Ting Cai, Mara Hollander, Kirsten Eom, and Jennie Duquette, who are excellent role models and set high standards for us to follow.

Third, I express gratitude for my former mentors and colleagues at my previous employment at Pharmerit International, including Viktor Chirikov, Xinyi Ng, Sarah Park, Marc Botteman, Shelby Corman, Caroline Seo, and Courtney Johnson, who not only taught me the foundation of research when I was a clueless research assistant but also actively encouraged me to pursue a PhD.

Fourth, I want to acknowledge many kind and empathetic individuals I met in Pittsburgh, Ben Schloss, Will Bergman, Minh Truong, Jie Luo, Jiaqi Cheng Zhang, Derek Lei, Hanbo Zhang, Han Shi, Mingzhi Yu, Gonzalo Quinones, Youran Zhang, Daniel Han, Greg Messmer, Rohan Patel, Lowell Reade, Quentin Brown, Kester Wade, Joey Scapellato, Nadia Nabulsi, Phil Kim, Mark Buttweiler, Jakob Chiasson, Emma Squire, Christine Case, Celena Todora, Shannon Reiser, Kelsey Reiser, and Tess Brust, who will be my life-long connections. Thank you for being my lifeline and helping me weather the ebbs and flows of graduate school.

Lastly, I want to express my heartfelt love to my uncles, Taeo and James Kwon, who are always looking after me; my grandparents, Joong-Hyun Kwon and Won-Hee Kwon, and dearest cat, Mimi, who sadly passed away before I reached the end of my PhD journey but were with me at every step of the way in *spirit*.

1.0 Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Burden of cancer in the United States

The burden of cancer is steadily increasing in the US. In 2024, there will be estimated 2 million new cancer cases, and the rate of cancer incidence has risen by 1-3% for top 10 cancers from 2015 to 2019.¹ Moreover, the number of individuals diagnosed with cancer is projected to grow from 18.1 million in 2011 to 26 million by 2040,² a trend driven by improved cancer survivorship.³⁻⁵ From both the individual patient and public health perspective, cancer can be considered as a "priority" health condition due to its serious economic, health, and other qualityof-life consequences.^{6,7} First, cancer care is costly. Estimates of the direct national expenditure associated with cancer care in the US ranged from \$124 to \$157 billion in 2020, a figure that will rise with the expanding cancer population and increasing prices of anticancer therapies.⁸⁻¹¹ Moreover, there are indirect costs associated with cancer, such as lost productivity or missed hours of work, that are equivalent to tens to thousands of dollars.^{12,13} Second, cancer inflicts severe death tolls among the diagnosed population.¹⁴ Cancer is consistently the second leading cause of mortality after cardiovascular diseases, and many patients ultimately die from metastasis.^{15,16} This reflects the fact that cancer is one of the most complex and high-risk medical conditions to treat, as there is vast heterogeneity in tumor characteristics and presentation that complicate any single treatment strategy and cancer cells may become resistant to treatment.^{17,18} Third, cancer affects patients' quality of life. Not only is a diagnosis of cancer psychologically and emotionally distressful, the symptom burden and toxicities from cancer and its treatment can severely

compromise quality of life.^{19,20} In light of these facts, there are widescale efforts to improve cancer prevention and control, most notably the Cancer Moonshot campaign that was launched during the Obama administration and continued in the Biden administration,^{21,22} with the goal to "end cancer as we know it."²²

1.2 Understanding care needs of patients with cancer: Cancer care continuum

Patients with cancer and cancer survivors face pronounced needs for healthcare to address a spectrum of health concerns. One useful framework to conceptualize the care needs among cancer patients is the cancer care continuum, which summarizes the key stages of cancer care from initial diagnosis to end-of-life.²³⁻²⁵ An overview of the cancer care continuum is depicted in Figure 1.1, encompassing four stages of care, with distinct care needs and access issues that may be present at each stage.



Figure 1.1 Cancer care continuum

At the *detection* stage, access to cancer screening and diagnostic services is essential to facilitate both timely and appropriate diagnosis of cancer, which can drastically improve treatment effectiveness and prognosis.^{26,27} Upon diagnosis, cancer also needs to be accurately staged to guide clinical decisions regarding treatment strategies and modalities.²⁸ Many of these services are provided in more routine care settings, such as physician offices, meaning that access to primary care and having a usual source of care are crucial for screening and early detection.

At the *treatment* stage, patients require access to cancer-directed treatments and management of side effects.²⁹ In terms of treatment, there has been an influx of novel cancer therapies and technologies, such as biologic and targeted oncologic medications, new radiation therapies such as intensity-modulated radiotherapy, and innovations in surgeries, especially robotic-assisted surgeries.²⁴ While these medical advancements offer better prognosis, they are expensive and may expose patients to high costs of care.³⁰ Furthermore, considering the

complexity and multimodality of cancer care, high-quality cancer care demands both access to and coordination of services across numerous providers.¹⁸

Following successful treatment, patients may enter a prolonged period of remission in the *post-treatment* stage. Although the treatment has been "completed," patients may continue to experience late- or long-term effects of cancer diagnosis and treatment, including comorbidities, ³¹ physical limitations, disabling conditions,³² or psychosocial vulnerabilities.^{33,34} Moreover, patients with a history of cancer experience an elevated risk of a new cancer diagnosis and many are diagnosed with recurrent cancer.^{18,35} To address these cancer-related health problems, patients require regular access to health care. Though many health services that patients utilize during this period may be considered routine services, there is still a risk of financial hardship associated with use of care.³⁶ The estimated monthly out-of-pocket costs among cancer survivors range from \$316-\$741,³⁷ and older adults with low income may not have adequate resources to afford care.^{36,38,39}

For patients with terminal cancer, the goal of care shifts from treating cancer to maximize quality of life at *end of life*. In this stage, optimal care may involve an appropriate discontinuation of treatment for curative purposes and expanded utilization of supportive care to address the symptom burden of terminal cancer.^{40,41} Receipt of supportive care such as palliative⁴²⁻⁴⁵ and hospice care,⁴⁶ can be beneficial in helping patients cope with an end stage cancer.

In summary, access to care is essential across the cancer care continuum for successful cancer survivorship. Therefore, a key goal of health policy is to ensure that patients with cancer and cancer survivors are protected from high costs of care and other barriers to care at each stage of the care continuum.

1.3 Role of health insurance for patients with cancer and cancer survivors

1.3.1 Goals of coverage: Access and affordability

Having adequate and affordable insurance coverage is vital to manage the range of healthcare needs experienced by patients with cancer and cancer survivors. Lack of health insurance is a clear barrier to access,^{47,48} but there is also evidence that underinsurance is common among cancer survivors due to the high cost-sharing associated with survivorship care.^{36,49} For instance, 8.8% of older adult cancer survivors report spending more than 5% of their income on OOP expenses.⁵⁰ The prevalence of underinsurance is higher among older adults, who are more likely to utilize health care services.⁴⁹ Acknowledging these facts, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) has stated that an important goal of insurance for cancer survivors must be to not only increase *access* to care but also guarantee *affordability* of care within health insurance.⁵¹

1.3.2 Sources of coverage

Among individuals diagnosed with cancer, the most common type of coverage is Medicare (56.4%), followed by private insurance (27.7%), and Medicaid or other public insurance (10%).⁵² This largely reflects the demographic profile of patients with cancer, most of whom are adults aged 65 or older.^{52,53} Among the privately-insured individuals, most have employer sponsored coverage, though some are covered via directly purchased health plans.⁵⁴ While Medicaid accounts for a small share of the overall cancer population, it is a growing source of insurance coverage in this population. Under the Affordable Care Act (ACA), many states have expanded the eligibility for

Medicaid to cover childless adults with incomes up to 138% of the federal poverty line, which increased the number of cancer patients with Medicaid coverage.^{55,56} Since the implementation of ACA Medicaid expansion, combined with other provisions of the ACA that helped to lower the barriers to obtain private insurance outside of employer-sponsored coverage, the rate of uninsurance fell to a historic low (around 6% among patients with cancer).^{56,57}

1.4 Importance of Medicare and Medicaid program

This dissertation focuses on the two major public insurance programs—Medicare and Medicaid—that cover over 35% of the US population and are important policy levers to improve cancer outcomes at the population level.^{58,59}

1.4.1 Overview of Medicare and Medicaid

Medicare is a federally run insurance program that provides coverage for adults 65 or older, those with disabilities receiving Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI), people with endstage renal disease (ESRD) or amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS).⁶⁰ Medicare broadly covers hospital-based services (Part A), physician and outpatient services (Part B), and prescription drugs (Part D). Medicare beneficiaries have the option of receiving Medicare-covered benefits directly through the government (Traditional Medicare) or enrolling in private health plans that are contracted to administer Medicare benefits (Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part C). As over 64% of all patients with cancer are aged 65 or older, Medicare is the *largest* payer of cancer-related care in the US.⁶¹

Medicaid is a joint program funded by both federal and state governments (but administered by states) that primarily insures children and adults younger than age 65 with lowincome and/or disabilities.^{62,63} Medicaid provides coverage of most health services, nonemergency medical transportation, and long-term care such as nursing home or home and community-based services. Although Medicaid covers only a small portion of cancer patients and survivors compared to Medicare or private insurance, it is responsible to coordinating care for the members of socioeconomically disadvantaged communities and many racial and ethnic minorities who experience pronounced challenges with access to care.^{64,65}

1.4.2 Challenges with healthcare access and affordability

One major challenge with Medicare coverage for cancer patients and survivors is considerable out-of-pocket (OOP) costs of care that arise from its cost-sharing requirements.⁶⁶ Although Medicare provides near-universal health insurance coverage, there are varying *levels* and *types* of Medicare coverage that have implications for patients' OOP spending burden.⁶⁷ Traditional Medicare imposes high cost-sharing without a limit on OOP spending, and many beneficiaries obtain supplemental coverage through an employer, Medigap, or Medicaid.^{68,69} Alternatively, Medicare beneficiaries can enroll in Medicare Advantage, where cost sharing for preventive and care management services is often lower (but not fully eliminated) and subject to an annual OOP spending cap.⁷⁰ However, beneficiaries in Medicare Advantage may encounter

barriers to access because of strict utilization management and limited provider networks in Medicare Advantage.⁷¹⁻⁷⁴

These details of Medicare coverage can meaningfully impact access and affordability of care among cancer patients and survivors. For instance, the 2-year mean OOP spending among recently diagnosed Medicare beneficiaries without any supplemental coverage is \$8,115; the spending among beneficiaries with private supplemental insurance or Medicare Advantage is \$5,492 to \$5,976.⁶⁶ These estimates suggest that although attaining Medicare coverage may generally confer benefits for older cancer patients and survivors, especially those uninsured or under-insured who are particularly vulnerable to financial burdens of care,⁷⁵ there are significant affordability challenges in Medicare. These challenges are yet to be thoroughly examined within the existing literature on the role of insurance policy for cancer patients and survivors,⁷⁶⁻⁸¹ with many studies focusing on financial burden of care among adults younger than 65.^{37,82,83}

While the cost of OOP spending presents a key source of concern for ensuring care access and affordability in Medicare, Medicaid programs face a different set of challenges. Because Medicaid programs provide most health services at little to no cost to beneficiaries⁸⁴ (meaning that there is typically no demand-side cost sharing), they rely on supply-side levers to control utilization of care.⁸⁵ For instance, Medicaid reimburses physicians at a lower rate than Medicare or private insurance, which has been cited as one reason for the reduced pool of providers willing to accept Medicaid patients.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸ Moreover, most Medicaid programs contract with private managed care organizations to administer Medicaid services,⁸⁹ which are known to adopt utilization management and other rationing tools, analogous to Medicare Advantage.^{85,90} Therefore, the specific structure and administration of Medicaid programs are relevant determinants of care access in Medicaid. Navigating these mechanisms of care rationing may be especially onerous for Medicaid beneficiaries, many of whom historically experience gaps in access due to their socioeconomic vulnerabilities.

1.4.3 Disparities in cancer outcomes by insurance status

The details of Medicare and Medicaid coverage and the respective challenges in ensuring care access and affordability within each program are relevant to understanding disparities in cancer outcomes by insurance status.^{47,91-93} On the one hand, research shows that access to insurance can improve cancer survival. Silvestri et al. reported that adults aged 60-64 diagnosed with cancer had 5-17% lower 5-year survival compared to Medicare-insured adults aged 65-69 with cancer.⁹¹ Further, Barnes et al. and Han et al. showed positive impacts of the ACA Medicaid expansion on cancer mortality, including 1,616 averted cancer deaths in Medicaid expansion states vs. non-expansion states.^{94,95} On the other hand, there are disparities in outcomes by type of coverage among the insured. For instance, Zhao et al. found that compared to privately insured patients, Medicaid- and Medicare-insured patients had both higher odds of late-stage diagnosis and all-cause mortality.⁹⁶ Moreover, Parikh-Patel et al. highlighted that receipt of recommended cancer treatments was lower in patients with Medicare and Medicaid relative to those with private insurance, indicating that disparities in access to treatment may explain disparities in cancer outcomes by insurance type.⁹³ These disparities underscore a need to improve elements of the Medicare and Medicaid to optimize cancer outcomes in the US.

1.5 Social determinants of health

There is an emerging body of research that seeks to investigate effects of social determinants of health on cancer outcomes.⁹⁷⁻¹⁰⁰ Social determinants of health (SDOH) are broadly defined as conditions of one's living environment that can influence "health, functioning, and quality-of-life outcomes and risks."¹⁰¹ SDOH encompasses various domains—housing, food security, transportation, social environment, and education—that are correlated with adverse health outcomes, including premature mortality.¹⁰² In the context of cancer outcomes, factors such as food insecurity and hunger,¹⁰³ lack of affordable housing,¹⁰⁴ barriers to transportation,¹⁰⁵ and social isolation¹⁰⁶ were associated with disparities in cancer screening, staging, treatment, or survival.

Measuring the extent to which disparities exist by SDOH is a necessary step to inform interventions to address them. However, lack of available SDOH data at the individual-level is one of the major barriers for studying SDOH and cancer outcomes.^{107,108} In fact, prior work in this area often examines ecologic associations between SDOH and cancer outcomes (using area-based measures) or self-reported SDOH in public surveys that only provide limited information about health and cancer-related outcomes. In this dissertation, I investigate the relationship between housing insecurity and utilization of cancer screening using a novel data linkage of individual-level housing encounter data and Medicaid claims, which overcomes some of the data limitations in existing studies.

1.5.1 Housing insecurity and health

Housing insecurity is a multi-dimensional construct that is broadly inclusive of experiences with unstable housing such as homelessness, unaffordable rent, residential instability, eviction, and overcrowding.¹⁰⁹ A growing and persistent number of individuals experience housing insecurity in the US.^{110,111} During the COVID-19 pandemic, over 44% of renters felt pressured to move from their home, and over 16% of households without housing assistance experienced severe housing problems.^{112,113} In 2022, over 582,462 individuals experienced homelessness in the US, the most extreme form of housing insecurity marked by lack of housing.¹¹¹ One-fifth of people experiencing homelessness were chronically homeless or individuals with disabilities with a long-term history of homelessness. There are also stark racial and ethnic disparities in housing insecurity, with Black and Hispanic individuals having 2-4 times higher risk of homelessness compared to White individuals.^{114,115}

Extensive literature has documented the adverse impacts of housing instability on health.^{116,117} Compared to housed individuals, people experiencing homelessness have worse health status and are more likely to suffer from chronic conditions, and mental health and substance use disorders.^{118 119} People experiencing homelessness also have a 3.5 higher all-cause mortality rate compared to the general population due to poor health and comorbidities.¹²⁰ Despite the severity of disease burden, people experiencing homelessness are more likely to receive care at emergency departments or inpatient settings, rather than outpatient settings such as physician offices,^{118,121-123} suggesting limited access to care and the lack of a usual source of care can exacerbate morbidity and mortality risk in this population.

1.5.2 Importance of screening in housing insecure individuals

Among people experiencing housing insecurity, cancer is one of the leading causes of death, along with heart diseases and drug overdose.^{120,124,125} Cancer diagnosis is common in this population due to high prevalence of behavioral and environmental risk factors, including substance use, chronic infections, metabolic disorders, prolonged sun exposure, and inadequate access to care.¹²⁶ Among all cancer cases, the mortality risk among those experiencing homelessness is double that of the general population.¹²⁷ A major reason for the disproportionate cancer mortality risk is that late-stage diagnoses constitute the majority of incident cancer cases in this population.¹²⁸ For example, the share of non-localized breast cancer diagnosis among people experiencing homelessness (PEH) in Boston was nearly 70%, compared to 30% among all other cancer cases in Massachusetts. Therefore, improving access to evidence-based screening and facilitating early detection are important starting points for addressing the disparities in cancer mortality by housing status.

There is scant research examining the utilization of cancer screening among individuals experiencing homelessness. Prior studies have assessed screening in limited and specific settings and generally found low rates of screening among individuals experiencing homelessness, though results varied by type of cancer screening. There are several analyses of screening among homeless individuals residing in shelters. In a survey of adults aged 50 or older living at homeless shelters in New York City (NYC), Marron et al. discovered that only 27% reported receiving a colonoscopy screening within ten years, with 69% reporting no receipt of colonoscopy screening in their lifetime.¹²⁹ Asgray et al. analyzed medical records of shelter-based clinics in NYC and found significantly lower rates of colorectal screening among PEH compared to domicile individuals

visiting the same clinic, but statistically similar rates of mammogram or Pap test by homelessness status (possibly due to low power) though they were lower than the national average.¹³⁰⁻¹³² Other analyses have studied people experiencing homelessness at a single health system or a respite care facility, comparing rates of screening between people experiencing homelessness and matched cohort of patients receiving care at the same facility. Mayo et al. compared prostate cancer screening by homeless status at a large metropolitan hospital in Cleveland and documented a significantly lower PSA testing within five years (13 vs. 34%) among people experiencing homelessness aged 50 to 69 years.¹³³ Kilic et al. also characterized the take-up of breast cancer screening among homeless women receiving care at a hospital system in a Midwestern state, noting that only 18% received mammography.¹³⁴ Finally, Bhaarel et al. found only one-third of people experiencing homelessness receiving care at a respite care facility were appropriately screened for cervical cancer in the past year, but many declined screening even when offered.¹³⁵

While these studies provide much-needed evidence on the disparities in cancer screening by housing status, population-level estimates of screening among people experiencing homelessness are still rare. Such estimates are essential to understand the extent to which disparities in screening exist and identify sources of disparities in this population.

1.5.3 Role of Medicaid programs

Medicaid is a critical safety net program for people experiencing homelessness and other housing insecurity, who do not have other means to access health insurance coverage due to low income.^{123,136} This is especially true following ACA Medicaid expansion, which broadened Medicaid eligibility for low-income adults not qualifying for Medicaid on the basis of pregnancy

or disability. In this population, Medicaid's task of providing and coordinating health services in a cost-efficient manner is complicated by the presence of non-medical drivers of health. Among Medicaid programs, there is increasing recognition that addressing SDOH is necessary to improve health and reduce utilization of costly health services, such as emergency department and inpatient visits.¹³⁷ Recently, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid services provided guidance to state programs on Section 1115 waivers to cover non-medical services as well as other mechanisms that may be used to address health-related social needs (HRSN).¹³⁸ As of 2024, over 19 states have approved waiver programs and 6 states, including Pennsylvania, have pending waivers.¹³⁹ These waiver programs have potential to foster equity in cancer care by targeting health-related social needs.¹⁴⁰ For example, Pennsylvania's pending 1115 waiver application proposes delivery of housing and tenancy support, including pre-tenancy and transition navigation, case management, transition services, rental subsidies for up to 6 months, and tenancy sustaining services.¹⁴¹ Separately, states that contract with managed care organizations can leverage managed care to address HRSN outside of the waiver programs.¹⁴² For example, states can use value-based contracting and alternative payment models and direct managed care organizations to re-invest a portion of their profits into local communities. Managed care organizations can also voluntarily provide services that address HRSN through the "in lieu of" services and value-added services provisions in Medicaid.

As states begin to develop and implement initiatives to address HSRN, rigorous evaluation of such initiatives will be crucial to understand their impact on disparities in care utilization and health outcomes. In the interim, preliminary evidence on disparities associated with SDOH will be valuable in helping states understand the extent to which HSRN are experienced by Medicaid populations and setting benchmarks for future evaluation of the initiatives to address HSRN.

1.6 Dissertation objective and aims

The objective of my dissertation is to improve our understanding of public insurance programs and their impact on cancer control to support policy reforms that address the rising cancer burden in the US. The aims of my dissertation are the following:

Paper 1. Investigate changes in access and affordability outcomes for older adult cancer survivors associated with Medicare eligibility at age 65.

This aim focuses on *eligibility policy* for Medicare to elucidate how availability of nearuniversal Medicare coverage influences access and affordability of care among older cancer survivors—the population of cancer survivors facing a high risk of financial burden of care. Using the National Health Interview Survey, I assess access and affordability outcomes among a nationally representative sample of older cancer survivors. I implement a regression discontinuity design that leverages the age-eligibility threshold for Medicare at age 65 as a source of exogenous variation in health insurance coverage among older cancer survivors.

Paper 2. Examine effects of Medicaid managed care on early detection of cancer among non-elderly Medicaid beneficiaries.

This aim examines how the specific *administration* of Medicaid programs may impact early detection of cancer among Medicaid beneficiaries who often experience adverse cancer outcomes due to late cancer diagnosis. To study this question, I exploit the expansion of mandatory Medicaid managed care in Pennsylvania as a natural experiment. Among newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania cancer registry, I use a stacked difference-in-differences design that exploits the staggered implementation of mandatory managed care across different counties in Pennsylvania to isolate the effect of Medicaid managed care on stage at diagnosis.

Paper 3. Evaluate disparities in receipt of breast cancer screening by experience or risk of homelessness within Medicaid.

This aim estimates housing-related disparities in breast cancer screening to contribute to the limited literature on the impact of housing insecurity on access to and use of preventive care services. I use a novel linkage of administrative Medicaid claims and Homelessness Management and Information System (HMIS) data that allow me to analyze longitudinal experiences in housing insecurity and receipt of guideline-recommended mammography among women Medicaid beneficiaries.

2.0 Chapter 2: Association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of care among older cancer survivors

Youngmin Kwon, PhD¹; Eric T. Roberts, PhD²; Howard B. Degenholtz, PhD¹; Bruce L. Jacobs, MD, MPH³; Lindsay M. Sabik, PhD¹ ¹ University of Pittsburgh School of Public Health, Department of Health Policy and Management ² Perelman School of Medicine at University of Pennsylvania, Department of General Internal Medicine

³ University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Department of Urology

2.1 Preface

This Chapter was published online as a research article on *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* on Mar 23, 2024. (Kwon Y, Roberts ET, Degenholtz HB, Jacobs BL, Sabik LM. Association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of care among older cancer survivors. *J Cancer Surviv.* 2024 Mar 23. doi: 10.1007/s11764-024-01562-x. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 38520599). I was primarily responsible for conceptualization, statistical analysis, and drafting and editing of the manuscript for this work.

Reproduced with permission from Springer Nature. License number: 5815390936205.

2.2 Abstract

Purpose: Older cancer survivors have substantial needs for ongoing care, but they may encounter difficulties accessing care due to cost concerns. We examined whether near-universal insurance coverage through Medicare—a key source of health insurance coverage in this population—is associated with improvements in care access and affordability among older cancer survivors around age 65.

Methods: In a nationally representative sample of cancer survivors (aged 50-80) from 2006-2018 National Health Interview Survey, we employed a quasi-experimental, regression discontinuity design to estimate changes in insurance coverage, delayed/skipped care due to cost, worries about or problems paying medical bills at age 65.

Results: Medicare coverage sharply increased from 8.3% at age 64 to 98.2% at age 65, ensuring near-universal insurance coverage (99.5%). Medicare eligibility at age 65 was associated with reductions in delayed/skipped care due to cost (discontinuity: -5.7 percentage points or pp; 95% CI: -8.1, -3.3; P < .001), worries about paying for medical bills (-7.7 pp; 95% CI: -12.0, -3.2; P = .001), and problems paying medical bills (-3.2 pp; 95% CI: -6.1, -0.2; P = .036). However, a sizable proportion reported any access or affordability problems (29.7%) between ages 66-80.

Conclusions: Near-universal Medicare coverage at age 65 was associated with a reduction—but not elimination—of access and affordability problems among cancer survivors. These findings reaffirm the role of Medicare in improving access and affordability for older cancer survivor and highlight opportunities for reforms to further alleviate financial burden of care in this population.

2.3 Introduction

In 2022, there were over 18.1 million cancer survivors in the United States.¹⁴³ This figure will grow 25% by 2032, reflecting projected increases in cancer survivorship due to advances in screening and treatment.^{144,145} For many patients who survive the initial diagnosis of cancer, cancer can be considered a chronic condition that should be managed with timely and appropriate care ¹⁴⁶. However, due to their ongoing and often intensive needs for care, cancer survivors are likely to experience financial strain and report difficulty obtaining care due to cost concerns.^{36,49,147,148}

Health insurance can ameliorate financial burdens that might cause cancer survivors to delay or forgo necessary care.^{36,47-49} For example, prior studies found that both having health insurance and continuous insurance coverage were associated with reduced financial burden and greater access to care.^{47,149} Among older adults, Medicare—the US health insurance program covering people ages 65 and older and younger adults with disabilities—plays a critical role in providing coverage for cancer survivors.^{61,150} Over 63.8% of adults with cancer (10.8 million) were above the age of 65 in 2020, making Medicare the largest payer for care among cancer survivors in the United States.^{151,152}

While a large literature demonstrates that acquiring Medicare at age 65 is associated with improved access to care and reduced financial strain in the general population of older adults,¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁶ less is known about whether and to what extent Medicare alleviates access and affordability problems among cancer survivors.¹⁵⁷ On the one hand, acquiring Medicare may be beneficial for older cancer survivors, as cancer survivors under age 65 have historically experienced gaps in affordable coverage, even after major coverage provisions of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) took effect.¹⁵⁸ On the other hand, cost sharing in Medicare may leave beneficiaries exposed to high out-
of-pocket (OOP) costs, especially for those who lack supplemental coverage.¹⁵⁹ For instance, traditional Medicare has no OOP cost limit, while the mean OOP maximum in Medicare Advantage plans is approximately \$5,000 for services delivered in-network.¹⁶⁰ Consequently, Medicare beneficiaries with substantial needs for care may encounter challenges paying for care.

Evidence quantifying the relationship of Medicare eligibility with changes in access to and affordability of care can shed light on how this program functions for older cancer survivors. It can also highlight whether access and affordability barriers persist after cancer survivors become eligible for Medicare, and thus identify opportunities for policy reforms to address these barriers. Moreover, such evidence may be especially pertinent in light of the recent resurgence of debates over modifying Medicare eligibility within broader conversations on reforming entitlement spending and the US health care system.¹⁶¹ However, little research has examined the association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of care among older cancer survivors. The few existing studies that addressed this question employed broad comparisons of older vs. younger cancer survivors,¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴ but unmeasured differences between these age groups could have confounded those studies' estimates.

In this study, we used a quasi-experimental, regression discontinuity (RD) approach to examine the relationship between access to and affordability of care among when cancer survivors become eligible for Medicare at age 65, comparing cancer survivors just above vs. below Medicare's age eligibility threshold to isolate differences in outcomes associated with Medicare eligibility from other confounders.

2.4 Methods

2.4.1 Study population

We analyzed a sample of older adult cancer survivors from the 2006-2018 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), an annual cross-sectional survey of the civilian, non-institutionalized United States population.¹⁶⁵ The survey collects data on a broad range of health topics through face-to-face interviews. We analyzed the household component of the NHIS, which contains questionnaires on basic health information, linked to the sample adult component, which asks detailed health and sociodemographic questions to one adult per sampled household.

We included older adults aged 50-80 who reported having ever been told by a doctor or healthcare professional that they had cancer (Figure A2.3). Consistent with prior studies, we excluded individuals with nonmelanoma skin cancers, as these individuals have different survivorship needs compared to survivors with other cancers.¹⁶⁶ We also excluded individuals who reported having Social Security Disability Insurance, since these individuals can qualify for Medicare before age 65.¹⁶⁷ Because the NHIS asks respondents about their access to and use of care over the prior year, we excluded individuals aged 65 during the survey year, as their responses could cover periods before entering Medicare.¹⁶⁸

2.4.2 Outcome variables

We analyzed three respondent-reported measures of health care access and affordability problems from the NHIS.¹⁶⁹ The first outcome is cost barriers to care, which measures the extent

to which individuals are choosing to delay or forgo access to care due to cost concerns. The other two outcomes are worries about paying medical bills when sick and problem paying medical bills, which measure affordability of care, conditional on utilizing and accessing care. We also created a composite outcome that indicates having any of the access or affordability problems noted above.

2.4.3 Covariates

Covariates include respondent-level sociodemographic characteristics (sex, race/ethnicity, marital status, education, income, employment status, and region), cancer history (time since most recent cancer diagnosis, number of lifetime cancer diagnoses, and cancer type), presence of other chronic conditions, functional limitations, and survey year. Race and ethnicity were self-reported by survey respondents, and they are included in the analysis to control for racial/ethnic differences in care access and affordability arising from systemic racism in the health care system. For income, the NHIS provides a set of five imputed values (income-to-poverty ratios) for respondents who did not report income. We followed the NHIS recommended procedure for analyzing multiply imputed data and generated pooled point estimates and their standard errors that account for both within- and between-imputation variance.¹⁷⁰

2.4.4 Statistical analysis

We used a regression discontinuity (RD) design to estimate changes in outcomes associated with Medicare eligibility at age 65. This design compares cancer survivors slightly above and below the age-eligibility threshold for Medicare to isolate the relationship between Medicare eligibility and outcomes from confounders.

For each outcome, we fitted a local linear RD to estimate the level shift (i.e., discontinuity) in the outcome above vs. below the age eligibility threshold for Medicare. Our main analyses included cancer survivors aged 50-80, the age-bandwidth used in a prior study that examined the association of Medicare with breast cancer detection and mortality.⁸⁰ To estimate the discontinuity at age 65, we modeled each outcome as a function of a binary indicator for exceeding this age threshold and adjusted for a linear function of age (allowing for different slopes above and below the threshold) to account for the continuous relationship between age and outcomes away from this threshold. Because all study outcomes were binary measures, we report the discontinuities as percentage-point (pp) changes in the probability of reporting access and affordability problems associated with Medicare eligibility. Although we excluded individuals who were 65 at the time of the survey, our models provide an estimate of differences slightly above vs. below the age threshold for Medicare (i.e., discontinuities at age 65).

We conducted several sensitivity analyses. First, we estimated models using narrower age bandwidths. Narrower bandwidths use fewer observations (reducing precision) but may also reduce bias if the continuous relationship between age and outcomes around the eligibility threshold is incorrectly specified. Second, because RD relies on the assumption that adults above vs. below the age 65 threshold are similar, we examined covariate balance between the age groups by estimating an RD for each measured covariate. Third, we conducted stratified analyses by race and ethnicity, education, region, and whether the analysis period preceded or followed 2014 (when major insurance coverage provisions of the ACA were implemented). These analyses enabled us to explore whether observed associations between Medicare eligibility and outcomes of interest were more pronounced in subgroups of cancer survivors who were more likely to be uninsured prior to age 65 and therefore might have experienced greater benefits from being Medicareeligible. Lastly, we stratified by the results by the duration of cancer survivorship, separately estimating the discontinuity in outcomes by survivors who were recently diagnosed (i.e., less than 2 years since diagnosis) and long-term survivors (i.e., more than 2 years since diagnosis), to account for potentially heterogenous impacts of Medicare eligibility by stage of survivorship.

All analyses were weighted using NHIS survey weights to construct nationally representative estimates. Standard errors were adjusted for the complex survey design. Analyses were performed using Stata software, version 16.0 (StataCorp). A 2-tailed test of significance with an alpha of 0.05 was used for testing study hypotheses.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Cancer survivor characteristics

Our study sample included 13,670 older cancer survivors in the 2006-2018 NHIS, representing 2.7 million cancer survivors when weighted (Table 2-1). Most survivors were long-term survivors who were alive for more than 1 year since their last cancer diagnosis. Lower proportions of cancer survivors aged 66-80 were female, college educated, employed, and had incomes >400% federal poverty line (FPL), while higher proportions had multiple comorbidities and functional limitations, compared to cancer survivors aged 50-64. In terms of cancer history, there was an increase in prostate cancer diagnosis among cancer survivors above age 65.

Importantly for the RD design, cancer survivors immediately below and above age 65 (i.e., aged 64 vs. 66) were similar in most observed demographic and clinical characteristics; the discontinuities in these measured characteristics are non-significant for most variables and smaller in magnitude compared to the absolute differences in characteristics between the age groups.

Among younger survivors, 8.0% did not report having any health insurance coverage; most received coverage through their employers (73.4%). A small minority reported having directly purchased or ACA Marketplace coverage (7.6%) or Medicaid (3.2%). Among Medicare eligible survivors, the majority (91.3%) were enrolled in both Medicare Parts A & B, and they were more likely to be enrolled in Traditional Medicare vs. Medicare Advantage (79.3% vs 20.1%).

2.5.2 Changes in coverage, health care access and affordability at age 65

At age 65, there was a significant increase in Medicare coverage and any insurance coverage (Table 2-2, Figure 2.1). The share of survivors reporting Medicare coverage increased from 5.4% to 95.3%, representing an 89.9 percentage-point (pp) increase from the pre-65 mean (95% CI: 88.4 to 91.4; P < .001). The share reporting any insurance coverage increased from 93.6% to 99.7%, or a 6.1 pp increase (95% CI: 4.6 to 7.6; P < .001).

Medicare eligibility at age 65 was associated with improved access to and affordability of care among cancer survivors. Specifically, our regression discontinuity estimates indicated that Medicare eligibility was associated with an 8.6 pp reduction in the probability of reporting any access or affordability problems (95% CI: -13.1 to -4.2; P < .001), a 5.7 pp reduction in cost barriers to care (95% CI: -8.1, -3.4; P < .001), a 7.6 pp reduction in reporting concern about paying medical bills if sick (95% CI: -12.0, -3.3; P < .001), and a 3.2 pp reduction in problems paying

medical bills (95% CI: -6.1, -0.2). These changes represent meaningful relative improvements in access and affordability compared to pre-65 means. For example, the decrease cost barriers to care at age 65 represents a 48% relative reduction from the pre-65 mean of 11.9%.

These RD estimates also indicate that Medicare eligibility did not eliminate access and affordability barriers to care. For instance, the estimate for any access or affordability problem implies that 37.8% (=46.4-8.6 pp) of cancer survivors *immediately* above the age threshold for Medicare still report access or affordability problems. Among cancer survivors aged 66-80, over 29.7% experienced care access or affordability challenges.

2.5.3 Subgroup analysis of discontinuities at age 65

Gains in health insurance coverage, access, and affordability were generally consistent across different demographic and geographic subgroups, with point estimates suggesting more pronounced gains among cancer survivors who are Hispanic or non-Hispanic black, those with high school education or less, and survivors living in the South (Figure 2.2). However, these changes were not uniform across the outcomes. The improvements in outcomes remained significant in the post-ACA period as well. For instance, Hispanic/Non-Hispanic Black survivors saw greater reductions in uninsurance and cost barriers to care, but smaller reductions in problem paying medical bills. In addition, cancer survivors living in the South experienced the lowest reductions in any affordability and access problems compare to those living in other regions, even though they also experienced the largest gain in insurance coverage.

2.5.4 Sensitivity analysis

We conducted sensitivity analyses using varying age-bandwidths around the age 65 threshold (Figure A2.4). RD estimates for insurance coverage and cost barriers to care were robust when altering the bandwidths from 3 to 15 years around the threshold, although were less precise at smaller bandwidths. However, the estimates of changes in worries about paying medical bills were imprecise and sensitive to bandwidth. Thus, we are less confident in findings regarding the association of this outcome with Medicare eligibility at age 65. In the stratified analysis, we observed similar reduction in access and affordability problems regardless of survivorship duration, suggesting that Medicare eligibility had protective effects even in the earlier stage of survivorship where the care costs and needs may be particularly pronounced.

2.6 Discussion

In this nationally representative analysis of older adult cancer survivors, we found that Medicare eligibility at age 65 was associated with significant gains in insurance coverage and reductions in cost barriers to care, worries about paying medical bills, and problems paying medical bills. Reductions in uninsurance were more pronounced among racial/ethnic minorities, those with less than high school education, or living in the South—all groups that were less likely to have health insurance prior to age 65. However, these groups generally saw greater changes in cost-barriers to care, but not in worries or problem paying medical bills, implying that, for these groups, Medicare eligibility was associated with a large improvement in care access, but only a

minor change in care affordability. Moreover, a sizable portion of older cancer survivors reported any access and affordability issues after 65, which were largely driven by the higher prevalence of problem or worries with paying medical bills. These findings indicate that Medicare is an important source of coverage for cancer survivors, but they also underscore opportunities for further policy reforms to address remaining cost concerns among cancer survivors who have substantial and ongoing needs for care.

As the single largest payer of health services in the US, Medicare plays a pivotal role in providing health insurance coverage for millions of adults. Though the program may be regarded as sacrosanct, it has increasingly become a focal point in policymaking arenas, sparking vigorous debates over its future within broader conversations about improving insurance coverage and healthcare delivery.^{161,171,172} On the one hand, there are calls to broaden Medicare eligibility, backed by popular support for the program, as a way to expand coverage for near-elderly adults who historically were most likely to lack coverage despite experiencing high risks of morbidity and mortality.^{158,173} On the other hand, there have been countervailing voices advocating for either curtailing the program or raising the age of eligibility to safeguard the program's financial solvency.^{161,172} These divergent viewpoints underscore the *saliency* of Medicare in discussions surrounding the US health care reform. Consequently, evidence about the program's effectiveness in ensuring access and affordability of care is critical to facilitate informed discussions about Medicare and healthcare reform.

In this context, this study advances evidence on changes in access and affordability associated with Medicare eligibility unique to the older cancer survivor population. While numerous studies have examined such changes in the general population,¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁶ less has been known about the association of Medicare eligibility with access and affordability among subgroups

of adults with high costs and needs for care. Older cancer survivors are a particularly important population to evaluate because they have complex care needs arising from the lasting impacts of cancer diagnosis, treatment, and other comorbidities.^{29,31,174} Addressing these health needs requires routine access to health care, and is often associated with high OOP costs.¹⁷⁵ For example, one analysis estimated that cancer survivors incur between \$316 to \$741 in OOP costs per month.³⁷ Similarly, other research has linked a diagnosis of cancer to "financial toxicity," meaning that patients are likely to experience adverse financial outcomes such as bankruptcy.¹⁷⁶ Prior evidence also suggests that adults diagnosed with cancer have a higher OOP burden compared to other chronically ill patients, even when not actively receiving treatment for cancer, which means that cancer survivors may endure undue burden of financial toxicity.⁷⁵ Using a rigorous, quasi-experimental study design, our study shows that Medicare helps to lessen financial barriers to care among cancer survivors by shrinking gaps in adequate insurance coverage among younger adults below Medicare age, even after the passage of the ACA.

Given the nature of our study design that estimated an average effect of Medicare eligibility, one major limitation of our empirical approach is the inability to disentangle effects of Traditional Medicare vs. Medicare Advantage. When examining the effects of Medicare, Medicare plan choice is an important consideration because Medicare Advantage has experienced dramatic enrollment growth (as of 2023, over half of all Medicare beneficiaries were enrolled in Medicare Advantage¹⁷⁷) and distinctions between Traditional Medicare and Medicare Advantage may have important consequences for care access and affordability among cancer survivors.¹⁷⁸ For instance, because Medicare Advantage plans often have lower cost sharing and impose a cap on OOP spending (which does not exist in Traditional Medicare), Medicare Advantage plans may lower cost-related care barriers for some enrollees. At the same time, tight provider networks and

utilization management in Medicare Advantage may impose barriers to access and generate high OOP spending for care provided out-of-network. These features may make these plans less attractive to individuals with complex care needs, which could account for somewhat higher representation of Traditional Medicare enrollees in our sample. This pattern of Medicare plan choice is consistent with recent evidence showing that individuals with a history of cancer tend to choose more robust coverage (i.e., Traditional Medicare with supplemental coverage).¹⁷⁹ Considering the variation in coverage generosity within Medicare, an important avenue for future studies is a detailed assessment of OOP cost burdens across various types of coverage within Medicare.

Furthermore, our cross-sectional analysis was unable to directly observe specific coverage transitions that may occur at age 65, precluding detailed inferences of heterogenous effects of Medicare eligibility by different types of coverage prior to age 65. Instead, we explored such heterogeneity in two ways. First, we stratified our main analysis by demographic characteristics associated with coverage and access prior to age 65, including race/ethnicity and education.¹⁸⁰ We found that Medicare eligibility conferred greater benefits for care access among racial/ethnic minorities and those with less than a college education, who were more likely to be uninsured prior to age 65. As minoritized populations encounter more severe access barriers related to cost, reforms aimed at expanding eligibility and reducing the cost burden of care may help lessen persistent disparities in care affordability.¹⁸¹ Second, we provided a descriptive report of sources of insurance coverage prior to age 65, which helps us to hypothesize various mechanisms by which Medicare eligibility may improve care access and affordability. For cancer survivors without any coverage prior to age 65 (8% of the sample), attaining Medicare eligibility provides a clear pathway for obtaining coverage and addressing barriers to care. However, for cancer survivors

with some prior coverage (most of whom had employer-sponsored insurance), how and whether Medicare eligibility improves access and affordability is less certain. For the previously insured cancer survivors, it is possible that Medicare may provide more generous insurance option due to its continuity and simplicity of coverage and fewer restrictions on care (especially in Traditional Medicare).¹⁸² Moreover, among individuals with employer-sponsored coverage, increasing enrollment in high-deductible health plans (which usually have an annual deductible amount greater than \$1,000¹⁸³) may contribute to considerable financial burden.^{184,185} In contrast, the deductible may be lower in Medicare (for instance, the Part B deductible was \$134 at the end of study period¹⁸⁶), which may help lessen OOP cost burdens. Overall, further work is needed to assess these longitudinal changes in coverage at age 65 and their implications for access and affordability for cancer survivors.

2.7 Limitations

We acknowledge several limitations to our study. First, following the National Cancer Institute, we broadly defined cancer survivors as individuals with a prior diagnosis of cancer, including individuals who may be in the active treatment stage and those who may have completed treatment.¹⁸⁷ As only a small portion in our sample report a recent diagnosis of cancer, our estimates primarily reflect the experiences of long-term cancer survivors rather than individuals newly diagnosed with cancer. Second, the RD design focuses on differences in outcomes associated with Medicare eligibility at 65, but these estimates may not generalize to other ages or individuals who receive Medicare due to disability. Third, we cannot rule out that other changes at age 65, including a drop in employment and income, may have confounded our estimates. However, the outcomes we include measure *immediate* differences in access and affordability after individuals turn 65, where the impacts of short-term changes in covariates are less pronounced. We find positive associations between Medicare eligibility and key outcomes after controlling for these and other measured variables. Fourth, the outcome measures ascertain *general* access and affordability problems, rather than problems accessing or paying for specific components of cancer care. However, the measures we analyzed are still relevant in this population given its extensive and ongoing needs for care. Finally, while the NHIS survey provides information typically not available in other data sources (e.g., cancer history, comorbidities, income, and care experiences), these variables are all self-reported, thus may be subject to misclassification and recall bias.

2.8 Conclusion

In this study, Medicare eligibility at age 65 was associated with reductions in uninsurance, cost barriers to care, and affordability of care among older cancer survivors, a growing population with substantial, complex care needs. These improvements were imperfect, as a considerable proportion of Medicare-eligible sample still reported access and affordability problems. These improvements were greater among those who were less likely to have affordable coverage prior to age 65, including racial/ethnic minorities and cancer survivors living in low socioeconomic status. Future Medicare reform may be crucial to close the gap in coverage and address remaining financial barriers to care among older cancer survivors.

2.9 Tables and figures

Characteristics	Characteristics Sample means, N (%) ^a					
	Age, 50-64 y	Age 66-80 y	Regression			
			Discontinuity			
NT 1.1			at age 65 ^b			
N, unweighted	5,143	8,527	n/a			
N, weighted	1,039,318	1,687,227	n/a			
Sex						
Male	1,710 (33.8)	3,711 (43.0)	1.6			
Female	3,433 (66.2)	4,816 (57.0)	-1.6			
Race/ethnicity						
Hispanic	360 (5.1)	416 (3.9)	1.0			
Non-Hispanic white	4,137 (84.9)	7,052 (86.5)	-3.2**			
Non-Hispanic black	446 (6.9)	776 (7.0)	1.8			
Other	200 (3.1)	283 (2.6)	1.0			
Education						
Some college	3,548 (69.6)	4,795 (56.8)	2.3			
Less than HS	379 (6.6)	1,212 (13.7)	-2.7			
HS equivalent	1,202 (23.5)	2,490 (29.2)	0.5			
Employment status ^c	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	``				
Employed	3,630 (70.9)	1,512 (17.3)	-18.2***			
Retired	1,353 (26.0)	6,960 (82.1)	19.1***			
Imputed income ^d		· ·				
<100% FPL	n/a (5.5)	n/a (5.7)	-0.7			
100-200% FPL	n/a (10.5)	n/a (20.5)	2.4			
200-400%	n/a (26.0)	n/a (35.7)	5.7**			
>400%	n/a (58.0)	n/a (38.0)	-7.4***			
Cancer type	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
Other	2,704 (53.2)	3,193 (37.5)	-2.0			
Breast	1,461 (27.8)	2,277 (26.9)	0.6			
Lung	112 (2.1)	383 (4.3)	0.02			
Colorectal	320 (6.2)	778 (9.3)	2.7			
Prostate	546 (10.7)	1,896 (22.0)	-2.0			
Recently diagnosed with cancer ^e	817 (16.3)	1,259 (14.7)	-0.4			
Number of lifetime cancer diagnosis						
Single	4,805 (93.3)	7,625 (89.3)	0.2			
Multiple	338 (6.7)	902 (10.7)	-0.2			
Count of comorbidities ^f						
0	1,720 (33.8)	1,309 (15.4)	-2.8			
1	1,761 (33.7)	2,518 (29.6)	-1.8			

Table 2-1 Comparison of characteristics of cancer survivors younger and older than age 65

2+	1,662 (32.5)	4,700 (55.0)	4.7**
Any functional limitations ^g	2,535 (49.5)	5,670 (66.2)	-0.6
Sources of insurance coverage (< 65) ^h			
Uninsured	429 (8.0)	n/a	
Medicaid	182 (3.2)	n/a	n/a
Private (directly	398 (7.6)	n/a	n/a
purchased/Marketplace)			
Private, employer sponsored insurance	3,698 (73.4)	n/a	n/a
Other	387 (6.9)		
Details of Medicare coverage (>65)			
Parts A + B	n/a	7,545 (91.3)	n/a
Part D	n/a	3,602 (43.1)	n/a
Medicare Advantage	n/a	1,575 (20.1)	n/a
Medicare/Medicaid duals	n/a	355 (3.5)	n/a

Abbreviations: HS, high school; FPL; federal poverty line; CHD, chronic heart disease; MI, myocardial infarction.

*P < .05; ** P < 0.01; *** P < 0.001

^a Sample means were weighted by the NHIS survey weights.

^b Unadjusted regression discontinuity in each level of covariates at age 65.

^c The values for "unemployed" were omitted due to small sample size.

^d Combined mean of the multiply imputed income-to-poverty ratio values; the sample N is omitted due to the varying cell sizes for each income category across imputations.

^e Most recent diagnosis was within 1 year at the time of the survey.

^fCount of ever being diagnosed with the following comorbidities: arthritis, asthma, diabetes, emphysema, chronic heart diseases, hypertension, stroke, angina pectoris, heart attack.

^g Difficulty in reporting any difficulty with any of the following activities without special equipment: walking 0.25 mile, climbing 10 steps, sitting for more than 2 hours, stoop/bending/kneeling, reaching over head, grasping small objects, lifting/carrying 10 pounds, pushing large objects, going out to events, participating in social activities, relaxing at home.

^h Mutually exclusive sources of health insurance coverage for cancer survivors younger than age 65; the numbers exclude a miniscule proportion of the sample who reported Medicare coverage before age 65 (N=49).

Outcomes	N	Mean, Aged 64ª	Adjusted discontinuity at age 65 (95% CI) ^a	P value	Mean, Aged 66- 80°
Medicare, %	13474	8.3	89.9 (88.4 to 91.4)	<.001	97.0
Insured, %	13474	93.4	6.1 (4.6 to 7.6)	<.001	99.9
Any access or affordability problems, %	9627	46.4	-8.6 (-13.1 to -4.2)	<.001	29.7
Cost barriers to care, %	13487	11.9	-5.7 (-8.1 to -3.3)	<.001	4.8
Worries about medical bills if sick, %	9639	40.7	-7.6 (-12.0 to -3.2)	.001	26.6
Problem paying medical bills, %	9735	14.2	-3.2 (-6.1 to -0.2)	.036	7.3

Table 2-2 Changes in health insurance coverage, healthcare access and affordability problems at age 65

^aColumn presents unadjusted mean outcomes for cancer survivors aged 64

^bAdjusted discontinuities from the main RD models controlling for the continuous income trend, an indicator for those who are aged greater than 65, individual characteristics from Table 1, and year fixed effects; they are presented as percentage points change in outcomes associated with Medicare eligibility at age 65

^cColumn presents unadjusted mean outcomes for Medicare-eligible cancer survivors, ages 66-80



Figure 2.1 Changes in insurance coverage and access and affordability outcomes at age 65 among older

cancer survivors

Note: Scatterplot in each panel shows adjusted means of the outcome for 1-year age bins in the 2006-2018 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). Estimates are adjusted for the NHIS survey weights. We fitted linear regression lines above and below age 65, and the models allowed the age trends to differ above and below this threshold. The distance between the regression lines represents the discontinuity corresponding to Medicare eligibility. We excluded individuals aged 65 in the survey year because their responses to access and affordability questions cover period before attaining Medicare eligibility.



Figure 2.2 Discontinuities in health insurance coverage, healthcare access and affordability at age 65 by

race/ethnicity, education status, region, and pre-/post-ACA periods.

Abbreviation: PP, percentage points; HS, high school; ACA, Affordable Care Act. Each bar represents the adjusted discontinuity for outcomes and their 95% confidence intervals as error bars.

2.10 Appendix



Figure A2.3 Flowchart of sample inclusion and exclusion criteria

Abbreviations: NHIS, National Health Interview Survey; SSDI, Social Security Disability Insurance



Figure A2.4 Sensitivity of adjusted regression discontinuity estimates to varying bandwidths around age 65

Note: We plotted the regression discontinuity estimates at age 65 and their 95% confidence intervals at varying bandwidths around age 65. We varied the bandwidths from 3 (i.e., age 62-64 and 66-69) to 15 (i.e., age 50-64 and 66-80).

3.0 Chapter 3: Effects of Medicaid managed care on early detection of cancer: Evidence from mandatory Medicaid managed care program in Pennsylvania

Youngmin Kwon, PhD¹; Eric T. Roberts, PhD²; Evan S. Cole, PhD¹; Howard B. Degenholtz, PhD¹; Bruce L. Jacobs, MD, MPH³; Lindsay M. Sabik, PhD¹

¹ University of Pittsburgh School of Public Health, Department of Health Policy and Management
² Perelman School of Medicine at University of Pennsylvania, Department of General Internal Medicine

³ University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Department of Urology

3.1 Abstract

Objective: To examine changes in late vs. early-stage diagnosis of cancer associated with the introduction of mandatory Medicaid managed care (MMC) in Pennsylvania.

Data Sources and Study Setting: We analyzed data from the Pennsylvania cancer registry (2010-2018) for non-elderly Medicaid beneficiaries aged 21 to 64 newly diagnosed with a solid tumor. To ascertain Medicaid and managed care status around diagnosis, we linked the cancer registry to statewide hospital-based facility records collected by an independent state agency (Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council).

Study Design: We leveraged a natural experiment arising from county-level variation in mandatory MMC in Pennsylvania. Using a stacked difference-in-differences design, we compared

changes in the probability of late-stage cancer diagnosis among those residing in counties that newly transitioned to mandatory managed care to contemporaneous changes among those in counties with mature MMC programs.

Results: Mandatory MMC was associated with a reduced probability of late-stage cancer diagnosis (-3.9 percentage points; 95% CI: -7.2, -0.5; P = .02), particularly for screening-amenable cancers (-5.5 percentage points; 95% CI: -10.4, -0.6; P = .03). We found no significant changes in late-stage diagnosis among non-screening amenable cancers.

Conclusions: In Pennsylvania, the implementation of mandatory MMC for non-elderly Medicaid beneficiaries was associated with earlier-stage diagnosis among newly diagnosed cancer patients with Medicaid, especially those diagnosed with screening-amenable cancers. Considering that over half of the sample was diagnosed with late-stage cancer even after the transition to mandatory MMC, Medicaid programs and managed care organizations should continue to carefully monitor the receipt of cancer screening and design strategies to reduce barriers to guideline-concordant screening or diagnostic procedures.

3.2 Introduction

Medicaid is an increasingly important source of health insurance coverage for low-income individuals with cancer.¹⁸⁸ After the Affordable Care Act (ACA), uninsurance among individuals newly diagnosed with cancer declined by one-third, and Medicaid covers a growing number of patients with cancer.¹⁸⁹ Because cancer contributes substantially to morbidity, mortality, and medical spending, state Medicaid programs must consider strategies to manage cancer care,

control costs associated with this care, and improve cancer outcomes among Medicaid beneficiaries.¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹⁴

In this context, efforts to detect cancers earlier are imperative, as early diagnosis drastically improves the chance of survival.¹⁹⁵⁻²⁰⁰ Evidence shows that disparities in cancer survival among Medicaid enrollees are largely explained by stage at diagnosis rather than differences in care received, implying that early detection is a prerequisite for effective cancer control.²⁰¹ The financing and organization of Medicaid may affect early cancer detection by influencing enrollees' access to care and receipt of screening and diagnostic services. However, there is little research on the impacts of Medicaid's programmatic features on early detection.

One salient trend across Medicaid programs that may affect early detection is the increasing reliance on managed care.²⁰² Medicaid managed care (MMC) involves the outsourcing of the administration and delivery of Medicaid services from states to private managed care organizations (MCOs) that receive capitated payments to manage a pool of beneficiaries; this contrasts with a fee-for-service (FFS) model in which Medicaid directly pays providers for services. Managed care is widespread across Medicaid programs, with over 41 states having some form of managed care program (comprehensive/risk-based managed care or primary care case management) as of July 2022 and 75% of Medicaid beneficiaries receiving services through MCOs.²⁰³

The decision to administer Medicaid through MCOs has implications for cancer detection. Capitation may incentivize MCOs to promote primary care and preventive services to offset demand for costly downstream care, such as acute or emergency services.²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁶ This may facilitate early detection by increasing access to cancer screening and diagnostic services.²⁰⁷⁻²¹¹ Conversely, capitation may induce MCOs to deliver too little care (as delaying care until their beneficiaries lose Medicaid coverage, switch MCOs, or become eligible for Medicare may be financially advantageous)or aggressively manage utilization, which may impose barriers to receiving screening and diagnostic services. These countervailing incentives raise important empirical questions about the relationship between MMC and early cancer detection.

In this study, we examined changes in cancer stage at diagnosis associated with the implementation of mandatory MMC in Pennsylvania, which operates one of the largest Medicaid programs in the country, covering more than 3 million adults in 2022.²¹² We analyzed incident cancer cases in the Pennsylvania cancer registry, which contains data on a nearly complete census of cancer cases in the state and reports the stage at diagnosis for each case. Consistent with prior literature, we interpret the stage at diagnosis (e.g., late vs. early stage diagnosis) as a marker of access to timely cancer screening and detection.²¹³ Using a stacked difference-in-differences design that leveraged the staggered regional implementation of mandatory MMC as a natural experiment, we compared changes in stage at diagnosis among newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries in counties transitioning to mandatory MMC during the study period (2010-2018) to contemporaneous changes in counties with mature MMC programs that had been in operation since 1997.

3.2.1 Implementation of mandatory MMC in Pennsylvania

Pennsylvania introduced MMC as a pilot program with voluntary enrollment in 1986. Over subsequent decades, Pennsylvania expanded MMC and made MMC enrollment mandatory.^{214,215} MMC penetration increased beginning in 1997 when the state established PA HealthChoices, a fully-capitated managed care program with mandatory enrollment for most non-elderly adult Medicaid beneficiaries.²¹⁶ Under this arrangement, MCOs receive per-member-per-month

capitated payments and fully assume the financial risk of managing Medicaid-covered spending among enrolled beneficiaries. While MCOs were entirely at risk, how the MCOs reimbursed providers in their networks varied (e.g., some providers were paid on a FFS model).²¹⁷

The state phased in the HealthChoices program over time across five different geographic zones, with the initial implementation occurring in 25 primarily urban counties of the Southeastern and Southwestern regions in 1997 (herein referred to as the "original HealthChoices counties"; see Figure A3.3). In remaining counties, beneficiaries could either enroll in voluntary MMC (if an MMC plan was offered in a county) or be assigned to an enhanced primary care case management (PCCM) program within Medicaid FFS called ACCESS Plus. Consequently, there was a stark difference in rates of MMC coverage between the original HealthChoices counties and other counties in Pennsylvania.

Eventually, the program was expanded to the remaining counties in three waves, which occurred in July 2012 (Wave 1), October 2012 (Wave 2), and March 2013 (Wave 3; Figure A3.4). The expansion of the HealthChoices program in these counties sharply increased the share of newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries (i.e., incident cases) with MMC coverage from 10-20% in 2010 to nearly 70% in 2015, closing the gap in enrollment between the original and newly expanded counties (Figure A3.5). See Section 3.9.1 for more details of the transition.

3.2.2 Conceptual model and prior literature on the effects of MMC

MMC may influence early cancer detection through several channels.²¹⁸ MMC may improve access to care through case management and coordination within defined provider networks, lowering beneficiaries' transaction costs of seeking care.²¹⁹ In contrast, there are no defined networks in FFS, incentives for care management are limited, and access challenges are common because of low provider participation.²²⁰ Moreover, conditional on accessing and seeking care, enrollees in MMC may be more likely to receive a comprehensive set of primary and preventive care services, which MCOs may encourage to reduce the use of costly health services downstream. MCOs may tie a portion of provider payments to performance based on quality and utilization management measures.^{204,206} In addition, state agencies can influence care access through quality oversight and contracting.^{221,222} In Pennsylvania's Medicaid, plan performance is monitored through quality measures such as the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) measures, which include items on breast and cervical cancer screening since the 1990s.²²³ Finally, MCOs can use capitation payments to cover nonmedical services via the in-lieu-of-services and value-added services provisions in managed care contracts,^{224,225} which may address other barriers to cancer screening, such as lack of transportation or patient accompaniment.

At the same time, MCOs face incentives to control utilization to contain costs, which could adversely impact care access and utilization. For instance, MCOs employ gatekeeping (e.g., requiring primary care provider referrals to specialists) and utilization review.²²⁶ Gatekeeping may limit access to specialists²²⁷⁻²²⁹ who provide essential follow-up care, including diagnostic workup and actual staging of cancer.^{230,231} Although these aspects of care management were also present in the Medicaid FFS, the degree of care management and coordination activities may have been limited in this model because it did not delegate responsibility to a single organization for managing the entirety of enrollee Medicaid spending.²³² Further, plans' willingness and abilities to provide coordinated care may also be influenced by the "churn" in Medicaid enrollment, which may alter the pool of Medicaid beneficiaries whose care is financially managed by MCOs. Therefore, *a priori*, the direction of the effect of MMC on early cancer detection is ambiguous.

To date, the literature on the effects of MMC has documented mixed findings related to changes in access and utilization across different states and Medicaid populations experiencing transitions in Medicaid administration.^{204,233} Earlier studies of MMC examined outcomes among Medicaid-covered pregnant women and infants in specific states, finding conflicting results on whether MMC influences prenatal care utilization and birth outcomes.^{217,220,234-236} Among Medicaid adults, studies have found inconsistent associations of MMC with access to care and health services use and preventable hospitalizations in studies using national surveys or state hospitalization records.^{218,237-243} More recently, several studies have explored potential mechanisms that may account for the range of results from prior work.²⁴⁴⁻²⁴⁸ Broadly, how beneficiaries access and use care within managed care may be determined by the details of managed care programs, including provider reimbursements and incentives,^{246,249} network breadth,²⁴⁸ competition among plans,²⁴⁵ and specific utilization management practices.²⁴⁷ In our context, only a few analyses have investigated outcomes related to cancer screening and early cancer detection, leaving a substantial gap in understanding how MMC may affect cancer outcomes.211,250,251

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Data and sample

The primary data source was the Pennsylvania Cancer Registry, a population-based registry that collects information on nearly all newly diagnosed cases in Pennsylvania.^{252,253} Using

the registry, we identified primary solid tumor cases among adults aged 21 to 64. We excluded brain and hematological cancers, which do not follow conventional staging criteria.^{254,255} We excluded cases with missing or invalid diagnosis dates, a secondary diagnosis within 365 days, or a diagnosis established through autopsy or death.²⁵⁶ See Section 3.9.2 & 3.9.3 for detailed descriptions of the data sources and inclusion criteria.

3.3.2 Identifying Medicaid beneficiaries and managed care status

Although the registry provides information about the source of insurance for each cancer case, previous research has documented considerable misclassification in the registry-based classification of insurance (e.g., miscoding Medicaid as private insurance).²⁵⁷⁻²⁶⁰ Therefore, we linked cancer cases in the registry with their inpatient discharge and outpatient procedure records, provided by the Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council (PHC4), as the next best alternative to identify Medicaid and managed care status. The PHC4 is an independent state agency to which all licensed healthcare facilities in Pennsylvania, including hospitals and freestanding ambulatory surgery centers, must report data.²⁶¹ Although not a true "gold standard," the PHC4 records provide a more reliable means to classify Medicaid and managed care coverage because the reporting facilities are required to verify records' accuracy and face financial incentives to accurately list payers for reimbursement purposes.²⁶⁰⁻²⁶⁴ In addition, the PHC4 records utilize multiple payer variables and contain more granular information about each payer, which aids in more precise identification of both Medicaid and managed care status.

To ascertain the source of insurance around the time of diagnosis, we used the PHC4 record within a 30-days window of diagnosis (Section 3.9.4). All cases in the registry were linked to at least one PHC4 record, and over 76% (N = 202,283) had at least one linked record around the time of diagnosis. In this sample, we constructed a sample of Medicaid enrollees (Medicaid MMC or FFS) based on the payer information on the linked record. Because the MMC mandate exempted dual eligibles (i.e., older adults and persons with disabilities covered by Medicare and Medicaid), they were excluded.

3.3.3 Cancer stage outcome

We created a binary variable that characterized each diagnosis as either late-stage (=1) or early-stage (=0). We defined early-stage diagnosis as in situ, localized, or regional by direct extension and late-stage diagnosis as regional with lymph nodes involved, regional not otherwise specified, or distant stage.²¹³ We grouped unstaged cases (<5% of the sample) with late-stage cases because lack of staging may indicate poor access to care, especially in medically underserved populations,²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁷ and is associated with worse prognosis.²⁶⁸ In a sensitivity analysis, we excluded the unstaged cases.

3.3.4 Covariates

We extracted demographic and clinical information from the cancer registry, including cancer type, sex, race and ethnicity, and age at diagnosis. Race and ethnicity information were abstracted from medical records by cancer registrars according to the standardized data fields.²⁶⁹

Based on this information, we created combined race and ethnicity categories. We controlled for race and ethnicity as a proxy for institutional and structural racism that may engender disparities in early detection within managed care.^{270,271} We supplemented the registry data with other arealevel variables matched to each case based on the Census tract or county of residence. We characterized the urbanicity of the census tract of residence using Rural-Urban Commuting Area (RUCA) codes from the US Department of Agriculture.²⁷² We obtained the Area Deprivation Index (ADI) for each census tract and created ADI quartiles based on the national ranks of ADI, with higher quartiles representing more disadvantaged tracts. Using the Area Health Resources Files, we constructed annual, county-level measures of health care resources (i.e., primary care physicians, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, federally qualified health centers, rural health centers, hospital beds) per 100,000 population.

3.3.5 Empirical framework

A key challenge in identifying the effects of MMC is endogenous selection into managed care.^{249,273} In circumstances when enrollment in MMC is optional, Medicaid beneficiaries who voluntarily enroll in MMC may systematically differ from FFS beneficiaries, biasing comparisons of the two delivery models. To address selection, we exploit the fact MMC enrollment became *mandatory* for nearly all adult Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania.

We estimated the effect of mandatory MMC on cancer stage using a difference-indifferences (DD) design. In our framework, the original HealthChoices counties with established MMC programs served as controls because they experienced no changes in mandatory MMC status during the study period (i.e., always treated), and the counties newly transitioning to mandatory MMC are in the treated group. A key assumption of DD is that outcome trends in counties that transition to mandatory MMC ("treated") would have been similar to the original HealthChoices counties ("control") in the absence of MMC mandate.

In our context, the timing in the transition to mandatory MMC varies by county. Therefore, we partitioned our data into three cohorts, each containing observations from all control counties and counties belonging to each wave of the HealthChoices expansion. Then, we used a "stacked" DD analysis that aggregated cohort-specific treatment effects²⁷⁴ (Section 3.9.5).

Our main regression specification is a pooled DD model, where i indexes Medicaid beneficiaries diagnosed with cancer, c indexes the county, t indexes the year-quarter of diagnosis, and k indexes a cohort. Specifically, we estimated linear probability DD models of the form:

 $y_{ictk} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Treated_{ick} * Post_{itk} + \delta X_i + \theta X_{ct} + (\gamma_t * \mu_k) + (\tau_c * \mu_k) + \epsilon_{ictk}$

Treated_{ick} equals 1 if beneficiary *i* was diagnosed in the treated county *c* in cohort *k* and, Post_{itk} equals 1 if beneficiary *i* was diagnosed in time *t* after mandatory MMC went into effect in cohort *k*. X_i includes a vector of case-level covariates, which control for observed compositional changes in the sample. We further adjusted for a vector of time-varying, county-level healthcare resources (X_{ct}). Year-quarter fixed effects (γ_t) and county fixed effects (τ_c) adjusted for secular trends and time-invariant differences across counties, respectively. These fixed effects were interacted with cohort fixed effects (μ_k), thus identifying treatment effects from changes in outcomes between treated and control counties *within* the same cohort and eliminating comparisons between earlier vs. later treated counties. We clustered standard errors at the county level.

We also fit an event-study model to estimate dynamic treatment effects and test for parallel trends in the pre-treatment period:

$$y_{ictk} = \beta_0 + \sum_{\tau=-3, \tau\neq-1}^{5} \beta_{\tau} \operatorname{Treated}_{ick} * I[\tau = t]_{itk} + \delta X_i + \theta X_{ct} + (\gamma_t * \mu_k) + (\tau_c * \mu_k) + \varepsilon_{ictk}$$

Here, the Post_{itk} is replaced by a series of year dummies $I[\tau = t]_{itk}$, taking the year immediately before treatment as the reference year ($\tau = -1$). Parallel trends in the pre-period support the plausibility of the DD assumption that outcome trends in the treated and control counties would have evolved similarly in the absence of mandatory MMC.

3.3.6 Stratified analysis

We hypothesized that changes in stage would be more pronounced among cases diagnosed with cancers amenable to screening and early detection (i.e., breast, cervical, colorectal, lung, and prostate cancers for which guideline-recommended screening procedures exist^{189,213}). Moreover, we expected stronger effects for breast and cervical cancers, for which screening was monitored by the state using quality measures throughout the study period and the diagnostic procedures were relatively routine. Therefore, we stratified the models by screening amenable vs. non-amenable cancers and major cancer types. To account for the different distributions of cancer types by sex, we also reported results separately by cancer type for females and males.

3.3.7 Robustness checks

We conducted several robustness checks to address possible threats to the DD design. First, the exclusion of cases without a PHC4 record around diagnosis poses a concern that the sample may be changing systematically over the study period. Hence, our DD estimates may be biased by any unmeasured characteristics that are *correlated* with the probability of linkage (i.e., inpatient or outpatient visits) and *differential* between the treated and control counties. To analyze how the exclusion may affect our findings, we compared the characteristics of cases with vs. without a PHC4 linkage and investigated any differential changes in the linkage.

Second, we explored other compositional changes in the Medicaid sample. Notably, our study period spans the years after Pennsylvania expanded eligibility for Medicaid under the Affordable Care Act, introducing the newly eligible groups whose characteristics may differ from existing beneficiaries into the sample. Therefore, we assessed time-varying effects before and after the date Pennsylvania expanded Medicaid (January 1, 2015) and the potential differential take-up of insurance coverage in treated vs. control counties. To broadly assess other changes in beneficiary characteristics over time, we checked for any differential trends in measured covariates between the treated and control counties.

Third, we conducted a falsification test, using individuals with private insurance and the uninsured as placebo groups. Because they were not targeted by the MMC mandate, any changes in outcomes in this population could reveal other unmeasured time-varying factors, such as provider care patterns, that may bias the DD estimates. Therefore, the null effect among these patients can help rule out potential time-varying factors that would have affected all non-elderly adults, not just those with Medicaid.

Finally, we performed a "leave-one-out" analysis, in which we replicated the main model by sequentially excluding one county at a time to identify any influential outlier counties.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Characteristics of newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries

We included 29,322 Medicaid beneficiaries newly diagnosed with cancer (Figure A3.8, Figure A3.6). Summary statistics in Table 3-1 show that the sample in the treated counties was more likely to be non-Hispanic white (89% vs. 56%) residing in non-urban (41% vs. 4%) and higher deprived areas (third ADI quartile: 36% vs 24%), compared to those in the control counties. Treated counties had fewer primary care physicians and physician assistants but more federally qualified health centers and rural health centers per 100,000 residents. These differences are expected, given that the treated counties were predominantly in rural areas.

3.4.2 Changes in MMC coverage

Following the implementation of mandatory MMC, there was a sharp and sustained increase in MMC coverage in the treated vs. control counties (Figure 3.2). Table 3-2 presents this change from the pooled DD models. Column 1 presents the estimate from the baseline model (only controlling for the fixed effects), showing a 41.8 percentage points (pp) differential increase in MMC coverage (95% CI: 37.8, 45.8; P < .001). The take-up of MMC coverage is incomplete, likely because some beneficiaries remain in Medicaid FFS while waiting for placement in a managed care plan and there are measurement errors in classifying MMC coverage. Columns 2-4 show that our estimate of MMC coverage is robust to covariate adjustments.

3.4.3 Changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis

Table 3-3 presents unadjusted and adjusted DD estimates showing differential changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis. Because the unadjusted and adjusted estimates are statistically indistinguishable, we emphasize the adjusted estimates that are more precise and account for differences in population characteristics across counties and over time. In the fully adjusted model, mandatory MMC was associated with a 3.9 pp (95% CI: -7.2, -0.5; P = .02) reduction in the probability of late-stage diagnosis among all cancer cases, representing a 7% relative decrease from the baseline mean (55.9%). The event study estimates in Figure 3.2 suggest a delayed effect of MMC (starting in the second year in the post-period) and no significant differential pre-trend. In Figure A3.9, we show that the differential reduction in late-stage diagnosis in the treated counties is driven by an overall increase in cancer detection and an increase in the number of early-stage cases.

3.4.4 Stratified analysis

The effect of mandatory MMC was greater among screening-amenable cancer cases (DD: -5.5 pp; 95% CI: -10.4, -0.6; P = .03; Figure 3.2). We found no significant changes among non-screening amenable cancer cases (P = .31), although we cannot rule out a reduction as large as 6.5 pp. Among screening-amenable cancers, the effect was driven by more significant changes among breast cancer cases, though there were also large but imprecise reductions in late-stage diagnosis among cervical and prostate cancer cases, likely due to smaller sample sizes.

3.4.5 Robustness checks

One central threat to our DD design arises from the decision to exclude cases without linkage to a PHC4 record around diagnosis. We found a significant increase in the probability of PHC4 linkage in the treated counties by 2.3 pp (P < .01) relative to the contemporaneous change in the control counties (Figure A3.11). Though this represents only a 3% increase in the probability of linkage from the baseline mean (74.9%), it poses a concern that our main estimates reflect changes in the populations included in the treated vs. control counties, rather than actual changes in cancer stage.

We conducted two alternate specifications to gauge the impact of the differential linkage on our main estimates. In the first model, we retained patients without a linked PHC4 record, used their primary payer at diagnosis listed in the cancer registry to impute Medicaid status, and controlled for the PHC4-linked status as a covariate. The main treatment effect was similar in this model compared to the main specification (DD = -3.4 pp; 95% CI: -6.5, -0.04; P = 0.028). In the second model, we only included cases that were *not* linked but whose information in the registry indicated Medicaid coverage at diagnosis. We recovered a treatment effect similar in magnitude (DD = -2.4 pp; 95% CI: -10.0, 5.3; P = 0.54). These results strongly suggest that differential linkage is unlikely to appreciably drive our findings.

In other robustness checks, we provide other evidence supporting the validity of our DD design. Our falsification test showed no significant changes in late-stage diagnosis among the placebo groups, minimizing concerns about other unmeasured time-varying factors (Figure A3.13). We also did not detect significant impacts from the ACA Medicaid expansion or any major changes in covariate trends (Figure A3.14, Table A3-8, Table A3-7). Moreover, no outlier counties
were driving our main estimate. (Figure A3.15) Finally, the results are robust to excluding the unstaged cases (Table A3-9).

3.5 Discussion

Leveraging a natural experiment in Pennsylvania's Medicaid program that mandated MMC enrollment, we found a significant reduction in the probability of late-stage diagnosis among incident cancer cases in non-elderly Medicaid beneficiaries. Improvements in early detection were driven by reductions in late-stage diagnosis among screening-amenable cancers (i.e., breast, cervical, colorectal, lung, and prostate cancers), especially for breast cancers. Putting our results in context, we note that the changes in late-stage diagnosis observed (-7.0% reduction) align with estimates from other studies examining coverage expansions on early detection. For instance, Lin et al. noted a 9.1% differential increase in the population rate of early-stage diagnosis following Medicaid expansion in states that expanded Medicaid following the ACA.²¹³ In addition, Myerson et al. found a 12% increase in early-stage detection at the age-eligibility threshold for Medicare.⁷⁹ Our study complements these prior studies by elucidating how the details of administering insurance benefits among the insured may impact the stage at diagnosis. Our findings also add to the general literature on the effects of MMC by granularly assessing an outcome relevant to lowincome adults with cancer-a growing share of Medicaid enrollees who are at a higher risk of experiencing adverse health outcomes, including mortality.

Although we cannot illuminate the exact mechanisms leading to early detection, our results are consistent with two hypotheses. First, MMC may improve beneficiaries' *overall* access to care,^{238,239} facilitating either the frequency or type of contact with the healthcare system, which creates opportunities for more timely cancer identification through diagnostic and screening tests. The fact that we observed a more significant reduction in late-stage diagnosis among screeningamenable cancers suggests that MMC may have improved access to primary and outpatient care.^{211,229,275-277} In contrast, variations in late-stage diagnosis among non-screening amenable cancers by type of insurance may be small, suggesting a more limited role for insurers in improving timely detection. Second, conditional on access, the use of preventive screening may be higher in MMC than in Medicaid FFS due to financial incentives introduced by the capitated reimbursement.²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰ To explore this hypothesis, we examined the heterogeneity in MMC's effects by cancer type. We found that the reduction in late-stage diagnosis was most clearly demonstrated for breast cancer cases. This may suggest that MCOs prioritized screening for breast cancer because of its widespread incidence among younger female beneficiaries that are disproportionately reflected in Pennsylvania's Medicaid population.²⁸¹⁻²⁸³ Furthermore, managed care plan quality measures during the study period included items on breast screening, providing additional impetus for MCOs to focus on screening for breast cancer as plan performance may be incorporated into contracting decisions (e.g., value-based purchasing).²⁸⁴⁻²⁸⁷ To the extent that state oversight of plan quality facilitates targeted efforts for early detection, expanded monitoring of screening for other screening-amenable cancers such as colorectal or lung cancers may be valuable.^{288,289} More evidence on how quality reporting influences receipt of cancer screening may be timely, especially since the measure on colorectal cancer screening was added to the Medicaid Core Set in 2022.²⁹⁰

It is important to emphasize that our findings are specific to the experiences of mandatory MMC in Pennsylvania and may not generalize to other states with different managed care contexts

and trajectories. For example, a recent study by Sunkara et al. examined changes in early detection following Connecticut Medicaid's transition from managed care to FFS in 2012 and reached an opposite conclusion, noting that the transition *improved* early detection.²⁹¹ These conflicting results provide yet another example of inconsistent effects of MMC across states and demonstrate the importance of accounting for particular attributes of Medicaid and managed care programs in contextualizing our findings. To this end, several features of Pennsylvania's MMC program are worth mentioning. First, a prior evaluation of the program suggested that MCOs reimbursed providers at a rate similar to or higher than the FFS payment rate to optimize provider participation in the care network,²⁹² which may have translated into higher acceptance of Medicaid patients and better access to care (during the study period, over 80% of physicians accepted new Medicaid patients²⁹³). This is consistent with prior empirical work establishing a strong link between generous provider payments and increased primary and preventive care utilization.^{246,249,250,294} Second, there is a fair amount of competition between plans within Pennsylvania's HealthChoices program, with at least 4 MCOs operating within each MMC region^{217,295}, motivating improvements in plan quality by increasing spending in high-value preventive care.²⁴⁵ Third, MCOs employed a bundle of disease management strategies (such as health assessments) using integrated data systems, and these specific case management tools may further contribute to identifying enrollees with high care needs, some of who may have presented with symptoms that indicate cancer.^{247,292} Lastly, the staggered adoption of MMC allowed plans to mature by accumulating lessons and experiences over time, fostering a more seamless transition to managed care with each wave. This is relevant to our analysis that assessed the effects of the final wave of transition to MMC in Pennsylvania.

While the finding that MMC improved early detection is encouraging, further efforts are warranted to address remaining disparities in early detection, especially among screening amenable cancers. In our sample, late-stage diagnosis was common for colorectal and lung cancer (73.6%), even though there are guideline-recommended screening procedures for these cancers. One factor that may contribute to this variation in early detection is screening modality. For instance, screening for breast cancer relies on procedures such as mammography that are widely available and performed non-invasively.²⁹⁶ In contrast, colonoscopies-the most common and definitive screening procedure for colorectal cancer-are clinically more complex, requiring more intensive preparation and time.²⁹⁷ There are additional access barriers to colonoscopies, such as lack of transportation or accompaniment.²⁹⁸ There may be opportunities for MCOs to address these barriers by using capitated payments to cover nonmedical services (i.e., "in lieu of" services or value-added services) such as patient navigation services, which have been shown to increase rates of guideline-concordant screening.²⁹⁹ Moreover, MCOs can design interventions that target plan members who are not up to date with screening.³⁰⁰ These strategies will be essential in helping to reduce disparities in screening among patients in Medicaid.³⁰¹

3.6 Limitations

We acknowledge several limitations to our analysis. First, because we included cancer cases a corresponding record for a hospitalization or an outpatient procedure, our sample may not represent the broader Medicaid population. However, we found that the measured characteristics of the cases with vs. without linked records were generally similar, which is in line with prior

studies suggesting that hospital-based registries may perform relatively well in capturing cancer cases in a given population, especially cases that are typically treated with surgery and more prevalent in younger populations (e.g., breast).^{302,303} Furthermore, the distribution of cancer stage in this study was comparable to a previously reported estimate showing that over 50% of cases with Medicaid were diagnosed with Stage III & IV cancers.⁹⁶ Second, we cannot precisely identify Medicaid MMC vs. FFS status due to a lack of detailed Medicaid eligibility and enrollment information, introducing measurement errors in classifying Medicaid and MMC coverage. However, our study design leveraged the introduction of mandatory MMC enrollment, which we could observe precisely, and we only directly used individual-level MMC information in the hospital records to demonstrate that this mandate corresponded to a large increase in MMC enrollment. In so far as our sample includes certain beneficiaries that are exempt from the MMC mandate, such as newly enrolled Medicaid FFS beneficiaries waiting placement in managed care plans, it will bias the result towards the null (since these beneficiaries likely received little to no care management compared to established Medicaid beneficiaries). However, it is also possible that MCOs may have rapidly connected these individuals to primary care upon enrollment and facilitate preventive screening,^{287,304,305} which is consistent with our hypothesis regarding MMC. Furthermore, we provide descriptive evidence suggesting that our sample largely includes established Medicaid beneficiaries with hospital records indicating Medicaid enrollment one year before cancer diagnosis (Table A3-5). Third, the data did not permit unpacking the mechanisms leading to early cancer detection. There are opportunities for further research utilizing administrative Medicaid or survey data to specifically examine potential changes in access to care and utilization of various cancer screening services. Future research should also incorporate person-level factors that may mediate the effects of MMC, such as prior experience with Medicaid and churning in enrollment.

3.7 Conclusion

Among non-elderly adult Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania, mandatory MMC was associated with improved early detection of cancer, driven by pronounced reductions in late-stage diagnosis of cancers for which screening is most accessible, widespread, and incentivized through targeted quality measures. Given existing disparities in cancer outcomes in this population, Medicaid programs should dedicate further efforts to improve early detection.

3.8 Tables and figures

Table 3-1	Characteristics of	of Medicaid	beneficiaries	newly diagnos	ed with a so	lid tumor in I	Pennsvlvania

	Treated	Control	Standardized
Characteristic	Counties	Counties	mean
	(N = 7,588)	(N = 21,734)	difference
Sex			
Male	43.8%	42.9%	0.02
Female	56.2%	57.1%	0.02
Race and ethnicity ^a			
Hispanic	2.6%	8.1%	0.25
Non-Hispanic White	88.9%	55.5%	0.80
Non-Hispanic Black	5.5%	30.1%	0.68
Other ^b	0.8%	3.4%	0.18
Unknown	2.3%	2.9%	0.04
Age at diagnosis			
21-39	13.4%	12.5%	0.03
40-49	20.0%	20.2%	0.01
50-59	44.6%	44.2%	0.01
60-64	22.0%	23.1%	0.03
Urbanicity of residence ^c			
Urban	58.7%	96.0%	1.00
Large town	24.5%	3.2%	0.65
Small town	9.4%	0.4%	0.43
Rural	7.5%	0.4%	0.37
Area deprivation index ^d			
Quartile 1	1.7%	14.7%	0.49
Quartile 2	20.7%	21.4%	0.02
Quartile 3	36.4%	23.3%	0.29
Quartile 4	41.2%	40.6%	0.01
Cancer type ^e			
Breast	15.1%	16.7%	0.04
Cervical	2.5%	2.6%	0.01
Colorectal	10.1%	11.2%	0.03
Lung & bronchus	18.9%	17.0%	0.05
Prostate	3.4%	4.5%	0.06
Non-screening amenable cancers	50%	48%	0.04
County-level healthcare resources per			
100,000 residents ^f			
Federally qualified health centers	3.8	2.1	0.28

cancer registry, 2010-2018

Hospital beds	330.8	227.9	0.34
Primary care physicians	46.3	58.3	0.30
Physician assistants	39.0	46.4	0.19
Nurse practitioners	63.6	42.6	0.23
Rural health centers	3.8	0.4	0.76

Note: The table displays the means and standardized mean difference in characteristics between individuals residing in the control counties (i.e. the original HealthChoices counties) and the treated counties that newly transitioned to mandatory managed care in Pennsylvania during the study period. The sample includes incident cancer cases from the Pennsylvania Cancer Registry (2010-2018) with at least one linked PHC4 record that listed Medicaid as a payer source.

^a Race and ethnicity were separately recorded by cancer registrars based on the information they received from various sources, including medical records and face sheets. Based on the recorded information, we created combined race and ethnicity categories as listed in the table.

^b "Other" group includes individuals who were identified as non-Hispanic and belonging to at least one of these race categories: American Indian, Aleutian, Eskimo, Chinese, Japanese, Japanese, Filipino, Hawaiian, Korean, Vietnamese, Laotian, Hmong, Kampuchean (including Khmer & Cambodian), Thai, Asian Indian, Pakistani, Micronesian, Chamorro, Guamanian, Polynesian, Tahitian, Samoan, Tongan, Melanesian, Fiji Islander, or New Guinean.

^c Urbanicity and area deprivation index were characterized at the case level using the census tract of residence. ^dHigher area deprivation index quartiles represent areas with greater socioeconomic deprivation.

^e Cancers other than breast, cervical, colorectal, lung, and prostate cancers were categorized as non-screening amenable. Mean healthcare resources were calculated at the county level using the Area Health Resources Files.

Table 3-2 Changes in Medicaid managed care coverage among newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
DD estimate (percentage points)	41.8	42.0	42.3	40.3
95% CI	[37.8, 45.8]	[37.9, 46.0]	[38.1, 46.4]	[36.5, 44.1]
P-value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
Cancer fixed effects	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Case-level controls ^a	No	No	Yes	Yes
County-level controls ^b	No	No	No	Yes
No. of cases ^c	67,617	67,617	67,617	67,617
F-statistic	151.5	232.3	481.4	491.1

between the treated and control counties, before and after mandatory Medicaid managed care

Abbreviation: DD, difference-in-differences

Note: The table displays the difference-in-differences coefficients (transformed to percentage point changes), their 95% confidence intervals, and the F-statistics, modeling Medicaid managed care coverage around the time of diagnosis as the outcome. Information on Medicaid and managed care status was extracted from the linked PHC4 records around the time of diagnosis. All models controlled for year-by-stack and county-by-stack fixed effects. Standard errors were clustered at the county level.

^a Case-level controls included sex, race/ethnicity, age at diagnosis, urbanicity of residence, and Area Deprivation Index quartiles.

^b County-level controls included yearly healthcare resources (i.e., federally qualified health centers, hospital beds, primary care physicians, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, and rural health centers) per 100,000.

^c The number of cases is greater than the total from Table 1 because certain control observations are replicated in each stacked cohort.

Table 3-3 Changes in late-stage diagnosis among newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries between the treated

Unadjusted mean, % (95% CI)				Difference-in-differences in pp			
Controls		Treated		Unadjusted ^a		Adjusted ^b	
Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Estimate (95% CI)	Р	Estimate (95% CI)	Р
51.8 (50.6, 52.9)	50.4 (48.5, 52.4)	55.9 (53.4, 58.4)	52.0 (50.4, 53.6)	-2.6 (-6.2, 1.0)	0.15	-3.9 (-7.2, -0.5)	0.02

and control counties, before and after mandatory Medicaid managed care

Abbreviation: pp, percentage points

Notes: The table displays unadjusted mean (in percentage) outcomes in pre- vs. post-period for control and treated counties and the adjusted difference-in-differences coefficients (in percentage points). Standard errors were clustered at the county level.

^a The unadjusted model only controlled for the county- and year-quarter-by-stack fixed effects.

^bAdjusted for county- and year-quarter-by-stack fixed effects, case-level controls (i.e., sex, race/ethnicity, age at diagnosis, urbanicity of residence, and Area Deprivation Index quartiles) and yearly county-level healthcare resources (i.e., federally qualified health centers, hospital beds, primary care physicians, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, and rural health centers) per 100,000.











stage diagnosis among cancer cases in non-elderly adults with Medicaid coverage in the treated vs. control

counties

Abbreviation: pp, percentage-points

Note: In Panel A, we display trends in the proportion of Medicaid managed care coverage and late-stage diagnosis among cancer cases in Medicaid-covered adults between the treated and control counties, respectively. In Panel B, we show difference-indifferences event study coefficients that modeled the differential probability of Medicaid managed care coverage and late-stage diagnosis, respectively. The event study models adjusted for cancer fixed effects, case-level controls, yearly county-level healthcare resources per 100,000, year-quarter-by-stack, and county-by-stacked fixed effects. We clustered standard errors at the county level. The dotted vertical line represents the reference year, or one year before the transition date to mandatory Medicaid managed care

within each stacked cohort (Cohort 1: July 1, 2012; Cohort 2: October 1, 2012; Cohort 3: March 1, 2013. The dotted red lines correspond to the pooled difference-in-differences estimates.



Figure 3.2 Differential changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis in the treated vs. control counties,

stratified by cancer type

Abbreviation: DD, difference-in-differences

Note: The figure displays difference-in-differences coefficients showing the effects of Medicaid managed care by cancer type. Each model adjusted for cancer fixed effects, patient-level controls, yearly county-level healthcare resources per 100,000 population, year-quarter-by-stack, and county-by-stack fixed effects. "Screening amenable" cancers included cancers amenable to early detection and preventive screening, including breast, cervical, colorectal, lung, and prostate cancers. All other cancers were categorized as "non-screening amenable."

3.9 Appendix

3.9.1 Details on Pennsylvania Medicaid and the HealthChoices program

Pennsylvania's Medicaid program (Medical Assistance; MA) has provided health insurance coverage to children, pregnant women, families with children, individuals with disabilities, and aged Medicaid beneficiaries meeting defined income eligibility thresholds (before the expansion of Medicaid under the Affordable Care Act).²¹⁴ While MA was initially designed as a fee-for-service program, Pennsylvania experimented with *voluntary* managed care in MA via a pilot program that allowed MA beneficiaries in urban areas in Pennsylvania to enroll in a managed care plan starting in 1986. Concluding that the pilot experiment was largely successful, Pennsylvania submitted a waiver to the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) to establish a mandatory Medicaid managed care (MMC) program called HealthChoices.²¹⁶ Before the establishment of the HealthChoices program in 1997, over 4.5 million beneficiaries had enrolled in MMC plans in Pennsylvania.³⁰⁶ By further mandating MMC enrollment, the state sought to control growing Medicaid spending while improving care access and quality.

When implementing the HealthChoices program, Pennsylvania used a zone-based, phasedin schedule, which introduced mandatory MMC across zones at different points in time.³⁰⁷ Figure A3.3 shows these zones: Northeast, Northwest, Lehigh/Capital, Southeast, and Southwest. The staggered implementation of the program allowed the state to dedicate enough time and resources to each wave of expansion, allowing lessons learned from prior expansion to guide future waves of transition. This schedule also helped managed care organizations (MCOs), which had primarily served beneficiaries residing in urban areas, to tailor plans to meet the needs of beneficiaries in more rural parts of Pennsylvania. Because existing penetration of managed care was relatively high in all counties in the Southeast and parts of Lehigh/Capital & Southwest zones, the state first introduced the MMC mandate in these counties in 1997, planning to gradually expand mandatory MMC statewide.



Figure A3.3 Pennsylvania HealthChoies zones

Abbreviation: MCO, Managed care organizations

Note: This map displays the counties in Pennsylvania belonging to each managed care zone. Below the map, the list of operating managed care organizations within each zone is included. Source: PA Department of Human Services. "Statewide Managed Care Map," https://www.dhs.pa.gov/providers/Providers/Pages/Statewide-Managed-Care-Map.aspx

In remaining counties where MMC enrollment was not yet mandatory, beneficiaries could either choose MMC coverage (if a managed care plan was available in a county) or receive coverage through an enhanced Primary Care Case Management (PCCM) program called ACCESS Plus.³⁰⁸ Although ACCESS Plus adopted certain elements of managed care, it was not a fully capitated program and reimbursed providers on a traditional, fee-for-service basis. All Medicaid beneficiaries in fee-for-service Medicaid were enrolled in ACCESS Plus, though they could voluntarily enroll in a managed care plan if at least one plan were available in their country of residence. Upon enrollment, beneficiaries in ACCESS Plus were assigned to a primary care practitioner (i.e., a physician or a certified nurse practitioner) responsible for managing patient care, including providing referrals for health care services. Moreover, the state contracted with a separate disease management vendor tasked with providing more intensive disease management services for beneficiaries with certain chronic illnesses. During this time, the state increased provider reimbursement rates from 0.52 of the Medicaid-to-Medicare fee index in 2003 to 0.73 in 2008 (aligned with the national average of 0.72). The state also provided pay-for-participation incentives (about \$10-40 per patient) for higher-quality providers meeting certain process and clinical standards. However, no single entity akin to an MCO was responsible for the entirety of an enrollee's Medicaid spending.²³²

Several factors drove the decision to rely on the enhanced PCCM model in the counties without mandatory MMC.³⁰⁸ First, there were concerns about the abilities of MCOs to negotiate adequate and affordable networks in rural areas featuring only a limited number of providers. Second, the state felt confident about its internal claims and utilization management capabilities and did not see a need to outsource such functions to MCOs. Third, in areas with voluntary managed care, ACCESS Plus represented a source of competition and provided a basis for evaluating the cost and quality of MMC. Therefore, there was a lag in mandatory MMC implementation outside the original HealthChoices counties. In the meantime, a coalition of MCOs conducted an independent evaluation of mandatory MMC, which found larger cost savings and improved access and quality of care under MMC vs. ACCESS Plus.²⁹²

In April 2012, the state announced that all Medicaid beneficiaries, unless they fell into an exempted category, would be required to enroll in MMC, expanded the HealthChoices program in the remaining counties.³⁰⁹ The exact schedule of the expansion and counties included in each wave of expansion is shown in Figure A3.4.



Figure A3.4 Schedule of HealthChoices expansion by counties in Pennsylvania

Abbreviation: MMC, Medicaid managed care

Note: The map displays the counties in Pennsylvania belonging to each wave of transition to Medicaid managed care (PA HealthChoices). In the original HealthChoices counties, managed care was mandatory for eligible non-elderly adult Medicaid beneficiaries since 1997. During the study period, there were three waves of transitions to Medicaid managed care: Wave 1 counties switched to mandatory Medicaid managed care on July 1, 2012; Wave 2 counties switched on October 1, 2012; Wave 3 counties switched on March 1, 2013.

In the top panel of Figure A3.5, we show that the implementation of mandatory MMC via expansions of the HealthChoices program resulted in large MMC coverage increases among Medicaid beneficiaries newly diagnosed with cancer (i.e., incident cases) in our data. Specifically, the share of MMC coverage increased from 10-20% in 2010 to nearly 60% by 2014, closing the gap in MMC enrollment between the original HealthChoices and the counties in Waves 1-3. Moreover, the bottom panel indicates a sharp increase in MMC coverage even among cancer cases

residing in counties where MMC enrollment was optional (less than 18% had MMC coverage in 2010). In our analysis, the counties in Waves 1-3 served as treated counties, while the original HealthChoices counties, which had mature MMC programs by 2012, were included as control counties.







Medicaid during the study period

Abbreviations: MMC, Medicaid managed care; FFS, fee-for-service

Note: The top panel plots yearly proportions of MMC coverage separately by counties belonging to each wave of Medicaid managed care expansion. The bottom panel shows trends in MMC coverage separately for the original HealthChoices counties, the counties that had voluntary managed care ("Prior voluntary MMC counties"), and the counties fully served by ACCESS Plus, the primary care case management program within Medicaid fee-for-service ("Prior FFS-only counties")

3.9.2 Details about data sources

3.9.2.1 Pennsylvania cancer registry

The primary data source for our study is the Pennsylvania Cancer Registry (PCR), a population-based registry that collects information on all incident cases of cancer diagnosed or treated in Pennsylvania.³¹⁰ As a part of the National Program of Cancer Registries (NPCR), administered and funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the PCR ensures the availability of reliable, high-quality data on cancer incidence and treatment in Pennsylvania. The PCR is also annually certified by the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR) and NPCR for meeting the standard of completeness and timeliness for a population-based cancer registry.

The PCR collects cancer data from various reporting sources, including hospitals, clinics, laboratories, radiation facilities, cancer and surgery centers, doctor's offices, and death certificates. Reporting to the PCR is mandated per the Pennsylvania Cancer Control, Prevention, and Research Act of 1980 and regulations on reporting communicable and non-communicable diseases.³¹¹ Each year, the PCR receives information on roughly 76,000 newly diagnosed cancer cases and their demographic and medical information, including cancer types, stage at diagnosis, the first course of treatment, and vital status.

From the PCR, we extracted the following variables: sex, race/ethnicity, age at diagnosis, census tract and county of residence, cancer type, and stage at diagnosis. The entities submitting information to the PCR, such as health care facilities and practitioners, provide demographic information about each cancer case. Although detailed protocols are in place to ensure standardization of the collected data by the PCR³¹², prior investigations have reported that there

may be some inconsistencies in which information about race and ethnicity²⁶⁹ or sex³¹³ is recorded and abstracted in cancer registry data. We categorized cancer types using the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, 3rd edition (ICD-O-3) codes. To determine the stage at diagnosis, we used the SEER summary stage variable, routinely provided by the PCR after reviewing a combination of the clinical and pathological documentation of cancer.³¹⁴

3.9.2.2 Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council records

We linked the data from PCR with inpatient discharge and outpatient procedure records provided by PHC4, an independent state agency that collects data about the cost and quality of healthcare in Pennsylvania. The PHC4 collects approximately 5.2 million inpatient and ambulatory/outpatient records from all licensed hospitals and free-standing ambulatory service facilities in Pennsylvania annually.³¹⁵ The collected data also include financial data, including expected payer source for each facility visit³¹⁶, which we used to identify sources of insurance coverage for individuals newly diagnosed with cancer. To flag Medicaid beneficiaries, we include individuals whose PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis listed "Medicaid, FFS" or "Medicaid, HMO."

We relied on PHC4 records to ascertain sources of insurance coverage around the time of diagnosis for two reasons. First, although the PCR data contain a variable on insurance status, existing literature has documented misclassification in the payer variable in the registry.^{260,262,317,318} In particular, previous research suggests that Medicaid managed care plans may be misclassified as commercial insurance,³¹⁹ which complicates efforts to accurately identify Medicaid beneficiaries enrolled in Medicaid managed care during the study period. Second, the registry summarizes coverage information using a single variable that may be updated over time, which

makes it difficult to pinpoint the source of coverage precisely around the time of diagnosis.²⁶⁰ For instance, prior coverage information would be no longer available for patients who switched insurance at diagnosis or during treatment.

We acknowledge that payer information in PHC4 records does not meet a proper "gold standard" in verifying sources of coverage. However, in the absence of administrative Medicaid records, inpatient and outpatient visit records are one of the best available alternatives to ascertain sources of coverage more reliably.³²⁰ Since payers listed on each PHC4 record are the entities from which facilities expect reimbursement, facilities are incentivized to code payer information accurately and comprehensively.

3.9.2.3 Area health resources files

To obtain county-level information on health care resources, we used the Area Health Resources Files (AHRF) maintained by the Health Resources & Services Administration (HRSA).^{321,322} The AHRF provides comprehensive information on health care use, providers, facilities, and local environmental and socio-demographics, compiled from over 50 databases and other sources. For each county, we constructed a health care resource density measure, calculated as the number of health care providers or facilities per 100,000. See Table A3-4 for the complete list of AHRF variables we extracted.

Variable field in AHRF	Variable	Data source ^a	Year of data availability
F11984	County population estimate	Census	Yearly
F14677	MD, primary care	AMA Masterfile	Yearly
F14642	Nurse practitioners	CMS	Yearly
F14641	Physician assistants	CMS	Yearly

Table A3-4 County-level healthcare resource variables extracted from the Area Health Resources Files

F13218	Rural Health Clinics	CMS	Yearly
F13320	Federal Qualified Health Centers	CMS	Yearly
F08921	Hospital beds	AHA survey	Every five years

Abbreviations: AHRF, Area Health Resources Files; MD, Doctor of Medicine; AMA, American Medical Association; CMS, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services; AHA, American Hospital Association

3.9.2.4 Other area-level variables

We supplemented the data in the PCR with two area-level data sources using an individual's census block of residence. First, we constructed a variable characterizing the rurality of residence based on Agriculture Rural-Urban Commuting Area (RUCA) codes from the United States Department of Agriculture. We designate urban areas (RUCA codes 1-3), large town areas (RUCA codes 4-6,) and rural areas (RUCA codes 7-10).²⁷² Second, we obtained the Area Deprivation Index (ADI) from the Neighborhood Atlas,³²³ which ranks socioeconomic disadvantage in neighborhoods based on various domains from the American Community Survey (ACS), including income, education, employment, and housing quality. We assigned the ADI ranks using the 2015 data (the data is only available for 2015 and 2020). We created county-level ADI quartiles, with higher quartiles indicating counties with greater neighborhood deprivation.

3.9.3 Inclusion criteria

Figure A3.6 shows the flowchart illustrating how we derived the study sample. We included all cancer cases in the Pennsylvania Cancer Registry with dates of diagnosis from 2010 to 2018. We applied conventional exclusion criteria used in secondary research using cancer registries,^{256,324,325} excluding cases with a secondary cancer diagnosis within 365 days of the primary diagnosis, cases with invalid diagnosis date (i.e., missing the month or year of diagnosis), cases for which diagnosis was established at autopsy or death, and cases with missing covariates.

We also excluded a small share of individuals who transitioned genders (N=46; <1% of the sample) because of their different risk profiles for cancer development.³²⁶⁻³²⁹ We recognize that transgender individuals are an important minority group requiring more nuanced and specific analyses of cancer risks, but the decision to exclude them was made because the small sample size in the Pennsylvania cancer registry precluded any generalizable inferences and we did not want to assign a sex value in this group. We then limited the sample to adults aged 21 to 64.

To ascertain the source of insurance coverage around the time of diagnosis, we linked each case in the cancer registry to a PHC4 inpatient discharge or outpatient procedure record within one month of the diagnosis and excluded cases without the corresponding PHC4 recorded. We excluded cases whose payer source for the linked PHC4 record did not list Medicaid (i.e., non-Medicaid sample) and those for which the payer source included Medicare in addition to Medicaid (i.e., dually enrolled in Medicare and Medicaid).

In the remaining sample of non-elderly adults with Medicaid coverage around the time of diagnosis, we excluded individuals diagnosed with brain or hematological tumors. The final sample consists of 29,332 cases who were newly diagnosed with a primary solid tumor.



Figure A3.6 Sample selection flowchart using the Pennsylvania cancer registry and linked PHC4 records

Abbreviations: PCR, Pennsylvania cancer registry; PHC4, Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council

3.9.4 Linkage of Pennsylvania cancer registry with PHC4 records

The linkage of the Pennsylvania cancer registry and inpatient and outpatient discharge records was provided by administrators and staff at the Pennsylvania Health Cost and Containment Council (PHC4). PHC4 data contained a unique patient ID that matches the ID in the cancer registry, which we used to link each case in the registry with their discharge records. All primary cancer cases aged 21-64 were linked to at least one PHC4 record (N = 266,133). The linked data also contain a variable indicating the number of days from the date of diagnosis in the cancer registry to the date of admission in the PHC4 records. Using this variable, we identified a PHC4 record (whether for an inpatient discharge or an outpatient procedure) within +/- 30 days of the date of diagnosis. We retained the record closest to the date of diagnosis. Over 76% (N = 202,283) of non-elderly patients with a new primary cancer had a visit around the time of cancer diagnosis. Figure A3.7 shows that for most visits, the date of admission coincides exactly with the date of the diagnosis (~60%).



Figure A3.7 Distribution of the days from the date of cancer diagnosis to the date of PHC4 records among the

linked sample

Abbreviation: PHC4, Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council Note: The figure displays the histogram of the variable showing the date of the linked PHC4 record relative to the date of diagnosis. This variable was calculated by (date of the linked PHC4 record – date of cancer diagnosis). Therefore, the value of 0 indicates that an inpatient or an outpatient visit for the linked record occurred on the date of cancer diagnosis; a positive (negative) value indicates that such a visit occurred after (before) cancer diagnosis.

3.9.5 Stacked difference-in-difference analysis

Recent literature on difference-in-difference methods has extensively documented a potential bias in estimating a treatment effect in standard two-way fixed effects models when the timing of the treatment varies across treated units.^{274,330,331} A critical problem lies in comparing earlier-treated units with later-treated units (i.e., "forbidden" comparisons) when treatment effects are heterogeneous, which generates negative weights that bias difference-in-differences coefficients. Moreover, the standard model assigns more weight to observations treated in the middle of the study period, which may be inappropriate depending on the context of the treatment

studied. In our context, we are more concerned about the "negative" weighting problem since the transition to mandatory Medicaid managed care occurred in a staggered fashion (with ~6 months gaps in treatment between the treated counties after the first transition date on July 1, 2012) but all treatment occurred in the middle of the study period (2012-2013).

To address the potential bias in the standard difference-in-differences framework, we implemented a "stacked" difference-in-differences analysis.^{332,333} The basic idea of the stacked analysis is to partition the study sample into several stacks of data or cohorts, in which a "clean" comparison is made between treated and control units. The analysis specifically estimates treatment effects *within* each cohort, which includes "clean" controls (i.e., always-treated or not-ever-treated) and newly treated units, and aggregates cohort-specific treatment effects to recover an average treatment effect.

To generate the stacked data, we divided the final sample into the following three cohorts, as shown in Figure A3.8:

<u>Cohort 1</u> = counties with mandatory Medicaid managed care mandate throughout the study period (control) + Wave 1 counties (transitioned to mandatory Medicaid managed care on July 1, 2012);

2) <u>Cohort 2</u> = control counties + Wave 2 counties (transitioned on October 1, 2012); and

3) <u>Cohort 3</u> = control counties + Wave 3 counties (transitioned on March 1, 2013).

Each cohort contains observations within the 30 months of pre-period and 69 months of post-period, the common event window for all three cohorts. The cohort data were then appended in one "stacked" dataset, which formed the final analytic sample for the difference-in-differences analysis. The final stacked data contains 67,617 observations (N, Control = 60,595, N,

treated=7,022), some of which were duplicates since observations in the control counties are replicated in all three cohorts.



Figure A3.8 Flowchart of the sample construction process for stacked difference-in-difference analysis

Abbreviations: PCR, Pennsylvania cancer registry; PHC4, Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council Note: The figure displays the flowchart detailing creating the "stacked" data for our main analysis. Using the final sample of cancer cases among non-elderly adults with Medicaid, we created three different cohorts. Each cohort includes cancer cases in the control counties (i.e., original HealthChoices counties with mandatory Medicaid managed care throughout the study period) and cancer cases belonging to each wave of Medicaid managed care expansion (see Figure S2 for more details). The number of controls in each cohort differs slightly because some observations at the tail-ends of the study period were dropped to ensure the same number of pre-period (30 months) and post-period (69 months) across cohorts.

Using the stacked data, we estimated an intent-to-treat model, where *i* indexes a Medicaid

beneficiary diagnosed with cancer, c indexes the county, t indexes the calendar year of diagnosis,

and k indexes a cohort of individuals within each stack:

 $y_{ictk} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Treated_{ick} * Post_{itk} + \delta X_i + \theta X_{ct} + (\gamma_t * \mu_k) + (\tau_c * \mu_k) + \varepsilon_{ictk}$

Treated_{ick} is 1 if a beneficiary *i* was diagnosed in a treated county *c* in cohort *k* and Post_{it} equals 1 if a beneficiary i was diagnosed after the mandatory Medicaid managed care was in effect in a county *c* in cohort *k*. X_i is a vector of case-level covariates and X_{ct} is a vector of time-varying healthcare resources at the county level. We also included year fixed-effects (γ_t) to control for secular trends and county fixed-effects (τ_c) to adjust for time-invariant differences across counties. We interacted the year- and county-fixed effects with cohort fixed-effects (μ_k), which essentially estimates the difference-in-differences in each cohort, thus eliminating the "forbidden" comparison between earlier vs. later treated counties. We clustered standard errors at the county level to account for the within-county clustering of observations.

We used an event-study form to estimate dynamic treatment effects and to test for parallel trends in the outcomes in the pre-period.

$$y_{ictk} = \beta_0 + \sum_{\tau=-3, \tau\neq-1}^{5} \beta_{\tau} \operatorname{Treated}_{ick} * I[\tau = t]_{itk} + \delta X_i + \theta X_{ct} + (\gamma_t * \mu_k) + (\tau_c * \mu_k) + \epsilon_{ictk}$$

The post-indicator is replaced by a series of year-period dummies $I[\tau = t]_{itk}$, taking the year immediately before the treatment time as the reference year ($\tau = -1$). We tested whether the event-study coefficients for $\tau = -3$, -2 are statistically indistinguishable from 0, testing whether there are significant differences in outcome trends prior to treatment between the treated and control counties.

3.9.6 Supplement to the main results

3.9.6.1 Changes in population-based rates of cancer detection

Our main results showed evidence of a differential reduction in the probability of late-stage diagnosis among cancer cases diagnosed in the treated vs. control counties. We assume that increases in early diagnosis explain this reduction, though it could theoretically also result from fewer cancers diagnosed overall and a larger drop in late-stage than early-stage cancers.

Here, we provide descriptive data suggesting the overall increase in early-stage cancers drives our results. To show this, we first aggregated our data at the county level, summing up the number of newly diagnosed cases with Medicaid. We then generated population-based rates of cancer detection in each county, dividing the aggregated number of diagnoses by the number of insured among non-elderly, low-income individuals (<138% of FPL and aged 18-64) from the Census data, which served as a proxy for the denominator of individuals with Medicaid. We plot the trends in these population-based rates by treatment status. We also replicated this analysis among privately insured as an additional placebo check (for this group, the population denominator was the number of non-elderly individuals with incomes >138% FPL).

In Figure A3.9, we observe a differential increase in the overall cancer detection rates among cases with Medicaid in the treated vs. control counties in the years following the implementation of mandatory MMC. We break down the population rates by early- and late-stage diagnosis and find stable trends in the control counties but pronounced changes in the treated counties, especially in rates of early-stage diagnosis. These descriptive data support the claim that our main finding of the differential *decrease* in late-stage diagnosis is driven by a *higher* share of early-stage diagnosis accounting for the overall increase in cancer detection in the treated vs. control counties. Conversely, we found no visible changes in the rates of cancer detection among the privately insured throughout the study period, ruling out other factors that may have caused spurious changes in overall cancer detection during the implementation of mandatory MMC.



Figure A3.9 Trends in population rates of cancer detection among non-elderly adults with Medicaid and

private insurance in the treated and control counties

Abbreviation: No., number

Note: The figures plot the population rates of all cancer cases, early-stage and late-stage cancer cases among adults aged 21 to 64 with Medicaid and private insurance (aggregated at the county level). The denominator for each group is the estimated number of non-elderly individuals (aged 18-64) with income <138% FPL and >138% FPL in a county from the Small Area Health Insurance Estimates (U.S. Census Bureau), respectively. The post-period encompasses years following 2012 (for the stacked cohort 1) and 2013 (for stacked cohorts 2 and 3).

3.9.6.2 Main results stratified by gender and cancer type

To account for the different distribution of cancer types by gender, we stratified the main analysis by gender and cancer type. In Figure A3.10, we observed signs of heterogeneity in the effects of mandatory Medicaid managed care by gender, which may point to potentially distinct mechanisms of early detection by gender. Among women, clear evidence of reductions in latestage diagnosis for breast and cervical cancer cases is expected, with capitation incentivizing the use of guideline-recommended screening services for these cancers. In contrast, our findings suggest that among men, Medicaid managed care is associated with changes in late-stage diagnosis across multiple cancer types, including non-screening amenable cancers. These differences may reflect gender-based disparities in the utilization of preventive care and access to care that should be explored in future research.



Figure A3.10 Differential changes in the probability of late-stage diagnosis in the treated vs. control counties,

stratified by gender and cancer type

Abbreviation: DD, difference-in-differences; pp, percentage points Note: The figure displays a set of the difference-in-differences coefficients showing the effects of Medicaid managed care by cancer type and gender. Each model adjusted for cancer fixed effects, patient-level controls, yearly county-level healthcare resources per 100,000 population, year-quarter-by-stack, and county-by-stack fixed effects. "Screening amenable" cancers included cancers amenable to early detection and preventive screening, including breast, cervical, colorectal, lung, and prostate cancers. All other cancers were categorized as "non-screening amenable."

3.9.7 Potential bias from excluding cases without a PHC4 record

The fact that our study sample excludes cases in the cancer registry without a PHC4 record

within one month of diagnosis poses a concern about systematically biasing the sample. We

explored how excluding these cases may have impacted our study findings.

We first compared measured characteristics of cases with and without a PHC4 record

around the time of diagnosis. Table A3-5 demonstrates that for most characteristics, there were no

large differences in individual-level characteristics between those with vs. without a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis (i.e., the standardized mean difference [SMD] < 0.2). However, a higher share of individuals with a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis were female (56.8% vs. 43.7%; SMD = 0.26) and diagnosed with lung or bronchus cancer (9.5% vs. 2.4%; SMD=0.30).

Variables	Without a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis (N=63,830)	With a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis (N=202,283)	Standardized Mean difference
Sex, %			
Male	56.3	43.2	0.26
Female	43.7	56.8	0.26
Race/ethnicity, % ^a			
Hispanic	2.6	2.6	< 0.01
Non-Hispanic white	73.3	80.7	0.18
Non-Hispanic black	8.9	10.6	0.06
Other	1.9	2.0	0.01
Unknown	2.6	2.6	< 0.01
Age at diagnosis, %			
21-39	8.3	10.1	0.06
40-49	15.9	18.2	0.06
50-59	43.8	43.1	0.01
60-64	32.1	28.6	0.07
Urbanicity of residence, % ^b			
Urban	88.2	87.1	0.03
Large town	7.6	8.5	0.03
Small town	2.1	2.4	0.02
Rural	2.1	2.0	0.01
Area deprivation index, % ^c			
Quartile 1	32.1	26.1	0.13
Quartile 2	28.6	28.6	0.00
Quartile 3	22.6	24.5	0.05
Quartile 4	16.8	20.8	0.10
Cancer type, %			
Breast	15.3	20.6	0.14
Cervical	1.0	1.0	< 0.01
Lung & bronchus	2.4	9.5	0.30

Table A3-5 Characteristics of non-elderly cancer cases in the PCR by the availability of a PHC4 record

Prostate	28.5	6.1	0.62
Other	49.0	52.7	0.07

Abbreviation: PCR, Pennsylvania cancer registry; PHC4, Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council Note: The table displays the means and standardized mean difference in characteristics between individuals aged 21 to 64 with vs. without a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis (+/- 30 days).

^b The urbanicity and area deprivation index were characterized at the individual level, using the Census block of residence.

^c Higher area deprivation index quartiles represent areas with greater socioeconomic deprivation.

However, the differences in patient characteristics noted in Table A3-5 are not necessarily problematic for difference-in-differences *if* rates of exclusions are similar over time between the treated and control counties. We, therefore, examined whether there were differential exclusions due to the lack of a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis between treated and control counties throughout the study period by modeling the availability of such a record for each case as the outcome. Figure A3.11 shows a 2.3 percentage-point increase in the probability of linkage with a PHC4 record in the treated counties vs. control counties, before and after the treatment (95% CI: 0.6, 4.0; P = 0.01). This represents a ~3% relative increase from the baseline mean of 74.9%. The event study plot suggests the probability of linkage with a PHC4 record remained similar between the treated and control counties from Year 0 to 1 but increased from Year 3 to Year 5.

^a Race and ethnicity were separately recorded by cancer registrars based on the information they received from various sources, including medical records and face sheets. Based on the recorded data, we created combined race and ethnicity categories as listed in the table. "Other" group includes individuals who were identified as non-Hispanic and belonging to at least one of these race categories: American Indian, Aleutian, Eskimo, Chinese, Japanese, Japanese, Filipino, Hawaiian, Korean, Vietnamese, Laotian, Hmong, Kampuchean (including Khmer & Cambodian), Thai, Asian Indian, Pakistani, Micronesian, Chamorro, Guamanian, Polynesian, Tahitian, Samoan, Tongan, Melanesian, Fiji Islander, or New Guinean.


Figure A3.11 Differential change in the probability of linkage with a PHC4 record around the time of

diagnosis in the treated vs. control counties by year

Abbreviation: pp, percentage points

Note: The figure displays the event study coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals, modeling the probability of having a PHC4 record around the diagnosis. The models only include the year-quarter-by-stack and county-by-stack fixed effects. Standard errors were clustered at the county level. The dotted vertical line represents the reference year "-1" in each stack, representing one year immediately before when mandatory Medicaid managed care went into effect in each cohort (Cohort 1: July 1, 2012; Cohort 2: October 1, 2012; Cohort 3: March 1, 2013). The solid red line corresponds to the pooled difference-in-differences coefficient (2.3 percentage points).

We conducted a sensitivity analysis that further explores the potential impact of the differential linkage on our main estimates. In this alternate specification, we retained individuals initially excluded from the sample for lacking a PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis and imputed their Medicaid status using the primary payer information in the cancer registry. We also adjust for an indicator for the PHC4 linkage as a covariate.

In column (2) of Table A3-6, we show that the estimated effect of the mandatory MMC remained similar to that in the main model. Importantly, the coefficient for the PHC4 linkage was

significantly positive ($\beta = 4.3$ pp; 95% CI: 2.6, 6.0; P < 0.001), meaning that cases linked to PHC4 records had a higher probability of late-stage diagnosis. This suggests that the differential increase in the rate of linkage among cases in the treated counties is likely to bias the result towards the null, as they are generally more likely to be diagnosed with late-stage cancer. In column (3), we report results *only* among the non-linked Medicaid sample. We observed reductions in the probability of late-stage diagnosis of similar magnitude ($\beta = -2.7$ pp; 95% CI: -10.4, 4.9; P < 0.477), though the effect is no longer significant due to the smaller sample size. Thus, the consistency in the effect of mandatory MMC, even among the non-linked cases, implies that differential linkage is unlikely to drive our main results.

	(1) Main Sample ^a	(2) Main Sample + Excluded Medicaid sample from the cancer registry ^b	(3) Excluded Medicaid sample only ^c
Post x Treated	-3.9	-3.7	-2.7
95% CI	[-7.2, -0.5]	[-6.9, -0.5]	[-10.4, 4.9]
P-value	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.477)
Linkage with PHC4 ^d		4.2	
95% CI		[2.5, 5.9]	
P-value		(<0.001)	
N	67,617	76,831	9,213
F-stat	1763.4	3464.3	234.5

Table A3-6 Sensitivity to the addition ot the non-PHC4 linked Medicaid sample

Notes: The table displays the difference-in-differences coefficients representing a change in the probability of late-stage diagnosis associated with the implementation of MMC (reported in percentage points) and their 95% confidence intervals (in brackets) and p-values (in parenthesis).

^a Column (1) contains the main results (from Table 3 in the main text).

^b Column (2) reports the estimates from an analysis that retained individuals initially excluded for lacking a linked PHC4 record around the time of diagnosis but had Medicaid according to the registry.

^c The excluded sample who had Medicaid according to the registry.

^d An indicator variable, which is 1 for observations linked with a PHC4 record around diagnosis.

3.9.8 Falsification test

We conducted a falsification test to help rule out other unmeasured time-varying confounders that could differentially impact outcomes in the treated and control counties. To do this, we replicated our main analysis among non-elderly adults with private insurance around the time of diagnosis as a placebo group. Because they were unaffected by the Medicaid managed care mandate, we should expect no substantial changes in outcomes in this group.

It is plausible that there may be some spillover effects from changes in Medicaid managed care because providers and managed care organizations serve beneficiaries across Medicaid, Medicare, and private markets.^{319,334} Furthermore, some beneficiaries enrolled in Medicaid managed care may also be misclassified as "privately insured" in the hospital discharge data.³³⁵ Notwithstanding these spillover effects, a large treatment effect in the placebo group may illuminate other temporal changes that differentially affected *all* adults in the treated vs. control counties, raising concerns about unmeasured, time-varying factors that may bias our main estimate.

Figure A3.12 plots event study coefficients and the pooled difference-in-differences estimate from the falsification test. Among *privately* insured non-elderly adults, there was a 1.1 percentage point (95% CI: -0.1, 2.3; P = 0.06) differential increase in the probability of being diagnosed with late or unstaged cancer in the treated vs. control counties, before and after treatment. This treatment effect is non-significant and smaller compared to the effect from the main analysis (i.e., -3.9 percentage points).





adults with private insurance in the treated vs. control counties by year

Abbreviation: pp, percentage points

Note: The figure displays the event study coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals among non-elderly adults with private insurance. Models controlled for covariates, year-by-stack, and county-by-stack fixed effects. Standard errors were clustered at the county level. The dotted vertical line is the reference year "-1" in each cohort, representing one year immediately before when mandatory Medicaid managed care went into effect in each cohort (Cohort 1: July 1, 2012; Cohort 2: October 1, 2012; Cohort 3: March 1, 2013). The solid red line indicates the pooled difference-in-differences coefficient (1.1 percentage points, P = 0.060).

3.9.9 Compositional changes in the Medicaid sample

We investigated potential sources of bias that may arise if there are changes in the composition of the Medicaid sample over time. We acknowledge that the extent to which we can examine the compositional changes is limited since we lack access to administrative Medicaid data; however, we utilize the information in the linked registry-PHC4 data that may provide some insights about the characteristics of the Medicaid beneficiaries in our sample.

3.9.9.1 Medicaid churn

We first examined rates of churning (i.e., interruptions in Medicaid coverage due to eligibility and coverage renewal processes and/or changing life circumstances), which is not a trivial issue among Medicaid beneficiaries. In 2018, over 12.1% of adult Medicaid beneficiaries experienced gaps in coverage within one year.³³⁶ Importantly, churning is associated with decreased office-based visits,³³⁷ which may delay cancer diagnosis. To evaluate churning, we calculated the proportion of PHC4 visits with Medicaid out of all PHC4 records from one year before the date of cancer diagnosis to 30 days before the date of diagnosis. In our data, over 84.6% of PHC4 records were attributed to Medicaid one year before diagnosis; this share of PHC4 records did not meaningfully differ between individuals residing in the treated counties (85.0%), with SMD = 0.04.

3.9.9.2 Impact of ACA Medicaid expansion

On January 1^{st,} 2015, Pennsylvania expanded Medicaid under the Affordable Care Act, which made adults under age 65 living below 138% of the federal poverty level eligible for Medicaid coverage.³³⁸ By 2022, almost 1.1 million newly eligible low-income individuals were enrolled in Medicaid. Prior research suggests that there may be important differences in demographic and health characteristics and health care utilization patterns between newly vs. previously eligible individuals for Medicaid.^{282,339,340} These differences may bias our estimates if Medicaid expansion *differentially* affected Medicaid enrollment among newly eligible individuals (and individuals previously eligible but not enrolled) between the treated and control counties. We may also expect that the effects of Medicaid managed care may be heterogeneous in periods before vs. after Medicaid expansion.

We conducted several additional analyses to gauge how Medicaid expansion may have influenced our main findings:

1) We examined whether the effects of MMC differed in the post-period before and after Pennsylvania expanded Medicaid. Any large and significant differences in the treatment effects in these two periods may signal that the changes in the composition of the Medicaid population may be driving our results. We estimated the following model, which is a modified form of the main analysis that included separate post-indicators for years before Medicaid expansion (PostBeforeExpansion_{itk}=1 if diagnosis occurred before January 1, 2015) and after Medicaid expansion (PostAfterExpansion_{itk}=1 if diagnosis occurred after January 1, 2015):

 $y_{ictk} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Treated_{ick} * PostBeforeExpansion_{itk} + \beta_2 Treated_{ick} * AfterExpansion_{itk}$

 $+ \delta X_i + \theta X_{ct} + (\gamma_t * \mu_k) + (\tau_c * \mu_k) + \epsilon_{ictk}$

In Table A3-7, we show that the effect of mandatory Medicaid managed care in years in the post-period before Medicaid expansion went into effect in Pennsylvania (β_1 = -2.3 [95% CI: - 6.0, 1.3]; *P* = 0.20) was similar to that in the post-period after Medicaid expansion (β_2 = -4.5 [95% CI: -8.3, -0.6]; *P* = 0.02). We also formally tested that the difference in coefficients β_1 and β_2 was statistically indistinguishable from 0 (*P* = 0.271).

Table A3-7 Differential change in the probability of late-stage diagnosis in cancer cases among Medicaidcovered individuals in the treated vs. control counties, separately by years before and after Pennsylvania

	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -value
Post x Treated, Before Expansion [β_1], 95% CI	-2.3	0.203
	(-6.0, 1.3)	
Post x Treated, After Expansion [β_2], 95% CI	-4.5	0.023
	(-8.3, -0.6)	
Test $(\beta_1 - \beta_2) = 0^a$		0.271

Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act in the post-period

Note: The table displays the difference-in-differences coefficients representing a change in the probability of late-stage diagnosis associated with the implementation of MMC (reported in percentage points) and their 95% confidence intervals separately for years in the post-period before Pennsylvania's Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act (i.e., before Jan 1, 2015; β 1) and years in the post-period after Medicaid expansion (β 2). The models controlled for year-quarter-by-stack, county-by-stack fixed effects, and covariates. Standard errors were clustered at the county level.

^a The P-value from an F-test of whether $\beta 1$ was significantly different from $\beta 2$.

We conducted a placebo test, replicating our main analysis among the uninsured patients. The intuition behind this placebo test is that as coverage expansions under the ACA tend to shift uninsured individuals to Medicaid, we may expect a symmetric and positive treatment effect for the uninsured *if* the estimated treatment effect in our main result was purely a composition effect. One caveat to this placebo test is that uninsurance categorization in the PHC4 records lumps those who otherwise could not afford care (i.e., the population targeted by the coverage expansions) and self-paying individuals who had the financial means to afford care. Moreover, the proportion of uninsured patients with cancer *prior* to the ACA is generally low in Pennsylvania (N=2,335), so the analysis may not be powered to detect a "true" null effect in this population.

Notwithstanding these limitations, the placebo test result suggests no significant effect of the MMC on the probability of late-stage diagnosis among the uninsured (Figure A3.13). The estimated difference-in-difference was 0.6 percentage points (95% CI: -8.3, 9.5; P = 0.891), though there are some noises in the event study coefficients.



Figure A3.13 Differential change in late-stage diagnosis among uninsured cancer cases in the treated vs.

control counties by year

Abbreviation: pp, percentage points

Note: The figure displays the event study coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals among uninsured non-elderly adults according to their PHC4 record. Models controlled for covariates, year-by-stack, and county-by-stack fixed effects. Standard errors were clustered at the county level. The dotted vertical line is the reference year "-1" in each cohort, representing one year immediately before when mandatory Medicaid managed care went into effect in each cohort (Cohort 1: July 1, 2012; Cohort 2: October 1, 2012; Cohort 3: March 1, 2013). The solid red line indicates the pooled difference-in-differences coefficient (0.6 percentage points, P=0.891)

We investigated whether the coverage expansions resulted in any differential take-up of insurance coverage in the treated vs. control counties. In our difference-in-differences framework, changes in the take-up of insurance among the population targeted by the ACA do not bias the model if they occur uniformly across all counties (i.e., they would be absorbed by the county and year fixed effects). This may be a reasonable assumption given that the coverage expansions impacted all eligible low-income adults across all counties in Pennsylvania.

To check whether this assumption holds in our context, we conducted a separate differencein-difference analysis that compared the proportion of insurance coverage among low-income adults residing in the treated vs. control counties, before and after 2015. To do so, we used data from the Census Bureau to construct a county-year panel of proportions of insurance coverage among low-income, non-elderly adults (<138% FPL, age 18-64). We then estimated our difference-in-difference regression, adjusting county and year fixed effects and clustering standard errors at the county level. We also weighted the regression by the county population size of non-elderly, low-income adults. The result of this analysis is shown in Figure A3.14, which confirms no differential trend in the take-up of insurance by the treated vs. control counties (difference-in-difference-in-difference-in-difference) by the treated vs. control counties (difference-in-difference) by the trea





counties by year, before and after Pennsylvania Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act

Abbreviation: pp, percentage points

Note: The figure displays difference-in-differences event study coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals showing differential change in the proportion of insured among low-income adults (aged 21-64, with incomes below 138% of the Federal Poverty Line), which was calculated using the Small Area Health Insurance Estimates data from the Census Bureau. The difference-in-differences model included county and year-fixed effects and their interactions. We clustered standard errors at the county level and weighted the model by the number of low-income adults in each county. Each coefficient indicates the differential changes in the proportion of insured relative to 2014, one year before Pennsylvania expanded Medicaid eligibility under the Affordable Care Act in 2015. The solid red line corresponds to the pooled difference-in-difference estimate (0.01 percentage points; P = 0.885).

3.9.9.3 Covariate trends test

Finally, as a general test of other compositional changes in the sample, we examined potential differential trends in covariates between the treated and control counties by modeling each level of covariate as a dependent variable. The difference-in-differences estimates in Table A3-8 suggest no significant differential trends for most sociodemographic and cancer characteristics between the treated and control counties (P > 0.05), except for the proportion of male and other cancers.

Covariate	Difference-in-differences in pp	<i>P</i> -value
	(95% CI)	
Male	3.9 (1.0, 6.8)	0.010
Non-Hispanic White ^a	2.3 (-1.3, 5.9)	0.212
Non-Hispanic Black	-0.6 (-2.2, 0.9)	0.413
Hispanic	-0.3 (-1.5, 0.9)	0.644
Other race/ethnicity ^b	-0.8 (-1.5, -0.1)	0.035
Unknown race/ethnicity	-0.6 (-3.5, 2.2)	0.662
Age 20-39	-0.2 (-1.8, 1.5)	0.817
Age 40-49	1 (-1.8, 3.8)	0.486
Age 50-59	-0.1 (-2.9, 2.6)	0.924
Age 60-64	-0.7 (-3.4, 2.1)	0.638
Urban ^c	0.7 (-1.4, 2.8)	0.528
Large town	-0.2 (-2.3, 1.9)	0.873
Small town	-0.8 (-2.2, 0.5)	0.225
Rural	0.3 (-1.1, 1.7)	0.648
ADI, 1st quartile ^d	0.1 (-1.2, 1.4)	0.845
ADI, 2nd quartile	0.7 (-1.0, 2.4)	0.401
ADI, 3rd quartile	0.5 (-1.9, 3.0)	0.655
ADI, 4th quartile	-1.4 (-3.8, 1.1)	0.262
Breast cancer	-2 (-4.8, 0.7)	0.143
Cervical cancer	-0.7 (-1.8, 0.5)	0.265
Colorectal cancer	-0.9 (-3.0, 1.3)	0.411
Prostate cancer	0.4 (-0.7, 1.5)	0.494
Lung cancer	-0.2 (-3.1, 2.6)	0.865
Other cancers	3.4 (0.2, 6.7)	0.036

Table A3-8 Test of differential covariate trends

Abbreviation: ADI, area deprivation index; pp, percentage points

Note: The table displays the difference-in-differences coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals with p-values of each level of covariate as an outcome. The models only adjusted for year-quarter-by-stack and county-by-stack fixed effects. Standard errors were clustered at the county level.

^a Race and ethnicity were separately recorded by cancer registrars based on the information they received from various sources, including medical records and face sheets. Based on the recorded information, we created combined race and ethnicity categories as listed in the table.

^b "Other" group includes individuals who were identified as non-Hispanic and belonging to at least one of these race categories: American Indian, Aleutian, Eskimo, Chinese, Japanese, Japanese, Filipino, Hawaiian, Korean, Vietnamese, Laotian, Hmong, Kampuchean (including Khmer & Cambodian), Thai, Asian Indian, Pakistani, Micronesian, Chamorro, Guamanian, Polynesian, Tahitian, Samoan, Tongan, Melanesian, Fiji Islander, or New Guinean.

^c The urbanicity and area deprivation index were characterized at the individual level using the Census block of residence.

^d Higher area deprivation index quartiles represent areas with a greater degree of socioeconomic deprivation.

3.9.10 Leave-one-out analysis

We performed a leave-one-out analysis to investigate whether certain influential counties in Pennsylvania drive our main results. To do this, we iterated the main analysis 67 times (i.e., the number of counties in Pennsylvania) and dropped observations from each county (either a treated or a control county) within each iteration. We then plotted the range of estimates we obtained from each iteration and compared them to the main result in Figure A3.15. The figure shows that the estimates from the leave-one-out analysis cluster closely around the estimate from the main model, confirming no influential county that is driving our baseline results.



Figure A3.15 Sensitivity of main difference-in-differences estimate to excluding observations from each

county

Abbreviations: DD, difference-in-differences; pp, percentage points Note: The figure displays a range of the main difference-in-differences coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals, estimated in a series of models that sequentially excluded each county from the sample. The number on the x-axis corresponds to the county ID (FIPS code) that was excluded from the analysis. The red horizontal line equates to the size of the main effect (-3.9 percentage points).

3.9.11 Alternative staging definition

In the main analysis, we grouped cases with unstaged cancer with late-stage cases because lack of staging may both reflect disparities in care among medically underserved populations (e.g., poor access to providers who perform staging²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁷) and be associated with worse prognosis as late-stage diagnosis.²⁶⁸

We ran two additional models that varied the definition of staging outcome; first, we estimated the probability that cancer is unstaged (vs. staged), and second, we estimated the probability of late-stage (vs. early-stage) diagnosis only, excluding the unstaged cancers from the analysis. In Column 2 of Table A3-9, we show that mandatory MMC did not significantly impact the likelihood that cancer is unstaged vs. staged (adjusted DD: -0.4 percentage points [95% CI: - 2.1, 1.3]; P = 0.629). In Column 3, we note that our main results are virtually unchanged after excluding the unstaged cases from the sample.

Гаble A3-9 Differential changes in the probability (of late-stage and unstaged	cancers among cancer cases
--	----------------------------	----------------------------

	[1] Main specificationª	[2] Unstaged vs. staged ^b	[3] Excluding unstaged ^e
DD coefficients in pp (95% CI)	-3.9 (-7.2, -0.5)	-0.4 (-2.1, 1.3)	-3.9 (-7.2, -0.6)
P-value	0.023	0.629	0.020
N	67617	67617	65042

covered by Medicaid in the treated vs. control counties

Abbreviation: DD, difference-in-differences; pp, percentage points

Note: The table displays the difference-in-differences coefficients and their 95% confidence intervals with p-values. The models fully adjusted for all case-level and county-level covariates, year-quarter-by-stack, and county-by-stack fixed effects. Standard errors were clustered at the county level.

aWe report the main results, which modeled the probability of late-stage and unstaged diagnosis.

bWe modeled the probability of unstaged diagnosis (i.e., the reference group is staged cancers).

c We excluded unstaged cancer cases from the model.

4.0 Chapter 4: Housing-related disparities in receipt of mammography: evidence among adult women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania

Youngmin Kwon, PhD¹; Eric T. Roberts, PhD²; Howard B. Degenholtz, PhD¹; Bruce L. Jacobs, MD, MPH³; Lindsay M. Sabik, PhD¹; Evan S. Cole, PhD¹

² Perelman School of Medicine at University of Pennsylvania, Department of General Internal Medicine

³ University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Department of Urology

4.1 Abstract

Importance: People experiencing housing insecurity (PEHI) may experience barriers to preventive care and cancer screening, but the extent to which PEHI receive these services at the population-level remain understudied.

Objective: To examine disparities in utilization of breast cancer screening associated with housing insecurity among women beneficiaries enrolled in a large Medicaid program

Design, Setting, and Participants: This retrospective cohort study assessed breast cancer screening among women Medicaid beneficiaries aged 50-64 in administrative Medicaid data linked to encounter-level records on housing-related services in Pennsylvania (Homelessness

Management Information System; HMIS) from 2011 to 2019. We characterized disparities in screening between beneficiaries with any encounter for housing-related services in HMIS (indicating experience or history of housing insecurity) and comparison beneficiaries without any such encounter.

Main outcome measures: Receipt of biennial mammography

Results: This study included 73,456 women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania, including 1,792 HMIS service recipients and 71,664 comparison beneficiaries. The mean age (SD) was 56.1 (3.7) years, 12.3% were non-Hispanic Black, 8.3% were Hispanic, 73.6% were non-Hispanic White, and 5.9% had other or unknown race and ethnicity. The rate of mammography was 44.8% (95% CI: 42.4-47.1) among HMIS service recipients and 50.1% (95% CI: 49.7-50.5), representing a disparity of 5.3 percentage-points (95% CI: -7.6 to -2.9; P < .001). The disparity widened between HMIS service recipients with 12 or more months of experiencing homelessness relative to comparison beneficiaries (-9.4 percentage-points; 95% CI: -18.3 to -0.6; P = .036) but was attenuated among HMIS service recipients receiving supportive housing (-5.1 percentage-points; 95% CI: -6.9-0.8; P = .119). In stratified analyses, beneficiaries without any primary care visits at baseline had the lowest rate of mammography, though a significant disparity by receipt of HMIS services remained among those with any primary care visits.

Conclusion: Housing insecurity was associated with a significantly disparity in mammography among women Medicaid beneficiaries. Narrowing this disparity will require further expansion of supportive housing services, connecting of PEHI to primary care, and proactive counseling for cancer screening among PEHI.

4.2 Introduction

Homelessness is a persistent social issue affecting over 580,000 individuals in the US annually and has severe repercussions on health.^{116,125,341} People experiencing homelessness (PEH) are more likely to suffer from physical and mental health conditions, and they face 8.1 to 16.6 times higher mortality risks compared to domiciled individuals.¹²⁵ In this population, cancer is one of the leading drivers of mortality, with one estimate showing that cancer contributed to almost 19% of all deaths in a major US city.¹²⁴ Cancer incidence is pronounced among PEH because they suffer from various behavioral and environmental risk factors associated with cancer development, including smoking, substance use, chronic infections, and lack of access to healthcare.¹²⁶

Despite their increased susceptibility to cancer, PEH are more likely to be diagnosed with advanced-stage disease, suggesting barriers to preventive screening services.¹²⁸ This is especially true for breast cancer, the most commonly diagnosed cancer,³⁴² for which non-localized diseases account for the majority of incident cases among PEH.¹²⁸ However, there is limited data examining cancer screening utilization among PEH.³⁴³ While few studies have found low screening rates among PEH, they often assessed screening in specific settings (e.g., a homeless shelter³⁴⁴⁻³⁴⁶ or a hospital system³⁴⁷) and only provided limited insights into disparities in screening associated with experience of homelessness. Moreover, existing research often relies on self-reported^{118,348,349} or claims-based indicators³⁴⁷ of housing history that are inadequate to precisely characterize the longitudinal experience of homelessness, precluding a more granular assessment of disparities.

In this paper, we investigate disparities in receipt of cancer screening in a population covered by Medicaid—the largest single source of health insurance coverage for individuals who

are low-income or with disabilities.³⁵⁰ Medicaid is an important policy lever for addressing disparities in cancer screening for two reasons. First, Medicaid disproportionately insures PEH or those at risk of homelessness³⁵⁰, and thus, it can influence access and utilize health services and preventive cancer screening. Second, there is a growing interest in using Medicaid funding to directly address housing insecurity by integrating supportive housing services (such as permanent supportive housing) and traditional medical care.^{351,352} In this context, further evidence assessing disparities in Medicaid can inform efforts to improve its administration and develop other initiatives to target such disparities.

Using a novel linkage of the administrative Medicaid records with encounter-level data on housing-related services in Pennsylvania, we examined receipt of guideline-recommended breast cancer screening among adult women Medicaid beneficiaries utilizing housing-related services who were experiencing or at risk of homelessness. We focus on mammogram screening for breast cancer, the most common cancer among Medicaid beneficiaries,⁹⁶ because it is widely available and accepted as an effective tool for early detection, and there is a clear clinical case for lessening disparities among women experiencing socioeconomic in its use and housing vulnerabilities.^{296,353,354}

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Data

We analyzed individual-level data from Pennsylvania's Homelessness Management Information System (HMIS) from 2011 to 2017 that were linked to the state Medicaid claims and enrollment records. The PA HMIS provides client-level information on housing and services provided to PEH or those at risk of homelessness.^{355,356} We utilized available HMIS data for 59 out of 67 counties in Pennsylvania, representing diverse geographic areas, including Pittsburgh, most rural counties, and select mid-sized urban counties. The HMIS data provides rich information on the type of housing services and support received (e.g., emergency shelter, street outreach, homelessness prevention, permanent supportive housing), service entry and exit date, and residence before service entry. HMIS data were linked to the state Medicaid claims and enrollment records using individual-level identifiers provided by the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services.

4.3.2 Study design and population

Our analytic approach compared rates of biennial mammograms between a cohort of Medicaid beneficiaries receiving housing-related services in HMIS (who were experiencing or at risk of homelessness) and a random sample of comparison beneficiaries without any HMIS services use. To create the main cohort, we identified initial encounters for housing-related services among individuals in HMIS and designated the index date of the encounter using the service entry date. We used merged monthly Medicaid enrollment files to identify HMIS service users who were also enrolled in Medicaid. In the comparison cohort, we included Medicaid beneficiaries without HMIS encounters and randomly selected a pseudo-index date from enrolled Medicaid days between 2011 and 2017 (Figure A4.3). We combined the two cohorts to form a preliminary analytic sample.

In this sample, we applied several inclusion and exclusion criteria. First, we required six months of continuous Medicaid enrollment pre-index (to characterize baseline healthcare utilization and comorbidities) and at least 18 months of Medicaid enrollment in the 24-month window post-index (to examine receipt of biennial mammography). The 18 months of continuous enrollment in the post-index period is roughly equivalent to the two-year average duration of Medicaid enrollment during the study period and thus captures many Medicaid beneficiaries who experience "churning" in enrollment (i.e., disruptions in coverage).³⁵⁷ Second, we excluded beneficiaries dually enrolled in Medicare whose healthcare utilization is likely not observed in Medicaid claims. Third, we limited the sample to women aged 50 to 64 who were recommended for biennial mammograms by the US Preventive Services Task Force (Grade B recommendation).³⁵⁸ Finally, we excluded a small number of beneficiaries whose enrollment records indicated residence in counties without available HMIS data or outside Pennsylvania.

4.3.3 Exposure

The primary exposure variable was the receipt of housing-related support and services, which we use as a proxy for experience or risk of homelessness. We also created the following four programmatically relevant subcategories of HMIS services users: 1) beneficiaries with any supportive housing (e.g., permanent supportive housing); 2) beneficiaries with 12 or more months of observed homelessness (defined as using shelter, street outreach, homelessness assistance, or "homeless" as prior residence at the index HMIS encounter); 3) beneficiaries with less than 12 months of observed homelessness; and 4) unstably housed beneficiaries (including beneficiaries with all other HMIS service types, including homelessness prevention services).

4.3.4 Outcome

We measured any receipt of mammograms in the 24-month post-index period. We identified mammography in the outpatient and professional Medicaid claims using a combination of the relevant ICD diagnosis and procedure, CPT, and HCPCS codes (Table A4-3). In the main analysis, the outcome measured receipt of mammograms for both screening and diagnostic purposes (based on the code description) to follow the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) measure used to evaluate breast cancer screening in Medicaid and to account for the fact that claims may not reliably distinguish these two types of mammograms.^{359,360}

4.3.5 Covariates

We controlled for key demographic and Medicaid eligibility characteristics (i.e., age groups, race and ethnicity, county of residence, year of index date, eligibility pathways, and continuous enrollment in the post-index period) from the Medicaid enrollment records. We also characterized healthcare utilization (i.e., primary care and inpatient visits) and diagnoses for major comorbidities at baseline. We identified primary care visits using procedure codes for evaluation and management visits for providers whose specialty type indicated primary care and internal medicine, Federally Qualified Health Centers, and Rural Health Centers (Table A4-4). For comorbidities, we grouped each comorbidity in the Chronic Conditions Warehouse algorithm³⁶¹ to generate several categories of health conditions that are more prevalent among PEH and Medicaid populations, including mental health conditions, substance use disorders, diabetes, and other metabolic disorders (Table A4-5).

4.3.6 Statistical analysis

We compared the rates of biennial mammograms between women Medicaid beneficiaries in the HMIS and non-HMIS cohorts (reference group) using a series of nested regression models, each controlling for a greater amount of confounding. For each model, we implemented a linear probability model, and calculated the marginal effects and adjusted probability of mammograms associated with each level of covariate.

First, we estimated an overall, unadjusted disparity in receipt of mammography by only including the exposure variable (i.e., a categorical variable for the service use in HMIS). In Model 1, we controlled for key demographic and Medicaid eligibility characteristics, county, and year fixed effects. County fixed effects adjust for fixed differences across counties correlated with receipt of mammograms, such as local healthcare resources or social support, while year fixed effects adjust for secular trends in rates of mammograms. In Model 2, we added baseline healthcare utilization measures, hypothesizing that access to healthcare may partly or fully explain the disparity in receipt of mammograms. In Model 3, we adjusted for baseline comorbidities, which can influence the probability of receiving a mammogram in either direction. For instance, these

comorbidities may represent competing needs for care that may crowd out opportunities for administering preventive care for conditions like cancer that may be perceived as less urgent. At the same time, sicker patients may be more likely to seek screening or receive recommendations for screening due to their increased risks of cancer.

4.3.7 Supplementary analyses

We conducted several supplementary analyses. First, we stratified our main analysis by key covariates of interest to examine heterogeneity in mammogram disparity across subpopulations. Second, we separately estimated the probability of receiving mammograms for screening vs. diagnostic purposes; the former is a proxy for access to and utilization of preventive care, whereas the latter is more likely to measure cancer risk or incidence of cancer. Third, we performed a sensitivity analysis to gauge the effects of unmeasured confounding on the estimated disparity. In this analysis, we simulate how much an unmeasured confounder would need to vary between the exposure and be associated with the outcome to fully explain our main disparity estimate.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Medicaid beneficiary characteristics

We included 1,792 Medicaid beneficiaries with an HMIS encounter and 71,664 comparison beneficiaries (Table 4-1). Beneficiaries in the HMIS cohort were more likely to be

younger, non-Hispanic black, eligible for Medicaid due to disability, and continuously enrolled in Medicaid. At baseline, those in the HMIS cohort had more primary care and inpatient visits. The prevalence of baseline comorbidities was higher in the HMIS cohort for all categories, especially for mental health conditions and substance use disorders.

4.4.2 Disparity in receipt of mammogram

The unadjusted proportion receiving mammogram was 44.8% (95% CI: 42.4-47.1) and 50.1% (95% CI: 49.7-50.5) in the HMIS vs. non-HMIS cohort, with an overall disparity of 5.3 percentage-points (pp, 95% CI: -7.6 to -2.9; P < .001; Table 4-2, Figure 4.1) or an 11% lower probability of receiving mammogram. The disparity was larger when comparing beneficiaries with 12 or more months of homelessness (-9.4 pp; 95% CI: -18.3 to -0.6; P = .036) and less than 12 months of homelessness (-7.0 pp; 95% CI: -11.1 to -3.0; P = .001) relative to the non-HMIS cohort. In contrast, there was a smaller disparity among those with any supportive housing (-5.1 pp; 95% CI: -9.9 to -0.3; P = .037) or unstably housed beneficiaries (-3.1 pp; 95% CI: -6.9-0.8; P = .119).

In nested regression models, the disparities in mammograms remained significant even after adjusting for demographic and Medicaid eligibility characteristics (Model 1), baseline healthcare utilization (Model 2), and comorbidities (Model 3). In the fully adjusted model, the overall disparity between the HMIS vs. non-HMIS cohort was -4.3 pp (95% CI: -6.4 to -2.1; P < .001). Disparities among beneficiaries with any supportive housing or unstably housed beneficiaries are marginally significant; in these two groups, we cannot reject the difference in receipt of mammograms as large as -8.1 and -6.8 pp relative to the comparison beneficiaries,

respectively. In supplementary analyses, we found that the disparity was driven by lower utilization of screening mammograms rather than diagnostic mammograms (Figure A4.5).

4.4.3 Stratified analysis

In the stratified analysis, we generally observed consistent disparity across all stratifications, though the overall rate of mammograms differed meaningfully for certain subpopulations (Figure 4.2). We found that the share receiving mammograms was higher among non-Hispanic black and Hispanic than non-Hispanic white beneficiaries. Beneficiaries without any primary care visit at baseline had the lowest share of receiving mammograms. Conditional on having any primary care visit, there was still a significant disparity in mammograms between the HMIS and non-HMIS cohorts. A greater number of baseline comorbidities was also associated with a higher probability of receiving a mammogram, but the disparity was more pronounced among beneficiaries with a greater count of comorbidities.

4.4.4 Assessing effects of unmeasured confounding

In the sensitivity analysis, we obtained and plotted joint combinations of the two parameters of interest: γ , the difference of the mean in the unmeasured confounder (U) between the HMIS and non-HMIS cohort; and η , the association between U and the outcome (Figure A4.6). At the optimum of these combinations, U would have to vary by 20% ($\gamma = 0.20$) and be associated with a 20 pp lower probability of mammogram ($\eta = 0.20$) to fully explain a disparity as large as - 4.3 pp. In our context, none of the *measured* covariates in the model reached these values of γ and η , suggesting a high threshold for omitted variable bias.

4.5 Discussion

In this retrospective analysis of a linked Medicaid and housing service records in Pennsylvania, women Medicaid beneficiaries experiencing or at risk of homelessness who had encounters for housing-related services were significantly less likely to receive guidelinerecommended mammograms than the general Medicaid population. This disparity was pronounced among beneficiaries with prolonged experience of homelessness, though our results suggest that even unstably *housed* beneficiaries had lower utilization of mammograms. We document a strong, independent association of experience or risk of homelessness with receipt of mammograms after adjusting for important confounders such as healthcare utilization and comorbidities.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine a population-wide disparity in mammogram use in a Medicaid population, encompassing beneficiaries living in geographically diverse areas and including the largest sample of individuals with experience or risk of homelessness. The rate of mammograms among the HMIS cohort in our study (40%-47%) is generally close to or within the range reported in prior literature. Several studies of women using shelter-based services at certain cities estimated that 32% to 57% have received biennial mammograms.³⁴⁴⁻³⁴⁶ Others studies using national surveys, including the National Health Interview Survey^{349,362} and Health Center Patient Survey,¹¹⁸ found that 51% to 69% of low-income

individuals receiving housing assistance or care at community health centers received screening. The most expansive analysis on this topic studied PEH presenting for care at a large hospital system in the Midwest, which noted that only 18% of PEH received screening compared to 32% among non-PEH.³⁴⁷ The discrepancies in these rates can be explained by the different methods used to ascertain housing and screening history and sample characteristics. For instance, studies that use self-reported screening data are likely to overestimate the actual rate of screening compared to others that use medical records or claims.^{363,364} Moreover, the screening rate is lower in populations that include uninsured patients or those lacking a usual source of care,³⁴⁷ whereas the rate is generally higher among individuals with insurance coverage (which is the case for our study) and existing contact with providers.³⁴⁷ A key strength of our approach is the use of administrative data to precisely measure receipt of housing-related services and mammograms among a large sample of Medicaid beneficiaries, which provided sufficient power to detect a significant disparity in mammogram utilization associated with experience and risk of homelessness.

This disparity likely reflects a complex web of factors that impose barriers to preventive cancer screening among PEH.^{126,343} Qualitative reports of PEH have highlighted salient barriers such as lack of knowledge and awareness of screening, inadequate insurance, and access to care.^{345-347,365,366} We highlight two major findings consistent with these reports. First, our results show that beneficiaries without primary care visits are the least likely to receive mammograms, indicating that connecting PEH to a regular source of care is a vital pre-condition to facilitate access to screening.^{344,346} At the same time, we found that the disparity in mammograms persists even among those with pre-existing engagement with care, which points to other barriers to screening. It is possible that PEH may feel unwelcome in their interaction with care providers and avoid

discussions about less urgent care needs, while providers may prioritize treating more acute health problems within the time constraints of each clinical visit.^{343,366,367} This could explain the pronounced disparity in mammograms among beneficiaries with greater comorbidities who may present with other competing needs for care in clinical encounters. Future studies should further elucidate these dynamics of patient-provider interactions, which may identify avenues to improve the take-up of screening among PEH at the point of contact with healthcare systems.

As a predominant source of health insurance coverage among PEH, ^{350,368,369} Medicaid must assume considerable responsibility for ameliorating disparities in cancer screening. In our analysis, mammogram disparity was most attenuated among beneficiaries receiving supportive housing. This suggests that one way for Medicaid programs to lessen disparities is through Medicaid coverage of nontraditional services to ensure adequate and affordable housing.³⁷⁰⁻³⁷³ During the study period, many of these services in Pennsylvania were provided through reinvestment of excess funds by counties responsible for providing behavioral health services for Medicaid beneficiaries.^{374,375} Further expansion of these services may address disparities in screening and access to other health services by directly targeting housing needs.³⁷⁶⁻³⁸² Moreover, in states that use Medicaid managed care, agencies can leverage managed care contracts to indirectly address disparities arising from housing insecurity.^{142,383} For example, states can require plans to provide patient navigation and coordination services^{384,385} to improve screening rates among PEH and other individuals experiencing socioeconomic vulnerabilities.^{386,387} In addition, states can design payment incentives for plans tied to cancer screening among PEH³⁸⁴, building upon the existing process of managed care plan oversight using HEDIS measures that include quality metrics for breast cancer screening.³⁸⁸ Finally, states may direct plans to design alternative payment models for reimbursing providers based on metrics related to housing and cancer screening.³⁸⁴

One unexpected finding in our analysis was that racial and ethnic minorities, who are disproportionately represented among PEH¹¹⁵ and served by Medicaid,⁶⁴ were more likely to receive mammograms compared to non-Hispanic white beneficiaries. Though this result is surprising considering the deep rooted inequities in access to care among racial and ethnic minorities,³⁸⁹ it is corroborated by several studies examining mammogram use in national surveys and Medicaid data.³⁹⁰⁻³⁹⁴ In particular, one study found that Pennsylvania was one of the few states where the rate of mammograms in Medicaid was higher among black and Hispanic beneficiaries relative to white beneficiaries.³⁹² While the exact causes that led to the reversal in racial and ethnic disparities in mammograms are unclear, it is likely that initiatives to facilitate screening (e.g., National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection program and other outreach programs) have played a key role in increasing uptake of screening among racial and ethnic minorities.³⁹¹ In so far as our result reflects the success of these targeted programs, it further bolsters the case for policy-and community-based solutions to mitigate unequal access to cancer screening among those who experience the most severe risk of cancer development.

4.6 Limitations

We acknowledge a few limitations. First, we used receipt of housing-related services in the HMIS as an imperfect proxy for experience or risk of homelessness, and our sample may have failed to capture individuals who had *needs* for these services but did not receive them, such as those who are unsheltered.¹¹⁷ As such, we may have underestimated the true disparity in screening. On the other hand, our sample selection process excluded HMIS service users without a prior

history of Medicaid enrollment and Medicaid beneficiaries without continuous enrollment, which does not represent all Medicaid beneficiaries. This may have overestimated the prevalence of screening in our sample if the excluded beneficiaries experienced worse access to care (due to having more gaps in coverage, for example). Second, this was an observational study, and we cannot rule out biases from failing to control for residual confounders. Third, as this was a singlestate study of Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania (excluding certain counties of Pennsylvania, including Philadelphia, for which we lacked the HMIS data), its results may not generalize.

4.7 Conclusion

We documented a significant disparity in the utilization of guideline-concordant mammograms among women Medicaid beneficiaries experiencing or at risk of homelessness in Pennsylvania, especially those who suffer from chronic homelessness. Medicaid programs should consider expanding provisions of housing-related services that target the *fundamental* source of this disparity while dedicating efforts to increase access to primary care among beneficiaries with housing needs to ensure that they are appropriately screened for breast cancer.

4.8 Tables and figures

		HMIS Cohort					
	HMIS cohort (N=1,792)	Any supportive housing ^b (N = 420)	≥12 months homelessness ^e (N = 123)	<12 months homelessness ^d (N = 590)	Unstably housed (N = 659)	- Non-HMIS cohort (N = 71,664)	<i>P</i> -value ^f
Age, %							
50-54	54.4	59.5	51.2	52.9	53.0	42.6	<.001
55-69	35.0	31.9	35.8	36.6	35.5	37.7	0.101
60-64	10.6	8.6	13.0	10.5	11.5	19.7	<.001
Race and ethnicity, % ^g							
Non-Hispanic white	63.9	63.3	52.8	60.8	69.0	73.8	<.001
Non-Hispanic black	31.9	32.9	43.9	34.2	26.9	11.8	<.001
Hispanic	2.4	1.4	3.3	2.7	2.6	8.4	<.001
Other (including unknown)	1.8	2.4	0.0	2.2	1.5	6.0	<.001
Medicaid eligibility, % ^h							
Disabled or chronically Ill	56.8	57.4	52.8	58.6	55.4	41.7	<.001
Newly eligible	21.9	20.2	25.2	21.2	22.9	34.1	<.001
Non-disabled adults	6.8	7.4	6.5	4.6	8.3	6.1	0.053
Other	16.0	15.7	17.1	16.6	15.5	19.0	0.032
Continuously enrolled, % ⁱ							
Yes	94.4	95.2	96.7	94.1	93.8	91.6	<.001
No	5.6	4.8	3.3	5.9	6.2	8.4	<.001
No. of primary care visits at							
baseline, %							
0	42.0	42.9	49.6	43.6	38.5	44.2	0.035
1-3	37.7	35.5	36.6	37.8	39.3	39.7	0.354
4-5	11.3	11.9	8.1	10.8	12.0	9.2	0.021
6+	9.0	9.8	5.7	7.8	10.2	6.9	0.002

2019 between HMIS and non-HMIS cohort

Table 4-1 Characteristics of women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania who were eligible for recommended biennial mammography from 2011 to

No. of FOHC or RHC visits at

baseline, %

Subernie, 70							
0	90.0	90.2	91.1	91.0	88.8	92.2	0.007
1	4.2	4.5	3.3	4.6	3.9	3.0	0.027
2+	5.7	5.2	5.7	4.4	7.3	4.8	0.060
No. of inpatient visits at baseline,							
%							
0	81.4	80.0	86.2	76.1	86.2	93.3	<.001
1	12.3	12.6	9.8	14.9	10.3	4.9	<.001
2+	6.3	7.4	4.1	9.0	3.5	1.7	<.001
Comorbidities diagnoses at							
baseline, %							
Diabetes and metabolic disorder ^{sl}	39.7	35.7	39.0	41.0	41.3	33.3	<.001
Neurological conditions ^m	5.9	4.5	5.7	7.3	5.6	3.3	<.001
CVDs ⁿ	11.9	11.4	9.8	13.9	10.9	8.6	<.001
Asthma or COPD	19.0	18.6	12.2	21.4	18.5	10.3	<.001
CKD	5.2	5.2	5.7	5.6	4.7	3.8	0.041
Mental health conditions ^o	55.2	56.0	48.0	57.5	54.2	29.7	<.001
Disability and limitations ^p	22.2	19.3	19.5	24.7	22.2	16.5	<.001
Liver conditions ^q	6.0	7.9	4.9	8.3	2.9	2.8	<.001
Substance use disorders ^r	32.5	35.0	32.5	37.5	26.6	10.3	<.001

Abbreviations: HMIS, Housing Management Information System; PA, Pennsylvania; No., numbers; FQHC, Federally Qualified Health Centers; RHC, Rural Health Centers; CVD, cardio-cerebrovascular diseases; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

^a Characteristics of women Medicaid beneficiaries in PA who were aged 50-64 by receipt of housing-related services in HMIS. We report characteristics separately among the four subgroups of HMIS services users (defined below) and the comparison group of randomly sampled beneficiaries without any HMIS services use.

^b receipt of any supportive housing services (e.g. permanent supportive housing) at or after the index HMIS encounter.

^c At least 12 months of observed homelessness (i.e., shelter use, street outreach, homelessness assistance, or homeless as prior residence in coordinated entry or assessment).

^d Less than 12 months of observed homelessness.

^e Beneficiaries with an encounter for all other HMIS service types, including homelessness prevention services.

^f P-values from Chi-square tests of differences in sample means between specific HMIS groups and non-HMIS group.

^g Race and ethnicity were reported for beneficiaries who completed specific demographic questions during enrollment. We combined separate race and ethnicity variables into the listed categories. The "other" category includes non-Hispanic beneficiaries who self-identified as Asian, American Indian/Alaskan Native, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islanders, or other races.

^h Medicaid eligibility at the index date. Newly eligible beneficiaries refer to those who were eligible through Medicaid expansion pathway starting in 2015 (i.e., childless adults with income above 138% of federal poverty line). Non-disabled adult beneficiaries include those who met the Medicaid income eligibility prior to Medicaid expansion.

^I Continuous enrollment was defined as at least having 720 days of enrollment in the 24-months period following the index date.

¹Any diagnoses of diabetes, acquired hypothyroidism, anemia, hyperlipidemia, or hypertension.

^m Any diagnoses of Alzheimer's diseases and related disorders/dementia, epilepsy, spina bifida, traumatic brain injury, non-psychotic mental disorders due to brain damage, migraine, chronic headache, or other congenital anomalies of the nervous system.

ⁿ Any diagnoses of acute myocardial infarction, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, ischemic heart diseases, stroke, transient ischemic attack, or peripheral vascular diseases.

^o Any diagnoses of depression, anxiety, bipolar disorder, personality disorders, post-traumatic stress disorders, depressive or other psychotic disorders.

^p Conditions indicating physical or developmental, or intellectual disability, mobility limitations, or chronic pain (i.e., hip or pelvic fracture, osteoporosis, arthritis, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, autism, cerebral palsy, cystic fibrosis, fibromyalgia, multiple sclerosis, muscular dystrophy).

^q Any diagnoses of liver diseases, cirrhosis, or hepatitis.

^r Any disorders of alcohol, drug (including opioids), or tobacco use.

Table 4-2 Disparities in receipt of biennial mammography between HMIS services users and non-users among women Medicaid beneficiaries in

Pennsylvania

	Difference in screening rate in each group relative to the non-HMIS cohort, pp (95% CI) ^b						
	HMIS Any supportive		>12 months	< 12 months of	Unstably		
Model ^a	Cohort	housing	of homelessness	homelessness	housed		
Unadjusted ^c	-5.3 (-7.6 to -2.9)***	-5.1 (-9.9 to -0.3)*	-9.4 (-18.3 to -0.6)*	-7.0 (-11.1 to -3.0)**	-3.1 (-6.9-0.8)		
Model 1 ^d	-4.4 (-6.7 to -2.2)***	-4.8 (-9.3 to -0.3)*	-10.4 (-18.7 to -2.1)*	-6.4 (-10.2 to -2.5)**	-1.3 (-4.9-2.4)		
Model 2 ^e	-4.4 (-6.6 to -2.3)***	-4.2 (-8.6-0.1)	-8.5 (-16.6 to -0.5)*	-5.2 (-8.9 to -1.5)**	-3.2 (-6.7-0.4)		
Model 3 ^f	-4.3 (-6.4 to -2.1)***	-3.7 (-8.1-0.7)	-8.5 (-16.5 to -0.5)*	-5.0 (-8.7 to -1.2)**	-3.3 (-6.8-0.3)		

***, P < .001; **, P < 0.01; *, P < 0.05

Abbreviations: pp, percentage-points; CI, confidence interval.

^a Nested regression models sequentially controlled for greater amounts of confounding.

^b Estimated marginal effects (in percentage-points) capture the adjusted mean difference in the probability of receiving biennial mammography between each HMIS subgroup and the comparison group of non-HMIS service users; the unadjusted mean in the comparison group was 50.1 (95% CI: 49.7-50.5).

^c The unadjusted model only included HMIS subgroup indicators.

^d Model 2 adjusted for the variables from Model 1, demographic characteristics (i.e., age, race and ethnicity) and Medicaid eligibility characteristics (i.e., eligibility pathway and continuous enrollment), county and year fixed effects.

^e Model 3 adjusted for the variables from Model 2, and baseline healthcare use (i.e., count of primary care visits, federally qualified health centers and rural health centers visits, and inpatient visits).

 $^{\rm f}$ Model 4 adjusted for the variables from Model 3, and baseline diagnoses of each comorbidity .



Figure 4.1 Receipt of biennial mammogram between HMIS services users and non-users among women

Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania

Abbreviation: Housing Management Information System; Mo, months

The bar graphs show unadjusted proportion of receipt of biennial mammography between HMIS service users and non-users. Among HMIS service users, we separately report proportions among those with any supportive housing, at least 12 months of observed homelessness, less than 12 months of observed homelessness, and unstably housed beneficiaries with an encounter for all other HMIS service types, including homelessness prevention services.





among women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania, stratified by age, race and ethnicity, baseline

healthcare use, and clinical characteristics

Abbreviation: pp, percentage-points; CI, confidence-interval

The bar graphs show the main adjusted disparities in receipt of biennial mammography between HMIS service users and non-users that were stratified by several covariates of interest. The estimates are shown as percentage-points. Primary care visits and comorbidities were measured at baseline (6 months prior to the index date). Comorbidities count was calculated by summing up the indicator for each category of conditions.
4.9 Appendix

Code type	Code	Description	Screening or diagnostic ^a
СРТ	77061	Diagnostic digital breast tomosynthesis: unilateral	Diagnostic
CPT	77062	Diagnostic digital breast tomosynthesis; bilateral	Diagnostic
CPT	77065	Diagnostic mammography, including CAD when performed; unilateral	Diagnostic
CPT	77066	Diagnostic mammography, including CAD when performed; bilateral	Diagnostic
CPT	77063	Screening digital breast tomosynthesis, bilateral	Screening
CPT	77067	Screening mammography, bilateral, including CAD when performed	Screening
HCPCS	G0204	Diagnostic mammography, including CAD when performed; bilateral	Diagnostic
HCPCS	G0205	Diagnostic mammography, film processed to produce digital image analyzed for potential abnormalities, bilateral, all views	Diagnostic
HCPCS	G0206	Diagnostic mammography, including CAD when performed; unilateral	Diagnostic
HCPCS	G0207	Diagnostic mammography, film processed to produce digital image analyzed for potential abnormalities, unilateral, all views	Diagnostic
HCPCS	G0202	Screening mammography film processed to produce digital image, bilateral all views	Screening
HCPCS	G0203	X-ray breast screening mammography	Screening
ICD-10-CM	Z1231	Encounter for screening mammogram for malignant neoplasm of breast	Screening
ICD-9-CM	V7611	Screening mammogram for high-risk patient	Screening
ICD-9-CM	V7612	Other screening mammogram	Screening
UB-revenue code	0403	Screening mammography	Screening
UB-revenue code	0401	Diagnostic mammography	Diagnostic

Table A4-3 Codes to identify screening and diagnostic mammography

Abbreviation: CPT, Current Procedural Terminology; HCPCS, Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System; ICD, International Classification of Diseases; CM, Clinical Modification; UB, Uniform Billing; CAD, computer-aided detection ^a We distinguished screening and diagnostic mammography based on the code description or the presence of "GG" modifier code

along with a CPT code for diagnostic mammography.

Provider type	Identification algorithm			
Primary care	Provider specialty code is ('083', '090', '091', '092', '316', '318', '322', '344', '345', '093',			
providers	'100')			
	For those with "internal medicine" as specialty, we excluded providers that did			
	have the following primary care sub-specialties: not in ('Internal Medicine', 'Family			
	Medicine', 'Pediatrics', 'General Practice', 'Physician Assistant', 'Nurse Practitioner',			
	'Geriatric MedicineInternal Medicine', 'Geriatric MedicineFamily Medicine',			
	'Primary CareClinic/Center', 'Adolescent MedicineInternal Medicine', 'Adult			
	HealthNurse Practitioner', 'Adult MedicineFamily Medicine', 'FamilyNurse			
	Practitioner', 'Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC)Clinic/Center')			
FQHC/RHC	Provider specialty code is ('080', '081', '083', '090','091', '092','316','318', '322', '344',			
providers	'345', '093', '100')			
-	For those with "internal medicine" as specialty, we excluded providers that did not			
	have the following primary care sub-specialties: not in ('Internal Medicine', 'Family			
	Medicine', 'Pediatrics', 'General Practice', 'Physician Assistant', 'Nurse Practitioner',			
	'Geriatric MedicineInternal Medicine', 'Geriatric MedicineFamily Medicine',			
	'Primary CareClinic/Center', 'Adolescent MedicineInternal Medicine', 'Adult			
	HealthNurse Practitioner', 'Adult MedicineFamily Medicine', 'FamilyNurse			
	Practitioner', 'Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC)Clinic/Center')			
Abbreviations: FQHC	, Federally Qualified Health Centers; RHC, Rural Health Centers			

Table A4-4 Codes for identifying primary care, FQHC, and RHC providers

Our measures of baseline healthcare utilization included number of primary care visits, Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHC)/Rural Health Center (RHC) visits, and inpatient visits. For characterizing primary care, we counted visits with evaluation and management procedure codes (CPT: 99201-99205, 99211-99215, 99381-99387, 99391-99397, 99241-99245, 99271-99275, 99499 and HCPCS: G0402, G0438, G0439) to providers in primary care specialties, which were identified using the Medicaid provider files that contain the National Provider Identifier (NPI) and provider specialty. For providers listing only "internal medicine" as their specialties, we examined whether they listed any non-primary care sub-specialties in the National Plan and Provider Enumeration System (NPPES) and excluded providers who listed any non-primary care specialties.

Category	Conditions ^a
Diabetes and metabolic disorders	Diabetes, acquired hypothyroidism, anemia, hyperlipidemia, or
	hypertension
Neurological conditions	Alzheimer's diseases and related disorders/dementia, epilepsy, spina
	bifida, traumatic brain injury, non-psychotic mental disorders due to
	brain damage, migraine, chronic headache, or other congenital
	anomalies of the nervous system
CVD	Acute myocardial infarction, atrial fibrillation, heart failure,
	ischemic heart diseases, stroke, transient ischemic attack, or
	peripheral vascular diseases
Asthma or COPD	Asthma, COPD
Chronic kidney disease	Chronic kidney disease
Mental health conditions	Depression, anxiety, bipolar disorder, personality disorders, post-
	traumatic stress disorders, depressive or other psychotic disorders
Disability or mobility limitations	Physical or developmental, or intellectual disability, mobility
and other pain conditions	limitations, or chronic pain (i.e., hip or pelvic fracture, osteoporosis,
	arthritis, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, autism, cerebral
	palsy, cystic fibrosis, fibromyalgia, multiple sclerosis, muscular
	dystrophy)
Liver conditions	Liver diseases, cirrhosis, or hepatitis
Substance use disorders	Alcohol, drug (including opioids), or tobacco use

Table A4-5 Categories of comorbidities identified using the Chronic Conditions Warehouse algorithm

Abbreviation: CVD, cardio and cerebrovascular diseases; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder

^a These conditions map directly to the list of "chronic conditions" and "chronic and other disabling conditions" provided by the Chronic Conditions Warehouse.



Figure A4.3 Flow diagram of the study inclusion criteria



Figure A4.3 Flow diagram of the study inclusion criteria (cont.)

Abbreviation: HMIS, Housing Management Information System; PA, Pennsylvania; Mos, months

^a We identified the first ever HMIS encounters in the data.

^b We used Medicaid records from 2010 to 2018 to observe at least 1 year prior to and 2 years following the index HMIS encounter.

^c Among monthly Medicaid enrollment records, we excluded beneficiaries who had any HMIS encounters from 2011-2016

^d We performed a simple random sampling to extract one monthly record per each beneficiary that will provide the "index" date for the comparison cohort.

^e The index date for the HMIS cohort is the date of the index HMIS encounter. The index date for the comparison cohort is the date indicated on the randomly sampled monthly Medicaid record.

^f We required 6 months of continuous Medicaid enrollment prior to the index date to observe baseline health services use (i.e., primary care visits, Federally Qualified Health Centers visits, and inpatient visits) and comorbidities.

^g We required at least 18 months of Medicaid enrollment following the index date to examine receipt of biennial mammography. We used 18 months, instead of 24 months, to account for the fact that many beneficiaries temporarily lose Medicaid coverage but then re-enroll ("churning"). The 18-months interval reflects the average duration of Medicaid enrollment each year in Pennsylvania, which is around 9 months.25

^h We excluded beneficiaries with any days in Medicare enrollment during the -6 to 24 months window around the index date

¹We used the gender information listed on Medicaid records to exclude male beneficiaries.

^j We used the county listed on the Medicaid record for the index date to exclude beneficiaries who were residing in Philadelphia and counties outside of Pennsylvania; we excluded those residing in Philadelphia because no HMIS encounters data from Philadelphia were available during the study period.

^k We used the following hierarchical rule to categorize the beneficiaries in the HMIS cohort: 1) Any supportive housing (received any supportive housing services, including permanent supportive housing, in the post-index period); 2) Chronically homeless (more than 12 months of observed homelessness as indicated by shelter use, street outreach, homelessness assistance, or homeless as prior residence in coordinated entry or assessment; 3) Episodically homeless (less than 12 months of observed homelessness); 4) Housing unstable (includes all other HMIS services use, including homelessness prevention services).

Panel A. Distributions in the combined sample, prior to applying any exclusion criteria



Panel b. Distributions in the final sample





Note: The figures plot the histogram and kernel density of the index date among beneficiaries in the HMIS (hmis_indicator=1) and comparison cohorts (hmis_indicator=0). The index date for the HMIS cohort was the date of the index HMIS encounter. The index date for the comparison cohort is the date of randomly sampled Medicaid enrollment record from 2011 to 2016. The top panel shows the distributions in the combined sample (containing HMIS encounters among prior Medicaid beneficiaries and the random sample of Medicaid records) prior to applying exclusion criteria. The bottom panel shows the distributions in the final analytic sample.



Figure A4.5 Adjusted probability of screening vs. diagnostic biennial mammography

Note: These sets of bar graphs separately show the adjusted probabilities of biennial mammography for study cohorts separately for screening vs. diagnostic mammography (categorized based on descriptions of procedure codes). We adjusted for county and year fixed effects, demographic and Medicaid eligibility characteristics, and baseline healthcare utilization and comorbidities. The first set of bar graphs present the probability of receiving either screening or diagnostic mammography (i.e., the main specification). The second and third set each presents the probability of receiving screening and diagnostic mammography, respectively.





between receipt of HMIS-related services and biennial mammography

Note: Two bolded lines plot the combination of γ (difference in prevalence of an unmeasured confounder U between exposure groups) and η (correlation between U and probability of receiving biennial mammography) that would fully explain away the magnitude of the disparity in receipt of biennial mammogram that was estimated between the HMIS and non-HMIS cohort (i.e., -4.3 percentage points) and beneficiaries experiencing chronic homelessness and non-HMIS beneficiaries (i.e., -8.4 percentage points) in the main analysis. The dots in the scatterplot show the joint combination of γ and η for each measured covariate. For simplicity, we assigned positive values of γ and η in the sensitivity analysis, which would lead to a positive treatment effect.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 Dissertation summary

The goal of this dissertation was to enrich our understanding of two major insurance programs—Medicare and Medicaid—as providers of health insurance coverage for patients with cancer and cancer survivors and to highlight their role in addressing disparities in cancer screening, early detection, and survivorship. I summarize the key conclusions, policy implications, and suggested directions for future research from each chapter below.

5.1.1 Association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of care among older cancer survivors

Older cancer survivors have pronounced needs for ongoing medical care, which make them vulnerable to high out-of-pocket (OOP) costs and financial burden of care. This burden is disproportionately high for those who are immediately below age 65 (the age at which individuals are eligible for Medicare). While Medicare eligibility was associated with significant reductions in cost-barriers to care, problems paying or worries about medical bills, it did not eliminate these access and affordability challenges. The finding highlights the importance of Medicare coverage, but also underscores the need for further policy reforms to reduce gaps in coverage and improve Medicare coverage among cancer survivors. First, proposals to expand Medicare coverage, by lowering the age of Medicare eligibility or creating a Medicare buy-in option, may provide clear

pathways for coverage among uninsured cancer survivors who face the greatest risk of financial toxicity. Expanding Medicare eligibility may also benefit cancer survivors who currently have coverage through their employers or non-group insurance markets because Medicare has lower premium and deductible amounts and a higher actuarial value, relative to that of certain private plans. Second, reforms are needed to address the high OOP spending burden within Medicare. In Traditional Medicare, considerable cost sharing, combined with no limit on OOP spending, can expose certain Medicare beneficiaries to catastrophic healthcare costs. One method of Medicare benefit redesign to provide protections against such catastrophic spending would be to impose an OOP spending maximum.³⁹⁵ Furthermore, expanding eligibility for Medicaid supplemental coverage by raising its income eligibility threshold (from 100% to 200% FPL, for example) can increase availability of supplemental coverage to low-income beneficiaries who are particularly vulnerable to high OOP costs yet are ineligible for Medicaid and unable to afford private supplemental coverage.³⁹⁶

As this research only examined the average effect of Medicare eligibility, an important avenue for future research is to examine differences in access and affordability of care by specific types of Medicare coverage, including enrollment into Medicare Advantage and supplemental insurance such as Medigap or Medicaid. Moreover, there are opportunities to use longitudinal data on coverage changes at age 65 to study transitions into Medicare, which may illuminate heterogenous effects of Medicare eligibility by prior level and experience of coverage.

5.1.2 Effects of Medicaid managed care on early detection of cancer: Evidence from mandatory Medicaid managed care program in Pennsylvania

Medicaid beneficiaries have historically experienced adverse cancer outcomes, including premature mortality, largely because many Medicaid beneficiaries are diagnosed with advancedstage cancers for which prognosis is worse and treatment options may be limited or less effective. Hence, a key goal for improving cancer outcomes in this population is to improve early detection of cancer. In this aim, I examined how private administration of Medicaid through managed care organizations impacted early detection among Medicaid beneficiaries, using Pennsylvania's transition to mandatory Medicaid managed care as a natural experiment. In Pennsylvania, this transition was associated with significant reductions in late-stage diagnosis among newly diagnosed Medicaid beneficiaries, especially among those who were diagnosed with breast and cervical cancers. This result suggests potential for managed care to facilitate access to care and preventive screening among Medicaid beneficiaries, though specific design of managed care may matter. In Pennsylvania's context, several factors may have contributed to improved early detection, including increased provider payment rates, emphasis on managed care plan competition, the staggered adoption of managed care to allow a more seamless transition to managed care, care coordination by plans using integrated data systems and infrastructure, and plan oversight by Medicaid agency. These specific elements of the managed care program in Pennsylvania may provide blueprints for other states in structuring their Medicaid programs, though more research is needed to understand effects of such elements on health outcomes. Future research may leverage between-state variations in Medicaid managed care and investigate distal

cancer outcomes, such as access to treatment and mortality, to assess the effects of Medicaid managed care on cancer control more comprehensively.

5.1.3 Housing-related disparities in receipt of mammography: evidence among adult women Medicaid beneficiaries in Pennsylvania

There is recognition that social determinants of health (SDOH) are associated with striking disparities in cancer outcomes, including access to cancer screening. At the same time, limited research exists that estimates such disparities using granular person-level information on specific SDOH and cancer screening. This aim evaluated disparities in screening associated with housing insecurity in Medicaid, which disproportionately serves low-income individuals experiencing or at risk of homelessness. I specifically compared receipt of guideline-recommended mammography between women Medicaid beneficiaries with vs. without an encounter for housing-related services (e.g., supportive housing, services for individuals experiencing homelessness, and homelessness prevention services), finding that such an encounter was associated with a lower probability of screening. The disparities in mammography were pronounced among those who experienced chronic homelessness, pointing to the pernicious consequences of housing insecurity on utilization of screening, but such disparities were attenuated among women with supportive housing.

Medicaid has an important role to play in lessening the impact of housing insecurity by expanding provisions of housing services in covered Medicaid benefits. Many Medicaid programs have elected to provide such benefits or plan to do so, providing a critical opportunity to examine their effectiveness in increasing the take-up of screening among beneficiaries experiencing housing insecurity. In the interim, Medicaid programs should coordinate with managed care organizations to target housing insecurity and other health-related social needs through targeted case management. Future research should also investigate how housing insecurity can affect care access and utilization throughout the cancer care continuum, as screening is only the first step for successful treatment and survivorship.

Bibliography

- 1. Siegel RL, Giaquinto AN, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2024. *CA Cancer J Clin*. Jan-Feb 2024;74(1):12-49. doi:10.3322/caac.21820.
- 2. National Cancer Institute. Statistics and Graphs. Feb 29, 2024. Accessed Apr 16, 2024. https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/ocs/statistics#:~:text=As%20of%20January%202022%2 C%20it,approximately%205.4%25%20of%20the%20population.&text=The%20number %20of%20cancer%20survivors%20is%20projected%20to%20increase%20by,to%2022.5 %20million%2C%20by%202032.
- 3. Rowland JH, Bellizzi KM. Cancer survivorship issues: life after treatment and implications for an aging population. *J Clin Oncol.* Aug 20 2014;32(24):2662-8. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.55.8361.
- 4. Weir HK, Thompson TD, Soman A, Møller B, Leadbetter S. The past, present, and future of cancer incidence in the United States: 1975 through 2020. *Cancer*. Jun 1 2015;121(11):1827-37. doi:10.1002/cncr.29258.
- 5. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Wagle NS, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2023. *CA Cancer J Clin*. Jan 2023;73(1):17-48. doi:10.3322/caac.21763.
- 6. Brawley OW, Goldberg P. The 50 years' war: The history and outcomes of the National Cancer Act of 1971. *Cancer*. Dec 15 2021;127(24):4534-4540. doi:10.1002/cncr.34040.
- 7. Thun MJ, DeLancey JO, Center MM, Jemal A, Ward EM. The global burden of cancer: priorities for prevention. *Carcinogenesis*. Jan 2010;31(1):100-10. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgp263.
- 8. Mariotto AB, Yabroff KR, Shao Y, Feuer EJ, Brown ML. Projections of the cost of cancer care in the United States: 2010-2020. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Jan 19 2011;103(2):117-28. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq495.
- 9. Tangka FK, Trogdon JG, Richardson LC, Howard D, Sabatino SA, Finkelstein EA. Cancer treatment cost in the United States: has the burden shifted over time? *Cancer*. Jul 15 2010;116(14):3477-84. doi:10.1002/cncr.25150.
- Zaorsky NG, Khunsriraksakul C, Acri SL, et al. Medical Service Use and Charges for Cancer Care in 2018 for Privately Insured Patients Younger Than 65 Years in the US. JAMA Network Open. 2021;4(10):e2127784-e2127784. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.27784.

- Shih YT, Xu Y, Liu L, Smieliauskas F. Rising Prices of Targeted Oral Anticancer Medications and Associated Financial Burden on Medicare Beneficiaries. *J Clin Oncol.* Aug 1 2017;35(22):2482-2489. doi:10.1200/jco.2017.72.3742.
- 12. Pisu M, Henrikson NB, Banegas MP, Yabroff KR. Costs of cancer along the care continuum: What we can expect based on recent literature. *Cancer*. Nov 1 2018;124(21):4181-4191. doi:10.1002/cncr.31643.
- 13. Yabroff KR, Lund J, Kepka D, Mariotto A. Economic burden of cancer in the United States: estimates, projections, and future research. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Oct 2011;20(10):2006-14. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-11-0650.
- 14. Debela DT, Muzazu SG, Heraro KD, et al. New approaches and procedures for cancer treatment: Current perspectives. *SAGE Open Med.* 2021;9:20503121211034366. doi:10.1177/20503121211034366.
- 15. Xu J, Murphy SL, Kochanek KD, Arias E. Mortality in the United States, 2021. National Center for Heatlh Statistics. Dec, 2022. Accessed Apr 17, 2024. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db456.htm.
- 16. Mani K, Deng D, Lin C, Wang M, Hsu ML, Zaorsky NG. Causes of death among people living with metastatic cancer. *Nature Communications*. 2024;15(1):1519.
- 17. Grizzi F, Chiriva-Internati M. Cancer: looking for simplicity and finding complexity. *Cancer Cell Int.* Feb 15 2006;6:4. doi:10.1186/1475-2867-6-4.
- Gorin SS, Haggstrom D, Han PKJ, Fairfield KM, Krebs P, Clauser SB. Cancer Care Coordination: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Over 30 Years of Empirical Studies. *Ann Behav Med.* Aug 2017;51(4):532-546. doi:10.1007/s12160-017-9876-2.
- 19. Bottomley A. The cancer patient and quality of life. *Oncologist*. 2002;7(2):120-5. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.7-2-120.
- 20. Brown ML, Lipscomb J, Snyder C. The burden of illness of cancer: economic cost and quality of life. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2001;22:91-113. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.22.1.91.
- 21. Barlas S. The White House Launches a Cancer Moonshot: Despite Funding Questions, the Progress Appears Promising. *P t*. May 2016;41(5):290-5.
- 22. Young CG, Carnival DM. The Biden Cancer Moonshot: American Progress, Global Commitment. *Cancer Discov*. Apr 4 2024;14(4):552-554. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.Cd-24-0258.
- 23. National Cancer Institute. Cancer Control Continuum. Sep 24, 2020. Accessed Apr 17, 2024. https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/about-dccps/about-cc/cancer-control-continuum.

- 24. Shih YC, Ganz PA, Aberle D, et al. Delivering high-quality and affordable care throughout the cancer care continuum. *J Clin Oncol.* Nov 10 2013;31(32):4151-7. doi:10.1200/jco.2013.51.0651.
- 25. Taplin SH, Anhang Price R, Edwards HM, et al. Introduction: Understanding and influencing multilevel factors across the cancer care continuum. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*. May 2012;2012(44):2-10. doi:10.1093/jncimonographs/lgs008.
- 26. Loud JT, Murphy J. Cancer Screening and Early Detection in the 21(st) Century. *Semin Oncol Nurs*. May 2017;33(2):121-128. doi:10.1016/j.soncn.2017.02.002.
- 27. Crosby D, Bhatia S, Brindle KM, et al. Early detection of cancer. *Science*. 2022;375(6586):eaay9040.
- 28. Fox Chase Cancer Center. Cancer Staging: Why It's Important And Why Accuracy Matters. Dec 18, 2020. Accessed Apr 17, 2022. https://www.foxchase.org/blog/cancer-staging-why-its-important-and-why-accuracy-matters.
- 29. Goetz P, Klemp JR. Transition to Survivorship. *Journal of Oncology Navigation & Survivorship*. 2018;10:268-279.
- 30. Smith GL, Lopez-Olivo MA, Advani PG, et al. Financial Burdens of Cancer Treatment: A Systematic Review of Risk Factors and Outcomes. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw.* Oct 1 2019;17(10):1184-1192. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2019.7305.
- 31. Stein KD, Syrjala KL, Andrykowski MA. Physical and psychological long-term and late effects of cancer. Jun 1 2008;112(11 Suppl):2577-92. doi:10.1002/cncr.23448.
- 32. Shapiro CL. Cancer Survivorship. *N Engl J Med.* Dec 20 2018;379(25):2438-2450. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1712502.
- 33. Custers JAE, Gielissen MFM, Janssen SHV, de Wilt JHW, Prins JB. Fear of cancer recurrence in colorectal cancer survivors. *Support Care Cancer*. Feb 2016;24(2):555-562. doi:10.1007/s00520-015-2808-4.
- 34. McGinty HL, Small BJ, Laronga C, Jacobsen PB. Predictors and patterns of fear of cancer recurrence in breast cancer survivors. *Health Psychol.* Jan 2016;35(1):1-9. doi:10.1037/hea0000238.
- 35. Wilbur J. Surveillance of the adult cancer survivor. *American family physician*. 2015;91(1):29-36.
- 36. Ekwueme DU, Zhao J, Rim SH, et al. Annual out-of-pocket expenditures and financial hardship among cancer survivors aged 18–64 years—United States, 2011–2016. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*. 2019;68(22):494.

- 37. Altice CK, Banegas MP, Tucker-Seeley RD, Yabroff KR. Financial Hardships Experienced by Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Feb 2017;109(2)doi:10.1093/jnci/djw205.
- 38. Gilligan AM, Alberts DS, Roe DJ, Skrepnek GH. Death or Debt? National Estimates of Financial Toxicity in Persons with Newly-Diagnosed Cancer. *Am J Med.* Oct 2018;131(10):1187-1199.e5. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2018.05.020.
- Pisu M, Azuero A, McNees P, Burkhardt J, Benz R, Meneses K. The out of pocket cost of breast cancer survivors: a review. *J Cancer Surviv.* Sep 2010;4(3):202-9. doi:10.1007/s11764-010-0125-y.
- 40. Earle CC, Landrum MB, Souza JM, Neville BA, Weeks JC, Ayanian JZ. Aggressiveness of cancer care near the end of life: is it a quality-of-care issue? *J Clin Oncol*. Aug 10 2008;26(23):3860-6. doi:10.1200/jco.2007.15.8253.
- 41. Khan SA, Gomes B, Higginson IJ. End-of-life care--what do cancer patients want? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*. Feb 2014;11(2):100-8. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2013.217.
- 42. Zimmermann C, Swami N, Krzyzanowska M, et al. Early palliative care for patients with advanced cancer: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. May 17 2014;383(9930):1721-30. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)62416-2.
- 43. Vanbutsele G, Pardon K, Van Belle S, et al. Effect of early and systematic integration of palliative care in patients with advanced cancer: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* Mar 2018;19(3):394-404. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(18)30060-3.
- 44. Sullivan DR, Chan B, Lapidus JA, et al. Association of Early Palliative Care Use With Survival and Place of Death Among Patients With Advanced Lung Cancer Receiving Care in the Veterans Health Administration. *JAMA Oncology*. 2019;5(12):1702-1709. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.3105.
- 45. Greer JA, Jackson VA, Meier DE, Temel JS. Early integration of palliative care services with standard oncology care for patients with advanced cancer. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Sep 2013;63(5):349-63. doi:10.3322/caac.21192.
- 46. Currow DC, Agar MR, Phillips JL. Role of Hospice Care at the End of Life for People With Cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. Mar 20 2020;38(9):937-943. doi:10.1200/jco.18.02235.
- 47. Yabroff KR, Reeder-Hayes K, Zhao J, et al. Health Insurance Coverage Disruptions and Cancer Care and Outcomes: Systematic Review of Published Research. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Jul 1 2020;112(7):671-687. doi:10.1093/jnci/djaa048.
- 48. Parsons HM, Schmidt S, Harlan LC, et al. Young and uninsured: Insurance patterns of recently diagnosed adolescent and young adult cancer survivors in the AYA HOPE study. *Cancer*. Aug 1 2014;120(15):2352-60. doi:10.1002/cncr.28685.

- 49. Gordon LG, Merollini KMD, Lowe A, Chan RJ. A Systematic Review of Financial Toxicity Among Cancer Survivors: We Can't Pay the Co-Pay. *Patient*. Jun 2017;10(3):295-309. doi:10.1007/s40271-016-0204-x.
- 50. Karim MA, Singal AG, Ohsfeldt RL, Morrisey MA, Kum HC. Health services utilization, out-of-pocket expenditure, and underinsurance among insured non-elderly cancer survivors in the United States, 2011-2015. *Cancer Med.* Aug 2021;10(16):5513-5523. doi:10.1002/cam4.4103.
- 51. National Research Council. *From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition*. National Academies Press; 2005.
- 52. Zheng Z, Han X, Zhao J, et al. Financial Hardship, Healthcare Utilization, and Health Among U.S. Cancer Survivors. *Am J Prev Med.* Jul 2020;59(1):68-78. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.02.016.
- 53. Miller KD, Nogueira L, Mariotto AB, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Sep 2019;69(5):363-385. doi:10.3322/caac.21565.
- 54. Kwon Y, Roberts ET, Degenholtz HB, Jacobs BL, Sabik LM. Association of Medicare eligibility with access to and affordability of care among older cancer survivors. *J Cancer Surviv*. Mar 23 2024;doi:10.1007/s11764-024-01562-x.
- 55. Ermer T, Walters SL, Canavan ME, et al. Understanding the Implications of Medicaid Expansion for Cancer Care in the US: A Review. *JAMA Oncol.* Jan 1 2022;8(1):139-148. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.4323.
- 56. Davidoff AJ, Guy GP, Jr., Hu X, et al. Changes in Health Insurance Coverage Associated With the Affordable Care Act Among Adults With and Without a Cancer History: Population-based National Estimates. *Med Care*. Mar 2018;56(3):220-227. doi:10.1097/mlr.00000000000876.
- 57. Sommers BD. Health Insurance Coverage: What Comes After The ACA? *Health Aff* (*Millwood*). Mar 2020;39(3):502-508. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01416.
- 58. Services CfMaM. CMS RoadMapS oveRview. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.cms.gov/medicare/quality-initiatives-patient-assessmentinstruments/qualityinitiativesgeninfo/downloads/roadmapoverview_oea_1-16.pdf.
- 59. Keisler-Starkey K, Bunch LN, Lindstrom RA. Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2022. September, 2023. Accessed Jun 4, 2024. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2023/demo/p60-281.pdf.
- 60. Services DoHaH. Who is eligible for Medicare? Sep 11, 2014. Accessed Jan 26, 2022. https://www.hhs.gov/answers/medicare-and-medicaid/who-is-eligible-formedicare/index.html.

- 61. Park J, Look KA. Health Care Expenditure Burden of Cancer Care in the United States. *Inquiry*. Jan-Dec 2019;56:46958019880696. doi:10.1177/0046958019880696.
- 62. Rudowitz R, Burns A, Hinton E, Mohamed M. 10 Things to Know About Medicaid. Jun 30, 2023. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.kff.org/mental-health/issue-brief/10-things-to-know-about-medicaid/.
- 63. Pena MT, Mohamed M, Burns A, Biniek JF, Ochieng N, Chidambaram P. A Profile of Medicare-Medicaid Enrollees (Dual Eligibles). Jan 31, 2023. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/a-profile-of-medicare-medicaid-enrollees-dual-eligibles/.
- 64. Chen AH, Ghaly MA. Medicaid as a Driver of Health Equity. *Jama*. Sep 20 2022;328(11):1051-1052. doi:10.1001/jama.2022.14911.
- 65. Kwon Y. Improving Health Equity in Medicaid: What Are the Challenges and Opportunities? Feb 23, 2022. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://academyhealth.org/blog/2022-02/improving-health-equity-medicaid-what-are-challenges-and-opportunities.
- 66. Narang AK, Nicholas LH. Out-of-Pocket Spending and Financial Burden Among Medicare Beneficiaries With Cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* Jun 1 2017;3(6):757-765. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.4865.
- 67. Freed M, Cubanski J, Damico A, Neuman T. Help with Medicare Premium and Cost-Sharing Assistance Varies by State. Apr 20, 2022. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/help-with-medicare-premium-and-cost-sharingassistance-varies-by-state/.
- 68. Madden JM, Bayapureddy S, Briesacher BA, et al. Affordability of Medical Care Among Medicare Enrollees. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2021;2(12):e214104-e214104. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.4104.
- 69. Roberts ET. The Unintended Cost of High Cost Sharing in Medicare—Assessing Consequences for Patients and Options for Policy. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2021;2(12):e213624-e213624. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.3624.
- 70. Sonet EM. Choosing the Right Medicare Program When You Have Cancer. Nov 7, 2018. Accessed Oct 12, 2021. https://www.cancercare.org/blog/choosing-the-right-medicareprogram-when-you-have-cancer.
- 71. Schoen C, Davis K, Buttorff C, Willink A. Medicare Benefit Redesign: Enhancing Affordability for Beneficiaries While Promoting Choice and Competition. Oct 24, 2018. Accessed Apr 19, 2024. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issuebriefs/2018/oct/medicare-benefit-redesign-affordability.

- 72. Meyers DJ, Ryan AM, Trivedi AN. How Much of an "Advantage" Is Medicare Advantage? *JAMA*. 2022;328(21):2112-2113. doi:10.1001/jama.2022.21892.
- 73. Gondi S, Kadakia KT, Tsai TC. Coverage Denials in Medicare Advantage—Balancing Access and Efficiency. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2024;5(3):e240028-e240028. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2024.0028.
- 74. Leonard F, Jacobson G, Collins SR, Shah A, Haynes LA. Medicare's Affordability Problem: A Look at the Cost Burdens Faced by Older Enrollees. Sep 19, 2023. Accessed Apr 19, 2024. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issuebriefs/2023/sep/medicare-affordability-problem-cost-burdensbiennial#:~:text=While%20Medicare%20Advantage%20plans%20limit,these%20plans% 20and%20traditional%20Medicare.
- 75. Bernard DS, Farr SL, Fang Z. National estimates of out-of-pocket health care expenditure burdens among nonelderly adults with cancer: 2001 to 2008. *J Clin Oncol*. Jul 10 2011;29(20):2821-6. doi:10.1200/jco.2010.33.0522.
- 76. Duarte F, Kadiyala S, Kominski GF, Riveros A. The Effect Of The Affordable Care Act On Cancer Detection Among The Near-Elderly. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Feb 2021;40(2):258-265. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00369.
- 77. Kadiyala S, Strumpf E. How Effective is Population-Based Cancer Screening? Regression Discontinuity Estimates from the US Guideline Screening Initiation Ages. *Forum Health Econ Policy*. Jun 1 2016;19(1):87-139. doi:10.1515/fhep-2014-0014.
- 78. Sun J, Perraillon MC, Myerson R. The Impact of Medicare Health Insurance Coverage on Lung Cancer Screening. *Med Care.* Jan 1 2022;60(1):29-36. doi:10.1097/mlr.00000000001655.
- 79. Myerson RM, Tucker-Seeley RD, Goldman DP, Lakdawalla DN. Does Medicare Coverage Improve Cancer Detection and Mortality Outcomes? *J Policy Anal Manage*. Summer 2020;39(3):577-604. doi:10.1002/pam.22199.
- 80. Decker SL. Medicare and the health of women with breast cancer. *Journal of Human Resources*. 2005;40(4):948-968.
- 81. Patel DC, He H, Berry MF, et al. Cancer diagnoses and survival rise as 65-year-olds become Medicare-eligible. *Cancer*. Jul 1 2021;127(13):2302-2310. doi:10.1002/cncr.33498.
- 82. Mohile SG, Hurria A, Cohen HJ, et al. Improving the quality of survivorship for older adults with cancer. *Cancer*. Aug 15 2016;122(16):2459-568. doi:10.1002/cncr.30053.
- 83. DuMontier C, Driver JA. Advancing Survivorship in Older Adults With Cancer. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Jul 13 2021;76(8):1444-1446. doi:10.1093/gerona/glab126.

- 84. Medicaid.gov. Cost Sharing Out of Pocket Costs. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/cost-sharing/cost-sharing-out-pocket-costs/index.html.
- 85. Layton TJ, Maestas N, Prinz D, Vabson B. Healthcare Rationing in Public Insurance Programs: Evidence from Medicaid. *Am Econ J Econ Policy*. Nov 2022;14(4):397-431. doi:10.1257/pol.20190628.
- 86. Alexander D, Schnell M. *The impacts of physician payments on patient access, use, and health.* 2019.
- 87. Mann C, Striar A. How Differences in Medicaid, Medicare, and Commercial Health Insurance Payment Rates Impact Access, Health Equity, and Cost. Aug 17, 2022. Accessed Apr 19, 2024. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/how-differences-medicaidmedicare-and-commercial-health-insurance-payment-rates-impact.
- 88. Ford TN, Michener J. Medicaid Reimbursement Rates Are a Racial Justice Issue. Jun 16, 2022. Accessed Apr 19, 2024. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/blog/2022/medicaid-reimbursement-rates-are-racial-justice-issue#:~:text=One%20issue%20affecting%20access%20to,spent%20caring%20for%20M edicaid%20patients.
- 89. Hinton E, Raphael J. 10 Things to Know About Medicaid Managed Care. Mar 1, 2023. Accessed Apr 8, 2024. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/10-things-to-know-about-medicaid-managed-care/.
- 90. Geruso M, Layton TJ, Wallace J. Are All Managed Care Plans Created Equal?: Evidence from Random Plan Assignment in Medicaid. National Bureau of Economic Research; 2020.
- 91. Silvestri GA, Jemal A, Yabroff KR, Fedewa S, Sineshaw H. Cancer Outcomes Among Medicare Beneficiaries And Their Younger Uninsured Counterparts. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. May 2021;40(5):754-762. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01839.
- 92. Davidoff AJ, Erten M, Shaffer T, et al. Out-of-pocket health care expenditure burden for Medicare beneficiaries with cancer. *Cancer*. Mar 15 2013;119(6):1257-65. doi:10.1002/cncr.27848.
- 93. Parikh-Patel A, Morris CR, Kizer KW. Disparities in quality of cancer care: The role of health insurance and population demographics. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. Dec 2017;96(50):e9125. doi:10.1097/md.00000000009125.
- 94. Han X, Zhao J, Yabroff KR, Johnson CJ, Jemal A. Association Between Medicaid Expansion Under the Affordable Care Act and Survival Among Newly Diagnosed Cancer Patients. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 8 2022;114(8):1176-1185. doi:10.1093/jnci/djac077.

- 95. Barnes JM, Johnson KJ, Osazuwa-Peters N, Yabroff KR, Chino F. Changes in cancer mortality after Medicaid expansion and the role of stage at diagnosis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 8 2023;115(8):962-970. doi:10.1093/jnci/djad094.
- 96. Zhao J, Han X, Nogueira L, et al. Health insurance status and cancer stage at diagnosis and survival in the United States. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Nov 2022;72(6):542-560. doi:10.3322/caac.21732.
- 97. Pinheiro LC, Reshetnyak E, Akinyemiju T, Phillips E, Safford MM. Social determinants of health and cancer mortality in the Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) cohort study. *Cancer*. Jan 1 2022;128(1):122-130. doi:10.1002/cncr.33894.
- 98. Syrnioti G, Eden CM, Johnson JA, Alston C, Syrnioti A, Newman LA. Social Determinants of Cancer Disparities. *Ann Surg Oncol*. Dec 2023;30(13):8094-8104. doi:10.1245/s10434-023-14200-0.
- 99. Alcaraz KI, Wiedt TL, Daniels EC, Yabroff KR, Guerra CE, Wender RC. Understanding and addressing social determinants to advance cancer health equity in the United States: A blueprint for practice, research, and policy. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Jan 2020;70(1):31-46. doi:10.3322/caac.21586.
- 100. Coughlin SS. Social determinants of breast cancer risk, stage, and survival. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Oct 2019;177(3):537-548. doi:10.1007/s10549-019-05340-7.
- 101. Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Social Determinants of Health. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://health.gov/healthypeople/priority-areas/social-determinants-health.
- 102. Bundy JD, Mills KT, He H, et al. Social determinants of health and premature death among adults in the USA from 1999 to 2018: a national cohort study. *Lancet Public Health*. Jun 2023;8(6):e422-e431. doi:10.1016/s2468-2667(23)00081-6.
- Hussaini SMQ, Chen KY, Blackford AL, Chino F, Gupta A. Food insecurity and gastrointestinal (GI) cancer mortality in the United States, 2015 to 2019. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2023/02/01 2023;41(4_suppl):788-788. doi:10.1200/JCO.2023.41.4 suppl.788.
- 104. Fan Q, Keene DE, Banegas MP, et al. Housing Insecurity Among Patients With Cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. Dec 8 2022;114(12):1584-1592. doi:10.1093/jnci/djac136.
- 105. Jiang C, Yabroff KR, Deng L, et al. Transportation barriers, emergency room use, and mortality risk among US adults by cancer history. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Jul 6 2023;115(7):815-821. doi:10.1093/jnci/djad050.

- 106. Naito R, McKee M, Leong D, et al. Social isolation as a risk factor for all-cause mortality: Systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *PLoS One*. 2023;18(1):e0280308. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0280308.
- 107. Harrison KM, Dean HD. Use of data systems to address social determinants of health: a need to do more. *Public Health Rep.* Sep-Oct 2011;126 Suppl 3(Suppl 3):1-5. doi:10.1177/00333549111260s301.
- 108. Cantor MN, Thorpe L. Integrating Data On Social Determinants Of Health Into Electronic Health Records. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Apr 2018;37(4):585-590. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1252.
- 109. Leopold J, Cunningham M, Posey L, Manuel T. Improving Measures of Housing Insecurity: A Path Forward. Nov, 2016. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/101608/improving_measures_of_ho using_insecurity_2.pdf.
- 110. Solari CD. How Big Is the Problem of Housing Insecurity? Jan 24, 2024. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://housingmatters.urban.org/articles/how-big-problem-housing-insecurity.
- 111. National Alliance to End Homelessness. State of Homelessness: 2023 Edition. 2023. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-inamerica/homelessness-statistics/state-of-homelessness/.
- 112. Reynolds K, Burton E. Almost Half of Renter Households Feel Pressured to Leave Their Homes. Nov 3, 2023. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/almost-half-renter-households-feel-pressured-leave-their-homes.
- 113. Office of Policy Development and Research. Worst Case Needs Housing Trends Data. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.huduser.gov/portal/worstcase.html.
- Willison C, Unwala N, Singer PM, Creedon TB, Mullin B, Cook BL. Persistent Disparities: Trends in Rates of Sheltered Homelessness Across Demographic Subgroups in the USA. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. Feb 2024;11(1):326-338. doi:10.1007/s40615-023-01521-9.
- 115. Fusaro VA, Levy HG, Shaefer HL. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Lifetime Prevalence of Homelessness in the United States. *Demography*. Dec 2018;55(6):2119-2128. doi:10.1007/s13524-018-0717-0.
- 116. Garcia C, Doran K, Kushel M. Homelessness And Health: Factors, Evidence, Innovations That Work, And Policy Recommendations. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Feb 2024;43(2):164-171. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2023.01049.
- 117. Richards J, Kuhn R. Unsheltered homelessness and health: a literature review. *AJPM focus*. 2023;2(1):100043.

- 118. Lebrun-Harris LA, Baggett TP, Jenkins DM, et al. Health status and health care experiences among homeless patients in federally supported health centers: findings from the 2009 patient survey. *Health Serv Res.* Jun 2013;48(3):992-1017. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12009.
- 119. Gutwinski S, Schreiter S, Deutscher K, Fazel S. The prevalence of mental disorders among homeless people in high-income countries: An updated systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *PLoS Med.* Aug 2021;18(8):e1003750. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1003750.
- 120. Brown RT, Evans JL, Valle K, Guzman D, Chen YH, Kushel MB. Factors Associated With Mortality Among Homeless Older Adults in California: The HOPE HOME Study. *JAMA Intern Med.* Oct 1 2022;182(10):1052-1060. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.3697.
- 121. Sutherland H, Ali MM, Rosenoff E. Health Conditions Among Individuals with a History of Homelessness. Jan, 2021. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/health-conditions-among-individuals-history-homelessness-research-brief-0.
- 122. Taylor SN, Munson D. Health Care of People Experiencing Homelessness: Part I. *NEJM Evid*. Aug 2023;2(8):EVIDra2300123. doi:10.1056/EVIDra2300123.
- 123. Bharel M, Lin WC, Zhang J, O'Connell E, Taube R, Clark RE. Health care utilization patterns of homeless individuals in Boston: preparing for Medicaid expansion under the Affordable Care Act. *Am J Public Health*. Dec 2013;103 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S311-7. doi:10.2105/ajph.2013.301421.
- 124. Baggett TP, Hwang SW, O'Connell JJ, et al. Mortality among homeless adults in Boston: shifts in causes of death over a 15-year period. *JAMA Intern Med*. Feb 11 2013;173(3):189-95. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.1604.
- 125. Funk AM, Greene RN, Dill K, Valvassori P. The Impact of Homelessness on Mortality of Individuals Living in the United States: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *J Health Care Poor Underserved*. 2022;33(1):457-477. doi:10.1353/hpu.2022.0035.
- 126. Drescher NR, Oladeru OT. Cancer Screening, Treatment, and Outcomes in Persons Experiencing Homelessness: Shifting the Lens to an Understudied Population. *JCO Oncol Pract.* Mar 2023;19(3):103-105. doi:10.1200/op.22.00720.
- 127. Banegas MP, Dickerson JF, Zheng Z, et al. Association of Social Risk Factors With Mortality Among US Adults With a New Cancer Diagnosis. *JAMA Netw Open*. Sep 1 2022;5(9):e2233009. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.33009.
- 128. Baggett TP, Chang Y, Porneala BC, Bharel M, Singer DE, Rigotti NA. Disparities in Cancer Incidence, Stage, and Mortality at Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program. *Am J Prev Med.* Nov 2015;49(5):694-702. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.03.038.

- 129. Marron TU, Weiner A, Rabiner M. Barriers to colonoscopy among New York City homeless. *Gastrointest Endosc*. Oct 2014;80(4):745-746. doi:10.1016/j.gie.2014.05.309.
- 130. Asgary R, Garland V, Jakubowski A, Sckell B. Colorectal cancer screening among the homeless population of New York City shelter-based clinics. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2014;104(7):1307-1313.
- 131. Asgary R, Garland V, Sckell B. Breast cancer screening among homeless women of New York City shelter-based clinics. *Women's Health Issues*. 2014;24(5):529-534.
- 132. Asgary R, Alcabes A, Feldman R, et al. Cervical cancer screening among homeless women of New York City shelters. *Maternal and child health journal*. 2016;20:1143-1150.
- 133. Mayo ZS, Kilic SS, Weleff J, et al. Prostate Cancer Screening Disparities in Persons Experiencing Homelessness. *JCO Oncol Pract.* Nov 2022;18(11):e1866-e1873. doi:10.1200/op.22.00412.
- 134. Asgary R, Garland V, Jakubowski A, Sckell B. Colorectal cancer screening among the homeless population of New York City shelter-based clinics. *Am J Public Health*. Jul 2014;104(7):1307-13. doi:10.2105/ajph.2013.301792.
- 135. Bharel M, Casey C, Wittenberg E. Disparities in cancer screening: acceptance of Pap smears among homeless women. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. Dec 2009;18(12):2011-6. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.1111.
- 136. Warfield M, DiPietro B, Artiga S. How has the ACA Medicaid Expansion Affected Providers Serving the Homeless Population: Analysis of Coverage, Revenues, and Costs. Mar 15, 2016. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.kff.org/report-section/how-has-theaca-medicaid-expansion-affected-providers-serving-the-homeless-population-issue-brief/.
- 137. Gottlieb LM, Quiñones-Rivera A, Manchanda R, Wing H, Ackerman S. States' Influences on Medicaid Investments to Address Patients' Social Needs. *Am J Prev Med.* Jan 2017;52(1):31-37. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.07.028.
- 138. Orris A, Bailey A, Sullivan J. States Can Use Medicaid to Help Address Health-Related Social Needs. Feb 27, 2024. Accessed Apr 8, 2024. https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/states-can-use-medicaid-to-help-address-healthrelated-social-needs.
- 139. Hinton E, Diana A. Section 1115 Medicaid Waiver Watch: A Closer Look at Recent Approvals to Address Health-Related Social Needs (HRSN). Mar 4, 2024. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/section-1115-medicaid-waiver-watch-a-closer-look-at-recent-approvals-to-address-health-related-social-needs-hrsn/.
- 140. Greene LJ, Carter B, Loehrer AP. Examining Medicaid Waivers-An Opportunity to Promote Equity in Cancer Care. *JAMA Oncol.* Mar 1 2024;10(3):291-292. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2023.6814.

- 141. PA Department of Human Services. BRIDGES TO SUCCESS: KEYSTONES OF HEALTH FOR PENNSYLVANIA MEDICAID SECTION 1115 DEMONSTRATION. Feb, 2024. Accessed Apr 20, 2024. https://www.dhs.pa.gov/Keystones-of-Health/Documents/PA-1115-Keystones-of-Health-Feb-2024.pdf.
- 142. Center for Health Care Strategies. Financing Approaches to Address Social Determinants of Health via Medicaid Managed Care: A 12-State Review. Feb, https://www.chcs.org/media/Financing-Approaches-to-Address-Health-Related-Social-Needs-via-Medicaid-Managed-Care.docx.pdf. Accessed Apr 6, 2024.
- 143. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Statistics and Graphs. 20222, Jun 27. Accessed Aug 15, 2022. https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/ocs/statistics#:~:text=As%20of%20January%202022%2 C%20it,approximately%205.4%25%20of%20the%20population.&text=The%20number %20of%20cancer%20survivors,to%2022.5%20million%2C%20by%202032.
- 144. Byers T, Wender RC, Jemal A, Baskies AM, Ward EE, Brawley OW. The American Cancer Society challenge goal to reduce US cancer mortality by 50% between 1990 and 2015: Results and reflections. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Sep 2016;66(5):359-69. doi:10.3322/caac.21348.
- 145. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures. 2019. Accessed Jan 19, 2021. https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/annual-cancer-facts-and-figures/2019/cancer-facts-and-figures-2019.pdf.
- 146. McCorkle R, Ercolano E, Lazenby M, et al. Self-management: Enabling and empowering patients living with cancer as a chronic illness. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Jan-Feb 2011;61(1):50-62. doi:10.3322/caac.20093.
- 147. Mariotto AB, Enewold L, Zhao J, Zeruto CA, Yabroff KR. Medical Care Costs Associated with Cancer Survivorship in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jul 2020;29(7):1304-1312. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-19-1534.
- 148. Yabroff KR, Bradley C, Shih YT. Understanding Financial Hardship Among Cancer Survivors in the United States: Strategies for Prevention and Mitigation. *J Clin Oncol*. Feb 1 2020;38(4):292-301. doi:10.1200/jco.19.01564.
- 149. Zhao J, Han X, Nogueira L, Zheng Z, Jemal A, Yabroff KR. Health Insurance Coverage Disruptions and Access to Care and Affordability among Cancer Survivors in the United States. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Nov 2020;29(11):2134-2140. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-20-0518.
- 150. Department of Health and Human Services. Who is eligible for Medicare? Sep 11, 2014. Accessed Jun 17, 2022. https://www.hhs.gov/answers/medicare-and-medicaid/who-iseligible-for-

medicare/index.html#:~:text=Generally%2C%20Medicare%20is%20available%20for,Par t%20B%20(Medicare%20Insurance).

- 151. Norredam M, Meara E, Landrum MB, Huskamp HA, Keating NL. Financial status, employment, and insurance among older cancer survivors. *J Gen Intern Med*. Nov 2009;24 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S438-45. doi:10.1007/s11606-009-1034-5.
- 152. Guy Jr GP, Ekwueme DU, Yabroff KR, et al. Economic burden of cancer survivorship among adults in the United States. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2013;31(30):3749.
- 153. Jacobs PD. The Impact Of Medicare On Access To And Affordability Of Health Care: Study examines how Medicare currently affects access to and affordability of care for its enrollees. *Health Affairs*. 2021;40(2):266-273.
- 154. Scott JW, Neiman PU, Tipirneni R, Fan Z, Ayanian JZ. Changes in Out-of-Pocket Spending and Catastrophic Health Care Expenditures Associated With Medicare Eligibility. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2021;2(9):e212531-e212531. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.2531.
- 155. Barcellos SH, Jacobson M. The Effects of Medicare on Medical Expenditure Risk and Financial Strain. *Am Econ J Econ Policy*. Nov 2015;7(4):41-70. doi:10.1257/pol.20140262.
- 156. Card D, Dobkin C, Maestas N. The Impact of Nearly Universal Insurance Coverage on Health Care Utilization: Evidence from Medicare. *Am Econ Rev.* Dec 2008;98(5):2242-2258. doi:10.1257/aer.98.5.2242.
- 157. Coughlin SS, Chen J, Cortes JE. Health care access and utilization among adult cancer survivors: Results from the National Institutes of Health "All of Us" Research Program. *Cancer Med.* Jun 2021;10(11):3646-3654. doi:10.1002/cam4.3924.
- 158. Johnson RW. Gaps in Health Insurance Coverage Among the Near Elderly. Urban Institute. Mar 13, 2001. Accessed Jun 17, 2022. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/43171/900429-Gaps-in-Health-Insurance-Coverage-Among-the-Near-Elderly.pdf.
- 159. Schoen C, Davis K, Willink A. Medicare Beneficiaries' High Out-of-Pocket Costs: Cost Burdens by Income and Health Status. *Issue Brief (Commonw Fund)*. May 2017;11:1-14.
- 160. Freed M, Biniek JF, Damico A, Neuman T. Medicare Advantage in 2022: Premiums, Outof-Pocket Limits, Cost Sharing, Supplemental Benefits, Prior Authorization, and Star Ratings. Kaiser Family Foundation. Aug 25, 2022. Accessed Dec 1, 2022. https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-advantage-in-2022-premiums-out-ofpocket-limits-cost-sharing-supplemental-benefits-prior-authorization-and-star-ratings/.
- 161. Mueller J, Neukam S. Here is where the debate on Social Security and Medicare stands in Congress. The Hill. Mar 29, 2023. Accessed Feb 13, 2024.

https://thehill.com/policy/healthcare/3924471-here-is-where-the-debate-on-social-security-and-medicare-stands-in-congress/.

- 162. Zheng Z, Jemal A, Han X, et al. Medical financial hardship among cancer survivors in the United States. *Cancer*. May 15 2019;125(10):1737-1747. doi:10.1002/cncr.31913.
- 163. Yabroff KR, Dowling EC, Guy GP, Jr., et al. Financial Hardship Associated With Cancer in the United States: Findings From a Population-Based Sample of Adult Cancer Survivors. *J Clin Oncol.* Jan 20 2016;34(3):259-67. doi:10.1200/jco.2015.62.0468.
- 164. Weaver KE, Rowland JH, Bellizzi KM, Aziz NM. Forgoing medical care because of cost: assessing disparities in healthcare access among cancer survivors living in the United States. *Cancer*. Jul 15 2010;116(14):3493-504. doi:10.1002/cncr.25209.
- 165. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. About the National Health Interview Survey. Sep 16, 2020. Accessed Jan 27, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/about_nhis.htm.
- 166. Yabroff KR, Lawrence WF, Clauser S, Davis WW, Brown ML. Burden of illness in cancer survivors: findings from a population-based national sample. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Sep 1 2004;96(17):1322-30. doi:10.1093/jnci/djh255.
- 167. Cubanski J, Neuman T, Damico A. Medicare's Role for People Under Age 65 with Disabilities. Kaiser Family Foundation. Aug 12, 2016. Accessed Jan 27, 2022. https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicares-role-for-people-under-age-65-withdisabilities/.
- 168. Wallace J, Jiang K, Goldsmith-Pinkham P, Song Z. Changes in Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Access to Care and Health Among US Adults at Age 65 Years. JAMA Intern Med. Sep 1 2021;181(9):1207-1215. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.3922.
- 169. Yabroff KR, Zhao J, Han X, Zheng Z. Prevalence and Correlates of Medical Financial Hardship in the USA. *J Gen Intern Med.* Aug 2019;34(8):1494-1502. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05002-w.
- 170. National Centers for Health Statistics. Multiple Imputation of Family Income in 2021 National Health Interview Survey: Methods. August, 2022. Accessed Feb 14, 2024. https://ftp.cdc.gov/pub/Health_Statistics/NCHS/Dataset_Documentation/NHIS/2021/NHI S2021-imputation-techdoc-508.pdf.
- 171. Martin M, Ermyas T, Kaur G. Why Medicare is suddenly under debate again. March 14, 2023. Accessed Feb 13, 2024. https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2023/03/14/1163163234/why-medicare-is-suddenly-under-debate-again.
- 172. Luhby T. Here's why Social Security and Medicare advocates fear Mike Johnson's speakership. Nov 6, 2023. Accessed Feb 13, 2024. https://www.cnn.com/2023/11/05/politics/mike-johnson-social-security-medicare/index.html.

- 173. McWilliams JM, Zaslavsky AM, Meara E, Ayanian JZ. Health insurance coverage and mortality among the near-elderly. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Jul-Aug 2004;23(4):223-33. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.23.4.223.
- 174. Weaver KE, Forsythe LP, Reeve BB, et al. Mental and physical health-related quality of life among U.S. cancer survivors: population estimates from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Nov 2012;21(11):2108-17. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-12-0740.
- 175. Shih Y-CT, Xu Y, Bradley C, Giordano SH, Yao JC, Yabroff KR. Trends in total and outof-pocket cost of cancer care around the first year of diagnosis for the four most common cancers among privately insured nonelderly adults: 2009-2016. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2021/10/01 2021;39(28 suppl):5-5. doi:10.1200/JCO.2020.39.28 suppl.5.
- 176. Carrera PM, Kantarjian HM, Blinder VS. The financial burden and distress of patients with cancer: Understanding and stepping-up action on the financial toxicity of cancer treatment. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Mar 2018;68(2):153-165. doi:10.3322/caac.21443.
- 177. Ochieng N, Biniek JF, Freed M, Damico A, Neuman T. Medicare Advantage in 2023: Enrollment Update and Key Trends. Aug 9, 2023. Accessed Feb 13, 2024. https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-advantage-in-2023-enrollmentupdate-and-key-trends/.
- 178. Agarwal R, Connolly J, Gupta S, Navathe AS. Comparing Medicare Advantage And Traditional Medicare: A Systematic Review. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Jun 2021;40(6):937-944. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2020.02149.
- 179. Jazowski SA, Achola EM, Nicholas LH, Wood WA, Friese CR, Dusetzina SB. Comparing Medicare plan selection among beneficiaries with and without a history of cancer. *Health Affairs Scholar*. 2024;2(2):qxae014. doi:10.1093/haschl/qxae014.
- 180. Karaca-Mandic P, Jena AB, Ross JS. Health and Health Care Use Among Individuals at Risk to Lose Health Insurance With Repeal of the Affordable Care Act. JAMA Intern Med. Apr 1 2017;177(4):590-593. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.9541.
- 181. Wiltshire JC, Elder K, Kiefe C, Allison JJ. Medical Debt and Related Financial Consequences Among Older African American and White Adults. *Am J Public Health*. Jun 2016;106(6):1086-91. doi:10.2105/ajph.2016.303137.
- 182. Davis K, Schoen C, Doty M, Tenney K. Medicare versus private insurance: rhetoric and reality. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Jul-Dec 2002;Suppl Web Exclusives:W311-24. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.w2.311.
- 183. Mazurenko O, Buntin MJB, Menachemi N. High-Deductible Health Plans and Prevention. *Annu Rev Public Health*. Apr 1 2019;40:411-421. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-044225.

- 184. Kaiser Family Foundation. 2022 Employer Health Benefits Survey. Oct 27, 2022. Accessed Feb 15, 2024. https://www.kff.org/report-section/ehbs-2022-section-8-high-deductible-health-plans-with-savings-option/.
- Cole MB, Ellison JE, Trivedi AN. Association Between High-Deductible Health Plans and Disparities in Access to Care Among Cancer Survivors. *JAMA Network Open*. 2020;3(6):e208965-e208965. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.8965.
- 186. Services CfMM. Medicare Parts A & B Premiums and Deductibles. Nov 17, 2017. Accessed Feb 15, 2024. https://www.medicare.gov/basics/costs/medicare-costs.
- 187. Denlinger CS, Carlson RW, Are M, et al. Survivorship: introduction and definition. Clinical practice guidelines in oncology. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw.* Jan 2014;12(1):34-45. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2014.0005.
- 188. Ermer T, Walters SL, Canavan ME, et al. Understanding the Implications of Medicaid Expansion for Cancer Care in the US: A Review. *JAMA Oncology*. 2022;8(1):139-148. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.4323.
- 189. Soni A, Sabik LM, Simon K, Sommers BD. Changes in Insurance Coverage Among Cancer Patients Under the Affordable Care Act. JAMA Oncol. Jan 1 2018;4(1):122-124. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.3176.
- 190. McDavid K, Tucker TC, Sloggett A, Coleman MP. Cancer survival in Kentucky and health insurance coverage. *Arch Intern Med.* Oct 13 2003;163(18):2135-44. doi:10.1001/archinte.163.18.2135.
- 191. Slatore CG, Au DH, Gould MK. An official American Thoracic Society systematic review: insurance status and disparities in lung cancer practices and outcomes. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* Nov 1 2010;182(9):1195-205. doi:10.1164/rccm.2009-038ST.
- 192. Robbins AS, Chen AY, Stewart AK, Staley CA, Virgo KS, Ward EM. Insurance status and survival disparities among nonelderly rectal cancer patients in the National Cancer Data Base. *Cancer*. Sep 1 2010;116(17):4178-86. doi:10.1002/cncr.25317.
- 193. Ko NY, Hong S, Winn RA, Calip GS. Association of Insurance Status and Racial Disparities With the Detection of Early-Stage Breast Cancer. *JAMA Oncology*. 2020;6(3):385-392. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5672.
- 194. Ellis L, Canchola AJ, Spiegel D, Ladabaum U, Haile R, Gomez SL. Trends in Cancer Survival by Health Insurance Status in California From 1997 to 2014. *JAMA Oncol.* Mar 1 2018;4(3):317-323. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.3846.
- 195. Crosby D, Bhatia S, Brindle KM, et al. Early detection of cancer. *Science*. Mar 18 2022;375(6586):eaay9040. doi:10.1126/science.aay9040.

- 196. Hawkes N. Cancer survival data emphasise importance of early diagnosis. *Bmj*. Jan 25 2019;364:1408. doi:10.1136/bmj.1408.
- 197. Joshi N, Khanna R, Pace P. Healthcare Burden of cervical cancer in a national Medicaid managed care population. *Value in Health*. 2015;18(3):A273-A274.
- 198. Khanna R, Madhavan SS, Bhanegaonkar A, Remick SC. Prevalence, healthcare utilization, and costs of breast cancer in a state Medicaid fee-for-service program. *Journal of Women's Health*. 2011;20(5):739-747.
- 199. Ekwueme DU, Allaire BT, Guy GP, Jr., Arnold S, Trogdon JG. Treatment Costs of Breast Cancer Among Younger Women Aged 19-44 Years Enrolled in Medicaid. *Am J Prev Med*. Feb 2016;50(2):278-85. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.10.017.
- 200. Trogdon JG, Ekwueme DU, Poehler D, Thomas CC, Reeder-Hayes K, Allaire BT. Medical costs of treating breast cancer among younger Medicaid beneficiaries by stage at diagnosis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Nov 2017;166(1):207-215. doi:10.1007/s10549-017-4386-2.
- 201. Dawes AJ, Louie R, Nguyen DK, et al. The impact of continuous Medicaid enrollment on diagnosis, treatment, and survival in six surgical cancers. *Health Serv Res.* Dec 2014;49(6):1787-811. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12237.
- 202. America Health Insurance Plans (AHIP). New Study: States Increase Transition to Medicaid Managed Care. Jun 23, 2020. Accessed Jan 28, 2023. https://www.ahip.org/news/press-releases/new-study-states-increase-transition-to-medicaid-managed-care.
- 203. Hinton E, Stolyar L. 10 Things to Know About Medicaid Managed Care. Feb 23, 2022. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/10-things-to-know-about-medicaid-managed-care/.
- 204. Franco Montoya D, Chehal PK, Adams EK. Medicaid Managed Care's Effects on Costs, Access, and Quality: An Update. *Annu Rev Public Health*. Apr 2 2020;41:537-549. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040119-094345.
- 205. Garrett B, Davidoff AJ, Yemane A. Effects of Medicaid managed care programs on health services access and use. *Health Services Research*. 2003;38(2):575-594.
- 206. Bindman AB, Chattopadhyay A, Osmond DH, Huen W, Bacchetti P. The impact of Medicaid managed care on hospitalizations for ambulatory care sensitive conditions. *Health services research*. 2005;40(1):19-38.
- 207. Ferrante JM, Lee JH, McCarthy EP, et al. Primary care utilization and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality among Medicare beneficiaries: a population-based, case-control study. Ann Intern Med. Oct 1 2013;159(7):437-446. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-159-7-201310010-00003.

- 208. Fisher KJ, Lee JH, Ferrante JM, et al. The effects of primary care on breast cancer mortality and incidence among Medicare beneficiaries. *Cancer*. Aug 15 2013;119(16):2964-72. doi:10.1002/cncr.28148.
- 209. Roetzheim RG, Ferrante JM, Lee JH, et al. Influence of primary care on breast cancer outcomes among Medicare beneficiaries. *Ann Fam Med.* Sep-Oct 2012;10(5):401-11. doi:10.1370/afm.1398.
- Camacho F, Hwang W, Kern T, Anderson RT. Receipt of Regular Primary Care and Early Cancer Detection in Appalachia. J Rural Health. Summer 2015;31(3):269-81. doi:10.1111/jrh.12097.
- 211. Tsui J, DeLia D, Stroup AM, et al. Association of Medicaid enrollee characteristics and primary care utilization with cancer outcomes for the period spanning Medicaid expansion in New Jersey. *Cancer*. 2019;125(8):1330-1340.
- 212. Kaiser Family Foundation. Medicaid and CHIP Monthly Enrollment. Nov, 2022. Accessed Mar 20, 2023. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/medicaid-and-chip-monthly-enrollment/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Medicaid%20Enr ollment%22,%22sort%22:%22desc%22%7D.
- 213. Lin L, Soni A, Sabik LM, Drake C. Early- and Late-Stage Cancer Diagnosis Under 3 Years of Medicaid Expansion. *Am J Prev Med.* Jan 2021;60(1):104-109. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.020.
- 214. Lave JR, Potter MA. Pennsylvania Medical Assistance: Connections within the Commonwealth's Public Health System. *Commonwealth*. 2008;14(1).
- 215. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Managed Care in Pennsylvania. Accessed Jan 2, 2022. https://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid/downloads/pennsylvania-mcp.pdf.
- 216. Charlton JL. Medicaid Reimbursement: HealthChoices is on the Way. September, 1998. Accessed Jan 2, 2023. https://www.trc-law.com/wpcontent/uploads/sites/1502550/2021/10/Hospital-News-HN-Medicaid-Reimbursement-HealthChoices-Is-On-The-Way.pdf.
- 217. Hu T, Chou SY, Deily ME. Pregnancy outcomes for medicaid patients in mandatory managed care: The Pennsylvania HealthChoices program. *Southern Economic Journal*. 2015;82(1):100-121.
- 218. Porell FW. A comparison of ambulatory care-sensitive hospital discharge rates for Medicaid HMO enrollees and nonenrollees. *Med Care Res Rev.* Dec 2001;58(4):404-24; discussion 425-9. doi:10.1177/107755870105800402.
- 219. Bekelman JE, Kim M, Emanuel EJ. Toward Accountable Cancer Care. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 2013;173(11):958-959. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.635.

- 220. Aizer A, Currie J, Moretti E. Does managed care hurt health? Evidence from Medicaid mothers. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*. 2007;89(3):385-399.
- 221. Gold M, Felt S. Reconciling practice and theory: challenges in monitoring Medicaid managed-care quality. *Health Care Financ Rev.* Summer 1995;16(4):85-105.
- 222. Epstein AM. Medicaid managed care and high quality: can we have both? JAMA. 1997;278(19):1617-1621.
- 223. Jacobs DM, Peterson J. A Tool for Evaluating Healthcare Plans from a Quality Perspective: HEDIS. *Healthcare Information Systems*. Auerbach Publications; 2002:209-222.
- 224. Machledt D. Addressing the Social Determinants of Health Through Medicaid Managed Care. Nov 29, 2017. Accessed Feb 18, 2024. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2017/nov/addressingsocial-determinants-health-through-medicaid-managed.
- 225. Rosenbaum S, Velasquez M, Somodevilla A, et al. How states are using comprehensive Medicaid managed care to strengthen and improve primary health care. July, 2020. Accessed Feb 18, 2024. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/2020-07/Rosenbaum_States_MMC_ib.pdf.
- 226. Young GP, Lowe RA. Adverse outcomes of managed care gatekeeping. *Academic emergency medicine*. 1997;4(12):1129-1136.
- 227. Hargraves JL, Cunningham PJ, Hughes RG. Racial and ethnic differences in access to medical care in managed care plans. *Health Serv Res.* Oct 2001;36(5):853-68.
- 228. Mehta AJ, Macklis RM. Overview of accountable care organizations for oncology specialists. *J Oncol Pract*. Jul 2013;9(4):216-21. doi:10.1200/jop.2012.000760.
- 229. Keating NL, Landrum MB, Ayanian JZ, Winer EP, Guadagnoli E. The association of ambulatory care with breast cancer stage at diagnosis among Medicare beneficiaries. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jan 2005;20(1):38-44. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.40079.x.
- 230. Aboagye JK, Kaiser HE, Hayanga AJ. Rural-Urban Differences in Access to Specialist Providers of Colorectal Cancer Care in the United States: A Physician Workforce Issue. *JAMA Surg.* Jun 2014;149(6):537-43. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2013.5062.
- 231. Bailes JS. Use and coverage of novel cancer agents in managed care. *Semin Oncol*. Dec 1994;21(6 Suppl 14):34-7.
- 232. Harman JS, Hall AG, Lemak CH, Duncan RP. Do provider service networks result in lower expenditures compared with HMOs or primary care case management in Florida's Medicaid program? *Health Serv Res.* Jun 2014;49(3):858-77. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12129.

- 233. Medicaid managed care: Costs, access, and quality of care. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Sep, 2012. Accessed Feb 25, 2024.
- 234. Levinson A, Ullman F. Medicaid managed care and infant health. *Journal of Health Economics*. 1998;17(3):351-368.
- 235. Duggan M. Does contracting out increase the efficiency of government programs? Evidence from Medicaid HMOs. *Journal of Public Economics*. 2004;88(12):2549-2572.
- 236. Kuziemko I, Meckel K, Rossin-Slater M. Does managed care widen infant health disparities? Evidence from Texas Medicaid. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*. 2018;10(3):255-283.
- 237. Herring B, Adams EK. Using HMOs to serve the Medicaid population: what are the effects on utilization and does the type of HMO matter? *Health Econ*. Apr 2011;20(4):446-60. doi:10.1002/hec.1602.
- 238. Garrett B, Zuckerman S. National estimates of the effects of mandatory Medicaid managed care programs on health care access and use, 1997-1999. *Med Care*. Jul 2005;43(7):649-57. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000167105.75204.71.
- 239. Zuckerman S, Brennan N, Yemane A. Has Medicaid managed care affected beneficiary access and use? *Inquiry*. Fall 2002;39(3):221-42. doi:10.5034/inquiryjrnl 39.3.221.
- 240. Garrett B, Davidoff AJ, Yemane A. Effects of Medicaid managed care programs on health services access and use. *Health Serv Res.* Apr 2003;38(2):575-94. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.00134.
- 241. Basu J, Friedman B, Burstin H. Managed care and preventable hospitalization among Medicaid adults. *Health Serv Res.* Jun 2004;39(3):489-510. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00241.x.
- 242. Hu T, Mortensen K. Mandatory Statewide Medicaid Managed Care in Florida and Hospitalizations for Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions. *Health Serv Res.* Feb 2018;53(1):293-311. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12613.
- 243. Kern LM, Rajan M, Pincus HA, Casalino LP, Stuard SS. Changes in ambulatory utilization after switching from Medicaid fee-for-service to managed care. *Am J Manag Care*. Sep 1 2019;25(9):e254-e260.
- 244. Marton J, Yelowitz A, Talbert JC. A tale of two cities? The heterogeneous impact of Medicaid managed care. J Health Econ. Jul 2014;36:47-68. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2014.03.001.
- Geruso M, Layton TJ, Wallace J. What Difference Does a Health Plan Make? Evidence from Random Plan Assignment in Medicaid. *Am Econ J Appl Econ.* Jul 2023;15(3):341-379. doi:10.1257/app.20210843.
- 246. Layton TJ, Maestas N, Prinz D, Vabson B. Health Care Rationing in Public Insurance Programs: Evidence from Medicaid. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*. 2022;14(4):397-431.
- 247. Macambira DA, Geruso M, Lollo A, Ndumele CD, Wallace J. *The private provision of public services: Evidence from random assignment in medicaid.* 2022.
- 248. Wallace J. What Does a Provider Network Do? Evidence from Random Assignment in Medicaid Managed Care. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*. 2023;15(1):473-509.
- 249. Marton J, Yelowitz A, Talbert JC. A tale of two cities? The heterogeneous impact of medicaid managed care. *Journal of Health Economics*. 2014/07/01/ 2014;36:47-68. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2014.03.001.
- 250. Sabik LM, Dahman B, Vichare A, Bradley CJ. Breast and cervical cancer screening among Medicaid beneficiaries: the role of physician payment and managed care. *Medical Care Research and Review*. 2020;77(1):34-45.
- 251. Sunkara PR, Waitzman J, Lenze NR, Brenner MJ, Cramer JD. Association of medicaid privatization with patient cancer outcomes. *JCO Oncology Practice*. 2024:OP. 23.00297.
- 252. Campling BG, Hwang WT, Zhang J, et al. A population-based study of lung carcinoma in Pennsylvania: comparison of Veterans Administration and civilian populations. *Cancer*. Aug 15 2005;104(4):833-40. doi:10.1002/cncr.21228.
- 253. PA Department of Health. Pennsylvania Cancer Registry. Accessed Dec 6, 2021. https://www.health.pa.gov/topics/Reporting-Registries/Cancer-Registry/Pages/Cancer%20Registry.aspx.
- 254. Virnig BA, Baxter NN, Habermann EB, Feldman RD, Bradley CJ. A matter of race: earlyversus late-stage cancer diagnosis. *Health affairs*. 2009;28(1):160-168.
- 255. Loh KP, Kansagra A, Shieh MS, et al. Predictors of In-Hospital Mortality in Patients With Metastatic Cancer Receiving Specific Critical Care Therapies. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw.* Aug 2016;14(8):979-87. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2016.0105.
- 256. Sabik LM, Eom KY, Dahman B, et al. The Impact of Massachusetts Health Reform on Colorectal and Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis. *Med Care*. Feb 2020;58(2):183-191. doi:10.1097/mlr.00000000001241.
- 257. Kwon Y, Perraillon MC, Drake C, Jacobs BL, Bradley CJ, Sabik LM. Comparison of primary payer in cancer registry and discharge data. Am J Manag Care. 2023 Sep;29(9):455-462. doi: 10.37765/ajmc.2023.89425.

- Davidoff AJ, Enewold L, Williams CP, Bhattacharya M, Sanchez JI. Accuracy of Cancer Registry Primary Payer Information and Implications for Policy Research. *Medical Care*. 2024;62(3):161-169.
- 259. Chan JK, Gomez SL, O'Malley CD, Perkins CI, Clarke CA. Validity of cancer registry Medicaid status against enrollment files: implications for population-based studies of cancer outcomes. *Medical care*. 2006;44(10):952-955.
- 260. Sherman RL, Williamson L, Andrews P, Kahn A. Primary Payer at DX: Issues with Collection and Assessment of Data Quality. *J Registry Manag.* Summer 2016;43(2):99-100.
- 261. Pennsylcania Health Care Cost Containment Council. About the Council. Accessed Oct 7, 2021. https://www.phc4.org/council/mission.htm.
- 262. Gershman S, Weiss N, Knowlton R, Solis A, Das B. An Assessment of the Primary Payer Variable among Breast and Colorectal Cancer Cases in the Massachusetts Cancer Registry, 2005-2009. *J Registry Manag.* Winter 2017;44(4):143-145.
- Meguerditchian AN, Stewart A, Roistacher J, Watroba N, Cropp M, Edge SB. Claims data linked to hospital registry data enhance evaluation of the quality of care of breast cancer. J Surg Oncol. Jun 1 2010;101(7):593-9. doi:10.1002/jso.21528.
- 264. Kwon Y, Perraillon MC, Drake C, Jacobs BL, Bradley CJ, Sabik LM. Comparison of primary payer in cancer registry and discharge data. *Am J Manag Care*. Sep 2023;29(9):455-462. doi:10.37765/ajmc.2023.89425.
- 265. Worthington JL, Koroukian SM, Cooper GS. Examining the characteristics of unstaged colon and rectal cancer cases. *Cancer Detect Prev.* 2008;32(3):251-8. doi:10.1016/j.cdp.2008.08.006.
- 266. Herget K, Stroup A, Smith K, Wen M, Sweeney C. Unstaged cancer: Long-term decline in incidence by site and by demographic and socioeconomic characteristics. *Cancer Causes Control*. Apr 2017;28(4):341-349. doi:10.1007/s10552-017-0874-2.
- 267. Koroukian SM, Xu F, Beaird H, Diaz M, Murray P, Rose JH. Complexity of care needs and unstaged cancer in elders: a population-based study. *Cancer Detect Prev*. 2007;31(3):199-206. doi:10.1016/j.cdp.2007.04.002.
- 268. Withrow DR, Nicholson BD, Morris EJA, Wong ML, Pilleron S. Age-related differences in cancer relative survival in the United States: A SEER-18 analysis. *Int J Cancer*. Jun 1 2023;152(11):2283-2291. doi:10.1002/ijc.34463.
- 269. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Interpreting Race and Ethnicity in Cancer Data. Oct 26, 2022. Accessed May 25, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/uscs/technical notes/interpreting/race.htm.

- 270. Weech-Maldonado R, Morales LS, Elliott M, Spritzer K, Marshall G, Hays RD. Race/ethnicity, language, and patients' assessments of care in Medicaid managed care. *Health Serv Res.* Jun 2003;38(3):789-808. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.00147.
- 271. Nguyen KH, Wilson IB, Wallack AR, Trivedi AN. Racial And Ethnic Disparities In Patient Experience Of Care Among Nonelderly Medicaid Managed Care Enrollees. *Health Aff* (*Millwood*). Feb 2022;41(2):256-264. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2021.01331.
- 272. Rural Health Research Center. RUCA Data: Code Definitions, Ver 2.0. Accessed Feb 25, 2022. https://depts.washington.edu/uwruca/ruca-codes.php.
- 273. Layton TJ, Maestas N, Prinz D, Vabson B. *Private vs. public provision of social insurance: Evidence from medicaid.* 2019.
- 274. Goodman-Bacon A. Difference-in-differences with variation in treatment timing. *Journal* of *Econometrics*. 2021;225(2):254-277.
- 275. Halpern MT, Ward EM, Pavluck AL, Schrag NM, Bian J, Chen AY. Association of insurance status and ethnicity with cancer stage at diagnosis for 12 cancer sites: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* Mar 2008;9(3):222-31. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(08)70032-9.
- 276. Roetzheim RG, Pal N, Tennant C, et al. Effects of health insurance and race on early detection of cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Aug 18 1999;91(16):1409-15. doi:10.1093/jnci/91.16.1409.
- 277. Mainous AG, 3rd, Kern D, Hainer B, Kneuper-Hall R, Stephens J, Geesey ME. The relationship between continuity of care and trust with stage of cancer at diagnosis. *Fam Med.* Jan 2004;36(1):35-9.
- 278. Miller RH, Luft HS. Managed care plan performance since 1980. A literature analysis. *Jama*. May 18 1994;271(19):1512-9.
- Morenz AM, Zhou L, Wong ES, Liao JM. Association Between Capitated Payments and Preventive Care Among U.S. Adults. *AJPM Focus*. Sep 2023;2(3):100116. doi:10.1016/j.focus.2023.100116.
- 280. Zuvekas SH, Hill SC. Does capitation matter? Impacts on access, use, and quality. *Inquiry*. Fall 2004;41(3):316-35.
- 281. Koh B, Tan DJH, Ng CH, et al. Patterns in Cancer Incidence Among People Younger Than 50 Years in the US, 2010 to 2019. *JAMA Network Open*. 2023;6(8):e2328171-e2328171. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.28171.
- 282. Hill SC, Abdus S, Hudson JL, Selden TM. Adults in the income range for the Affordable Care Act's Medicaid expansion are healthier than pre-ACA enrollees. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Apr 2014;33(4):691-9. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0743.

- 283. Hinton E, Artiga S. Characteristics of Remaining Uninsured Men and Potential Strategies to Reach and Enroll them in Health Coverage. Kaiser Family Foundation. Apr 14, 2016. Accessed Aug 31, 2023. https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/characteristics-ofremaining-uninsured-men-and-potential-strategies-to-reach-and-enroll-them-in-healthcoverage/.
- 284. Pennsylvania Department of Human Services. 2022 HEDIS Performance Measures Rate Chart. Accessed Apr 21, 2023. https://www.dhs.pa.gov/HealthChoices/HC-Services/Documents/2022%20HEDIS%20Performance%20Measures%20Rate%20Chart. pdf.
- 285. Rowan P, Hsu R, Masaoay Tl, Parver S. Quality Rating Systems in Medicaid Managed Care. Mathematica. Feb 19, 2021. Accessed Apr 21, 2023. https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Quality-Rating-Systems-in-Medicaid-Managed-Care.pdf.
- 286. Landon BE, Schneider EC, Tobias C, Epstein AM. The evolution of quality management in Medicaid managed care. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Jul-Aug 2004;23(4):245-54. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.23.4.245.
- 287. Ndumele CD, Schpero WL, Trivedi AN. Medicaid Expansion and Health Plan Quality in Medicaid Managed Care. *Health Serv Res.* Aug 2018;53 Suppl 1(Suppl Suppl 1):2821-2838. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12814.
- 288. Hitchcock ME, Green BB, Anderson DS. Advancing Health Equity for Medicaid Beneficiaries by Adding Colorectal Cancer Screening to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Adult Core Set. *Gastroenterology*. 2022;162(3):710-714.
- 289. Kane GC, Barta JA, Shusted CS, Evans NR. Now Is the Time to Make Screening for Lung Cancer Reportable. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2022/06/21 2022;175(6):888-889. doi:10.7326/M22-0142.
- 290. Mathematica. Recommendations for Improving the Core Sets of Health Care Quality Measures for Medicaid and CHIP. August, 2023. Accessed Aug 31, 2023. https://www.mathematica.org/features/maccoresetreview.
- 291. Sunkara PR, Waitzman J, Lenze NR, Brenner MJ, Cramer JD. Association of Medicaid Privatization With Patient Cancer Outcomes. *JCO Oncol Pract*. Jan 31 2024:Op2300297. doi:10.1200/op.23.00297.
- 292. Group L. An Evaluation of Medicaid Savings from Pennsylvania's HealthChoices Program. May, 2011. Accessed Jun 2, 2023. https://www.lewin.com/content/dam/Lewin/Resources/Site_Sections/Publications/Medic aidSavingsPAHealthChoices.pdf.
- 293. MACPAC. Physician Acceptance of New Medicaid Patients: Findings from the National Electronic Health Records Survey. 2021, June. Accessed Feb 27, 2024.

https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Physician-Acceptance-of-New-Medicaid-Patients-Findings-from-the-National-Electronic-Health-Records-Survey.pdf.

- 294. Duggan M, Hayford T. Has the shift to managed care reduced Medicaid expenditures? Evidence from state and local-level mandates. *J Policy Anal Manage*. 2013;32(3):505-35. doi:10.1002/pam.21693.
- 295. Johnson JM. A MANAGEMENT SUCCESS STORY: THE PENNSYLVANIA MEDICAID MANAGED CARE PROGRAM. 2003. Accessed Jun 3, 2023. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=b1ee84d624fea51761e 59a2b4a543c317b3d2b64.
- 296.Shete S, Deng Y, Shannon J, et al. Differences in Breast and Colorectal Cancer Screening
Adherence Among Women Residing in Urban and Rural Communities in the United States.
JAMA Network Open. 2021;4(10):e2128000-e2128000.
doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.28000.
- 297. Freund KM, Reisinger SA, LeClair AM, et al. Insurance Stability and Cancer Screening Behaviors. *Health Equity*. 2019;3(1):177-182. doi:10.1089/heq.2018.0093.
- 298. Lee KMN, Hunleth J, Rolf L, et al. Distance and Transportation Barriers to Colorectal Cancer Screening in a Rural Community. *J Prim Care Community Health*. Jan-Dec 2023;14:21501319221147126. doi:10.1177/21501319221147126.
- 299. Osundina F, Garfield K, Downer S. Patient Navigation in Cancer Care: Review of Payment Models for a Sustainable Future. 2019. Accessed Feb 18, 2024. https://navigationroundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/Patient-Navigation-in-Cancer-Care-Review-of-Payment-Models_FINAL.pdf.
- 300. Coronado GD, Green BB, West, II, et al. Direct-to-member mailed colorectal cancer screening outreach for Medicaid and Medicare enrollees: Implementation and effectiveness outcomes from the BeneFIT study. *Cancer*. Feb 1 2020;126(3):540-548. doi:10.1002/cncr.32567.
- 301. Zhao G, Okoro CA, Li J, Town M. Health Insurance Status and Clinical Cancer Screenings Among U.S. Adults. Am J Prev Med. Jan 2018;54(1):e11-e19. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2017.08.024.
- 302. Mallin K, Browner A, Palis B, et al. Incident Cases Captured in the National Cancer Database Compared with Those in U.S. Population Based Central Cancer Registries in 2012-2014. Ann Surg Oncol. Jun 2019;26(6):1604-1612. doi:10.1245/s10434-019-07213-1.
- 303. Lerro CC, Robbins AS, Phillips JL, Stewart AK. Comparison of cases captured in the national cancer data base with those in population-based central cancer registries. *Ann Surg Oncol.* Jun 2013;20(6):1759-65. doi:10.1245/s10434-013-2901-1.

- 304. Sommers BD, Gunja MZ, Finegold K, Musco T. Changes in Self-reported Insurance Coverage, Access to Care, and Health Under the Affordable Care Act. *Jama*. Jul 28 2015;314(4):366-74. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.8421.
- 305. Wherry LR, Miller S. Early Coverage, Access, Utilization, and Health Effects Associated With the Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansions: A Quasi-experimental Study. *Ann Intern Med.* Jun 21 2016;164(12):795-803. doi:10.7326/m15-2234.
- 306. ReedSmith. Pennsylvania Enacts Patient Bill Of Rights: Quality Health Care Accountability and Protection under Act 68 of 1998. June 29, 1998. Accessed May 31, 2023. https://www.reedsmith.com/en/perspectives/1998/06/pennsylvania-enacts-patientbill-of-rights--qualit.
- 307. Services PDoH. Medical Assistance and Children's Health Insurance Program Managed Care Quality Strategy. Dec, 2020. Accessed Jan 28, 2023. https://www.dhs.pa.gov/HealthChoices/HC-Services/Documents/Medical%20Assistance%20Quality%20Strategy%20for%20Pennsyl vania.pdf.
- 308. Verdier JM, Byrd V, Stone C. Enhanced Primary Care Case Management Programs in Medicaid: Issues and Options for States. September, 2009. Accessed Jan 24, 2023. https://www.chcs.org/media/EPCCM_Full_Report.pdf.
- 309. Pennsylvania Health Law Project. DPW Announces HealthChoices Expansion Changes; Updates on the New HealthChoices Zones. May 2012. Accessed Jun 2, 2023. https://www.phlp.org/uploads/attachments/ck6jj7epu17a2hju8y1ikov7k-may-2012-phln-final.pdf.
- 310. Health PDo. Pennsylvania Cancer Registry. Accessed Sep 1, 2020. https://www.health.pa.gov/topics/Reporting-Registries/Cancer-Registry/Pages/Cancer%20Registry.aspx.
- 311. Pennsylvania Department of Health. Pennsylvania Cancer Registry. January, 2010. Accessed June 2, 2023. https://www.health.pa.gov/topics/Documents/Diseases%20and%20Conditions/Cancer/PC R%20Manual%202016.pdf.
- 312. Havener L, Hulstrom D. Standards for Cancer Registries Vol. II: Data Standards and Data Dictionary. 10th ed., version 11. Springfield (IL): North American Association of Central Cancer Registries; 2004.
- 313. Gomez SL, Duffy C, Griggs JJ, John EM. Surveillance of cancer among sexual and gender minority populations: Where are we and where do we need to go? *Cancer*. Dec 15 2019;125(24):4360-4362. doi:10.1002/cncr.32384.

- National Cancer Institute. SUMMARY STAGE 2018: Coding Manual v3.0. October, 2022. Accessed May 25, 2023. https://seer.cancer.gov/tools/ssm/2018-Summary-Stage-Manual.pdf.
- 315. Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council (PHC4). Services Data Requests. Accessed June 2, 2023. https://www.phc4.org/services/datarequests/.
- 316. Pennsylvania health Care Cost Containment Council (PHC4). PENNSYLVANIA UNIFORM CLAIMS AND BILLING FORM REPORTING MANUAL Inpatient Data Reporting. Apr, 2007. Accessed Jun 2, 2023. https://www.phc4submit.org/dept/dc/adobe/ub04inpatient.pdf.
- 317. Sabik LM, Bradley CJ. Understanding the Limitations of Cancer Registry Insurance Data—Implications for Policy. JAMA Oncology. 2018;4(10):1432-1433. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.2436.
- 318. Chan JK, Gomez SL, O'Malley CD, Perkins CI, Clarke CA. Validity of cancer registry medicaid status against enrollment files: implications for population-based studies of cancer outcomes. *Med Care*. Oct 2006;44(10):952-5. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000220830.46929.43.
- 319. Lee A. How Does Medicaid Managed Care Affect Provider Behavior? New Evidence from Spillovers on Private Health Care. *New Evidence from Spillovers on Private Health Care*. 2022.
- 320. Verrill C. Assessing the Reliability and Validity of Primary Payer Information in Central Cancer Registry Data. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2010. Accessed Oct 21, 2022. https://www.naaccr.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Assessing-the-Reliabilityand-Validity-of-Primary-Payer-Information-in-Central-Cancer-Registry-Data.pdf.
- 321. Health Resources & Services Administration. Area Health Resources Files. July 31, 2022. Accessed May 26, 2023. https://data.hrsa.gov/topics/health-workforce/ahrf.
- 322. Society of General Internal Medicine. Area Health Resource Files (AHRF). Accessed May 26, 2023. https://www.sgim.org/communities/research/dataset-compendium/area-health-resource-files-ahrf#.
- 323. Center for Health Disparities Research. About the Neighborhood Atlas®. Accessed Feb 25, 2022. https://www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu/.
- 324. Hu CY, Xing Y, Cormier JN, Chang GJ. Assessing the utility of cancer-registry-processed cause of death in calculating cancer-specific survival. *Cancer*. May 15 2013;119(10):1900-7. doi:10.1002/cncr.27968.
- 325. Spada NG, Geramita EM, Zamanian M, van Londen GJ, Sun Z, Sabik LM. Changes in Disparities in Stage of Breast Cancer Diagnosis in Pennsylvania After the Affordable Care Act. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. Mar 2021;30(3):324-331. doi:10.1089/jwh.2020.8478.

- 326. Jackson SS, Han X, Mao Z, et al. Cancer Stage, Treatment, and Survival Among Transgender Patients in the United States. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Sep 4 2021;113(9):1221-1227. doi:10.1093/jnci/djab028.
- 327. Boehmer U, Gereige J, Winter M, Ozonoff A, Scout N. Transgender individuals' cancer survivorship: Results of a cross-sectional study. *Cancer*. Jun 15 2020;126(12):2829-2836. doi:10.1002/cncr.32784.
- 328. Nash R, Ward KC, Jemal A, Sandberg DE, Tangpricha V, Goodman M. Frequency and distribution of primary site among gender minority cancer patients: An analysis of U.S. national surveillance data. *Cancer Epidemiol.* Jun 2018;54:1-6. doi:10.1016/j.canep.2018.02.008.
- 329. Braun H, Nash R, Tangpricha V, Brockman J, Ward K, Goodman M. Cancer in Transgender People: Evidence and Methodological Considerations. *Epidemiol Rev.* Jan 1 2017;39(1):93-107. doi:10.1093/epirev/mxw003.
- 330. Roth J, Sant'Anna PH, Bilinski A, Poe J. What's trending in difference-in-differences? A synthesis of the recent econometrics literature. *Journal of Econometrics*. 2023.
- 331. De Chaisemartin C, d'Haultfoeuille X. Two-way fixed effects estimators with heterogeneous treatment effects. *American Economic Review*. 2020;110(9):2964-2996.
- 332. Wing C. Statistical Inference For Stacked Difference in Differences and Stacked Event Studies. Indiana University Workshop in Methods; 2021.
- 333. Cengiz D, Dube A, Lindner A, Zipperer B. The effect of minimum wages on low-wage jobs. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*. 2019;134(3):1405-1454.
- Baicker K, Chernew ME, Robbins JA. The spillover effects of Medicare managed care: Medicare Advantage and hospital utilization. *J Health Econ*. Dec 2013;32(6):1289-300. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2013.09.005.
- 335. Chattopadhyay A, Bindman AB. Accuracy of Medicaid payer coding in hospital patient discharge data: implications for Medicaid policy evaluation. *Med Care*. Jun 2005;43(6):586-91. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000163654.27995.fa.
- 336. Corallo B, Garfield R, Tolbert J, Rudowitz R. Medicaid Enrollment Churn and Implications for Continuous Coverage Policies. Kaiser Family Foundation,. Dec 14, 2021. Accessed May 23, 2023. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-enrollmentchurn-and-implications-for-continuous-coverage-policies/.
- 337. Roberts ET, Pollack CE. Does Churning in Medicaid Affect Health Care Use? *Med Care*. May 2016;54(5):483-9. doi:10.1097/mlr.000000000000509.

- 338. Norris L. Medicaid eligibility and enrollment in Pennsylvania. Healthinsurance.org. May 2, 2023. Accessed May 23, 2023. https://www.healthinsurance.org/medicaid/pennsylvania/.
- 339. Jacobs PD, Kenney GM, Selden TM. Newly Eligible Enrollees In Medicaid Spend Less And Use Less Care Than Those Previously Eligible. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Sep 1 2017;36(9):1637-1642. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0252.
- 340. Chang T, Davis M. Potential adult Medicaid beneficiaries under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act compared with current adult Medicaid beneficiaries. *Ann Fam Med.* Sep-Oct 2013;11(5):406-11. doi:10.1370/afm.1553.
- 341. National Alliance to End Homelessness. State of Homelessness: 2022 Edition. Accessed May 2, 2023. https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-in-america/homelessness-statistics/state-of-homelessness/.
- 342. National Cancer Institute. Cancer Stat Facts: Common Cancer Sites. Accessed Apr 9, 2024. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/common.html#:~:text=An%20estimated%20297%2 C790%20women%20and,overall%20with%20288%2C300%20expected%20cases..
- 343. Asgary R. Cancer screening in the homeless population. *Lancet Oncol.* Jul 2018;19(7):e344-e350. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(18)30200-6.
- 344. Asgary R, Garland V, Sckell B. Breast cancer screening among homeless women of New York City shelter-based clinics. *Womens Health Issues*. Sep-Oct 2014;24(5):529-34. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2014.06.002.
- Chau S, Chin M, Chang J, et al. Cancer risk behaviors and screening rates among homeless adults in Los Angeles County. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* May 2002;11(5):431-8.
- 346. Long HL, Tulsky JP, Chambers DB, et al. Cancer screening in homeless women: attitudes and behaviors. *J Health Care Poor Underserved*. Aug 1998;9(3):276-92. doi:10.1353/hpu.2010.0070.
- 347. Kilic SS, Mayo ZS, Weleff J, et al. Breast cancer screening in persons experiencing homelessness. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. 2022/06/01 2022;40(16_suppl):6515-6515. doi:10.1200/JCO.2022.40.16_suppl.6515.
- 348. Clark CR, Baril N, Kunicki M, et al. Addressing social determinants of health to improve access to early breast cancer detection: results of the Boston REACH 2010 Breast and Cervical Cancer Coalition Women's Health Demonstration Project. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. May 2009;18(5):677-90. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.0972.
- 349. Baeker Bispo J, Lee H, Pal Choudhury P, Bailey Z, Jemal A, Islami F. Government Housing Assistance and Cancer Screening Among Adults With Low Income. *Am J Prev Med.* Feb 2024;66(2):205-215. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2023.10.005.

- 350. Fryling LR, Mazanec P, Rodriguez RM. Barriers to Homeless Persons Acquiring Health Insurance Through the Affordable Care Act. *J Emerg Med.* Nov 2015;49(5):755-62.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2015.06.005.
- 351. Paradise J, Ross DC. Linking Medicaid and Supportive Housing: Opportunities and Onthe-Ground Examples. Jan 27, 2017. Accessed Apr 8, 2024. https://www.kff.org/reportsection/linking-medicaid-and-supportive-housing-issue-brief/.
- 352. Cassidy A. Medicaid and Permanent Supportive Housing. Oct 14, 2016. Accessed Apr 8, 2024. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20161014.734003/.
- 353. Nelson HD, Fu R, Cantor A, Pappas M, Daeges M, Humphrey L. Effectiveness of Breast Cancer Screening: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis to Update the 2009 U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation. Ann Intern Med. Feb 16 2016;164(4):244-55. doi:10.7326/m15-0969.
- 354. Ozcan BB, Dogan BE, Mootz AR, et al. Breast Cancer Disparity and Outcomes in Underserved Women. *Radiographics*. Jan 2024;44(1):e230090. doi:10.1148/rg.230090.
- 355. PA Department of Community and Economic Development. Homeless Management Information System. Accessed Mar 25, 2024. https://dced.pa.gov/housing-and-development/individuals-households/homeless-management-information-system-hmis/.
- 356. Development DoHaU. HMIS Requirements. Accessed Mar 26, 2024. https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hmis/hmis-requirements/.
- 357. Ku L, Platt I. Duration and Continuity of Medicaid Enrollment Before the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA Health Forum*. Dec 2 2022;3(12):e224732. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.4732.
- 358. Siu AL. Screening for Breast Cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *Ann Intern Med.* Feb 16 2016;164(4):279-96. doi:10.7326/m15-2886.
- 359. Onega T, Haas JS, Bitton A, et al. Alignment of breast cancer screening guidelines, accountability metrics, and practice patterns. *Am J Manag Care*. Jan 2017;23(1):35-40.
- 360. Smith-Bindman R, Quale C, Chu PW, Rosenberg R, Kerlikowske K. Can Medicare billing claims data be used to assess mammography utilization among women ages 65 and older? *Med Care*. May 2006;44(5):463-70. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000207436.07513.79.
- 361. Gorina Y, Kramarow EA. Identifying chronic conditions in Medicare claims data: evaluating the Chronic Condition Data Warehouse algorithm. *Health Serv Res.* Oct 2011;46(5):1610-27. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01277.x.

- 362. Wong MS, Arnold CM, Roberts ET, Pollack CE. The Relationship Between Federal Housing Assistance and Uptake of Cancer Screening Among Low-Income Adults. *J Gen Intern Med.* Dec 2019;34(12):2714-2716. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05037-z.
- 363. Allgood KL, Rauscher GH, Whitman S, Vasquez-Jones G, Shah AM. Validating selfreported mammography use in vulnerable communities: findings and recommendations. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Aug 2014;23(8):1649-58. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-13-1253.
- 364. Levine RS, Kilbourne BJ, Sanderson M, et al. Lack of validity of self-reported mammography data. *Fam Med Community Health*. 2019;7(1):e000096. doi:10.1136/fmch-2018-000096.
- Alcalá HE, Keim-Malpass J, Mitchell EM. Sexual Assault and Cancer Screening Among Men and Women. J Interpers Violence. Jun 2021;36(11-12):Np6243-np6259. doi:10.1177/0886260518812797.
- 366. Asgary R, Sckell B, Alcabes A, Naderi R, Ogedegbe G. Perspectives of cancer and cancer screening among homeless adults of New York City shelter-based clinics: a qualitative approach. *Cancer Causes Control.* Oct 2015;26(10):1429-38. doi:10.1007/s10552-015-0634-0.
- 367. Wen CK, Hudak PL, Hwang SW. Homeless people's perceptions of welcomeness and unwelcomeness in healthcare encounters. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jul 2007;22(7):1011-7. doi:10.1007/s11606-007-0183-7.
- 368. Tsai J, Rosenheck RA, Culhane DP, Artiga S. Medicaid expansion: chronically homeless adults will need targeted enrollment and access to a broad range of services. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Sep 2013;32(9):1552-9. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0228.
- 369. DiPietro. Five Ways Medicaid Expansion Is Helping Homeless Populations Ten Years After The ACA Became Law. Feb 27, 2020. Accessed Sep 3, 2024. https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/five-ways-medicaid-expansion-helpinghomeless-populations-ten-years-after-aca-became.
- 370. DeSalvo KB, Leavitt MO. For An Option To Address Social Determinants Of Health, Look To Medicaid. Jul 8, 2019. Accessed Apr 3, 2024. https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/option-address-social-determinantshealth-look-medicaid.
- 371. Chisolm DJ, Brook DL, Applegate MS, Kelleher KJ. Social determinants of health priorities of state Medicaid programs. *BMC Health Serv Res.* Mar 14 2019;19(1):167. doi:10.1186/s12913-019-3977-5.

- 372. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Medicaid's Role in Addressing Social Determinants of Health. February, 2019. Accessed Apr 6, 2024. https://www.rwjf.org/en/insights/our-research/2019/02/medicaid-s-role-in-addressing-social-determinants-of-health.html.
- 373. Hinton E. A Look at Recent Medicaid Guidance to Address Social Determinants of Health and Health-Related Social Needs. Feb 22, 2023. Accessed Apr 6, 2024. https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/a-look-at-recent-medicaid-guidance-to-address-socialdeterminants-of-health-and-health-related-social-needs/.
- 374. Kelly L, Hamblin A. Leveraging the Strengths of the Behavioral HealthChoices Program to Support Integrated Care in Pennsylvania. Apr, 2023. Accessed Apr 6, 2024. https://www.chcs.org/media/Leveraging-the-Strengths-of-the-Behavioral-HealthChoices-Program.pdf.
- 375. Herschell AD, Schuster JM, Keyser DJ, et al. Human Services and Behavioral Health Integration: A Model for Whole-Person Medicaid Managed Care. *Psychiatr Serv.* Sep 1 2023;74(9):996-1001. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.20220478.
- 376. Bourne DS, Xue L, Hollander MAG, Cole ES, Donohue JM. Changes in Medication Utilization and Adherence Associated with Homeless Adults' Entry into Permanent Supportive Housing. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jan 23 2024;doi:10.1007/s11606-024-08621-0.
- 377. Hollander MAG, Cole ES, Donohue JM, Roberts ET. Changes in Medicaid Utilization and Spending Associated with Homeless Adults' Entry into Permanent Supportive Housing. J Gen Intern Med. Aug 2021;36(8):2353-2360. doi:10.1007/s11606-020-06465-y.
- 378. Cantor JC, Chakravarty S, Nova J, et al. Medicaid Utilization and Spending among Homeless Adults in New Jersey: Implications for Medicaid-Funded Tenancy Support Services. *Milbank Q*. Mar 2020;98(1):106-130. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12446.
- 379. Basu A, Kee R, Buchanan D, Sadowski LS. Comparative cost analysis of housing and case management program for chronically ill homeless adults compared to usual care. *Health* Serv Res. Feb 2012;47(1 Pt 2):523-43. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01350.x.
- 380. Rog DJ, Marshall T, Dougherty RH, et al. Permanent supportive housing: assessing the evidence. *Psychiatr Serv.* Mar 1 2014;65(3):287-94. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201300261.
- 381. Ly A, Latimer E. Housing First Impact on Costs and Associated Cost Offsets: A Review of the Literature. *Can J Psychiatry*. Nov 2015;60(11):475-87. doi:10.1177/070674371506001103.
- 382. Baxter AJ, Tweed EJ, Katikireddi SV, Thomson H. Effects of Housing First approaches on health and well-being of adults who are homeless or at risk of homelessness: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. May 2019;73(5):379-387. doi:10.1136/jech-2018-210981.

- 383. McGinnis T, Crumley D, Chang DI. Feb, 2018. Accessed Apr 6, 2024. https://academyhealth.org/sites/default/files/implementing_sdoh_medicaid_managed_car e_may2018.pdf.
- 384. Machledt D. Addressing the Social Determinants of Health Through Medicaid Managed Care. *Issue Brief (Commonw Fund)*. Nov 1 2017;2017:1-9.
- 385. Gelberg L, Andersen RM, Leake BD. The Behavioral Model for Vulnerable Populations: application to medical care use and outcomes for homeless people. *Health Serv Res.* Feb 2000;34(6):1273-302.
- 386. Asgary R, Naderi R, Wisnivesky J. Opt-Out Patient Navigation to Improve Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening Among Homeless Women. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. Sep 2017;26(9):999-1003. doi:10.1089/jwh.2016.6066.
- 387. Shusted CS, Barta JA, Lake M, et al. The Case for Patient Navigation in Lung Cancer Screening in Vulnerable Populations: A Systematic Review. *Popul Health Manag.* Aug 2019;22(4):347-361. doi:10.1089/pop.2018.0128.
- 388. Zapka JG, Taplin SH, Solberg LI, Manos MM. A framework for improving the quality of cancer care: the case of breast and cervical cancer screening. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2003;12(1):4-13.
- 389. Yearby R, Clark B, Figueroa JF. Structural Racism In Historical And Modern US Health Care Policy. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Feb 2022;41(2):187-194. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2021.01466.
- 390. King CJ, Chen J, Garza MA, Thomas SB. Breast and cervical screening by race/ethnicity: comparative analyses before and during the Great Recession. *Am J Prev Med.* Apr 2014;46(4):359-67. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2013.11.016.
- 391. Narcisse MR, Shah SK, Hallgren E, Felix HC, Schootman M, McElfish PA. Factors associated with breast cancer screening services use among women in the United States: An application of the Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use. *Prev Med.* Aug 2023;173:107545. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2023.107545.
- 392. Tangka FK, Subramanian S, Mobley LR, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities among state Medicaid programs for breast cancer screening. *Prev Med.* Sep 2017;102:59-64. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.06.024.
- 393. American Cancer Society. Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures 2023-2024. 2024. Accessed Apr 3, 2024. https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancerorg/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/cancer-prevention-and-early-detection-facts-andfigures/2024-cped-files/cped-2024-cff.pdf.
- 394.The Burden of Cancer in Pennsylvania: Calculating Costs Understanding Impacts
ExploringInterventions.AccessedApr3,2024.

https://www.health.pa.gov/topics/Documents/Diseases%20and%20Conditions/Cancer/New%200323-005%20cancer_burden_plan.pdf.

- 395. Garrett B, Gangopadhyaya A, Shartzer A, Arnos D. A Unified Cost-Sharing Design for Medicare: Effects on Beneficiary and Program Spending. Jul, 2019. Accessed Jun 4, 2024. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/100528/a_unified_costsharing_design_for_medicare_effects_on_beneficiary_an_1.pdf.
- 396. Roberts ET, James AE, Sabik LM. Modernizing Medicaid Coverage for Medicare Beneficiaries With Low Income. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2021;2(6):e210989-e210989. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.0989.